CONTRACTILE ACTIVITY-INDUCED SIGNALING MECHANISMS IN AGED SKELETAL MUSCLE: INFLUENCE ON MITOCHONDRIA

HEATHER N. CARTER

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN KINESIOLOGY AND HEALTH SCIENCE

YORK UNIVERSITY, TORONTO, ONTARIO

September 2018

© Heather Carter, 2018

ABSTRACT

The process of aging has an influential impact on the quality of skeletal muscle. With advancing age, even in the absence of disease, skeletal muscle has been acknowledged to decline in quantity and quality, a phenomenon referred to as sarcopenia. Currently, the mechanisms which instigate this process remain incompletely defined. However, considerable research has occurred surrounding the role of the mitochondria and their potential to contribute to sarcopenia. Mitochondria are cellular powerhouses supplying the majority of biochemical energy through ATP generation. Mitochondria require proper maintenance within the cellular milieu and this occurs through a balance between the biogenesis and mitophagic degradation of the organelles. Interestingly, exercise is a potent stimulus for both of these cellular pathways. In this work, we sought to examine aspects of mitochondrial biogenesis and mitophagy in aged skeletal muscle to determine how they may change compared to young subjects and whether these processes remain responsive to exercise, in the face of aging.

We examined the transcription of PGC-1 α , a key player in the synthesis of mitochondria. PGC-1 α has been acknowledged to decline in aged skeletal muscle, however whether this is due to impaired transcription, was previously unexplored. We identified that PGC-1 α transcription was reduced basally in aged muscle compared to their younger counterparts. Interestingly, the gene remained responsive to an acute bout of contractile activity. We next assessed the degree of autophagy and mitophagy flux in aged skeletal muscle, at rest and following adaptation to chronic contractile activity (CCA). Aged muscle exhibited increased mitophagic turnover compared to young muscle, in contrast to prevalent notions in the literature. Following CCA, evaluation of mitophagic flux revealed a decrease in organelle turnover, likely due to an improvement in organelle quality. Taken together, the significance of this research is that we have uncovered the molecular basis for the decline in mitochondrial content in aging muscle. Furthermore, exercise is capable of restoring a healthy mitochondrial pool through restoration of the balance between biogenesis and mitophagy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are many people to thank over the years of my PhD studies but I would like to take this moment to acknowledge the following:

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. David A. Hood, for his guidance and encouragement over the many years we worked together. I am so pleased with the scientific accomplishments that we achieved.

To my parents, my unwavering supporters, who have always provided me with every opportunity to further my education and pursue any path I choose. Thank you will never be enough.

To Matthew, very simply, I love you and you're my favourite.

To Michelle, your wisdom and insights have been a complementary journey to my scientific studies.

Abstract		ii
Acknowledgements		iv
Table of Contents		v
List of Tables		viii
List of Figures		ix
List of Abbreviation	IS	xi
Chapter One: Revie	w of Literature	1
1.0 Skeletal muscle, r	nitochondria and aging	1
1.1 Architectu	re of skeletal muscle	1
1.1.1	Fibre types	4
1.2 Changes in	n muscle architecture with aging	5
1.2.1	Denervation	5
1.3 Structural	features of mitochondria	7
1.3.1	Oxidative phosphorylation	10
1.3.2	Regulation of apoptosis	11
1.3.3	Reactive oxygen species	12
1.4 Aging, mi	tochondria and exercise	
2.0 Mitochondrial bio	ogenesis	14
2.1 Nuclear ge	ene transcription	15
2.2 PGC-1α a	nd mitochondrial biogenesis	17
2.2.1	PGC-1α and skeletal muscle	17
2.2.2	Transcriptional regulation of the PGC-1α gene	20
2.2.3	Effects of aging on PGC-1α	24
2.2.4	Splice variants of PGC-1α	25
2.3 Protein im	port into mitochondria	27
2.4 Fusion and	d fission	
2.5 Epigenetic	CS	
2.5.1	Methylation of genomic DNA	
2.5.2	DNA methylation, skeletal muscle and exercise	
2.6 Summary		
3.0 Autophagy and m	itophagy in skeletal muscle	
3.1 Pathway f	or autophagy	
3.1.1	Induction	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.1.2	Nucleation	
3.1.3	Elongation	40
3.1.4	Closure, maturation and fusion	43
3.1.5	Degradation	46
3.2 Mitophagy	v mechanisms	
3.2.1	Pink1, parkin and ubiquitin-mediated mitophagy	
3.2.2	Adaptor proteins	53
3.2.3	Receptor-mediated mitophagy	54
3.3 Mitochond	Iria-derived vesicles	
3.4 Autophagy	and mitophagy flux	
3.5 Autophagy	and mitophagy with exercise	
3.6 Autophagy	and mitophagy in aged skeletal muscle	60
3. / Summary.		
4.0 Kelefences		03
Chapter Two: PhD (Objectives and Hypotheses	
	~~ J •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
Chapter Three: Effe	ct of contractile activity on PGC-1 α transcription in your	g and aged
Abstract		95
7105tract		
New and Notew	orthy	
Introduction		
Materials and M	Iethods	99
Results		105
Discussion		
References		
Figure Legends		
Tables		
Figures		130
Chapter Four: Auto Following Chronic C	phagy and Mitophagy Flux in Young and Aged Skeletal N Contractile Activity	1uscle
Key Points Sum	1mary	137
Abstract		120
Abstract		
Introduction		

Materials and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
References	
Tables	
Figure Legends	
Figures	
Chapter Five: Summary and Conclusions	
Chapter Six: Future Directions	
Appendices	
Appendix A: Additional Data	
Appendix B: Data not shown: Chapter 4	
Appendix C: Scientific Contributions	

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter Three:

List of mRNA Primers and Assays	127
List of Antibodies	128
Animal Characteristics	129

Chapter Four:

Young and Aged Animal Characteristics	
List of Antibodies	

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter One:

Fig. 1 Electron micrograph of skeletal muscle
Fig. 2 Localization of SS and IMF mitochondria
Fig. 3 Mitochondrial compartments9
Fig. 4 Mitochondrial biogenesis
Fig. 5 Schematic of factors that regulate the PGC-1α promoter21
Fig. 6 Schematic of DNA methylation
Fig. 7 Responses to an acute bout of exercise and recovery
Fig. 8 Autophagy conjugation events for membrane elongation
Fig.9 Major steps in the autophagy pathway44
Fig.10 Mitophagy mechanisms
Fig. 11 Autophagy flux
Chapter Three:
Fig. 1 Alterations of Mitochondrial Content and Factors Regulating PGC-1a in Aged Muscle.130
Fig. 2 In Situ Force Generation in Young and Aged Muscle
Fig. 3 Signaling with in situ Contractile Activity132
Fig. 4 PGC-1α Promoter Activity and Transcript Expression
Fig. 5 DNA Methylation and Methyltransferase Expression in Aging Muscle134
Fig. 6 Effects of CCA on mRNA abundance
Chapter Four:
Fig. 1 Mitochondrial Content with CCA178
Fig. 2 Upstream Autophagy Markers179

Fig. 3 Autophagy Flux in Young and Aged Muscle with CCA	180
Fig. 4 Mitophagy receptor expression with CCA and aging	181
Fig. 5 IMF Mitophagy flux	182
Fig. 6 Lysosomal Markers with Aging and CCA	183
Chapter Five: Summary and Conclusions	
Fig. 1 Summary of Changes in Mitochondrial Content Elicited through Aging and Contractile Activity	e 203
Fig. 1 Transcript expression in aged vs young muscle	193
Fig. 2 Transcript expression in young and aged muscle following CCA	194
Fig. 3 Expression of sestrin mRNA and protein	195
Fig. 4 Markers of mitochondrial content in young and aged muscle	196
Fig. 5 Autophagy flux in young and aged muscle	197
Fig. 6 Expression of NIX in young and aged muscle	198
Fig. 7 COX activity in different tissues of young and aged rats	199
Fig. 8 Mitochondrial markers in young and aged skeletal muscle and brain	200
Fig.9 Mitochondrial markers in young and aged liver and brain	201
Appendix B:	
Fig. 1 p53 protein in young and aged muscle	203
Fig. 2 p62 Autophagy Flux	204
Fig. 3 Respiration corrected for COX activity	205

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5hmC	5-hydroxymethylcytosine
5mC	5-methylcytosine
A.U.	Arbitrary Units
AC	Aged Control
AICAR	5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide
AIF	Apoptosis-Inducing Factor
AMBRA1	activating molecule in beclin-1-regulated autophagy
AMPK	5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ATF2	Activating Transcription Factor 2
ATG	Autophagy-related
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BCL-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
BM	Body mass
BNIP3	BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19-kDa-interacting protein 3
BNIP3L/NIX	BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19-kDa protein-interacting protein 3-like
C/CON	control
CA	contractile activity
Ca ²⁺	calcium
САМК	Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase
cAMP	cyclic AMP
CCA	chronic contractile activity
CCCP / FCCP	Carbonyl cyanide m-chlorophenyl hydrazone/ Carbonyl cyanide-4- (trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone / Carbonyl cyanide-4- (trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone
cDNA	complementary DNA
CGIs	CpG islands
CLEAR	coordinated lysosomal expression and regulation
CMA	chaperone-mediated autophagy
COL	colchicine
COX	cytochrome oxidase
COX IV	cytochrome oxidase subunit IV
CpG	cytosine phosphate guanine
CRE	cAMP response element
CREB	cAMP response element binding protein
CRISPR	Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats
CSA	cross-sectional area
CTSD	cathepsin D

CUGBP1	CUG binding protein 1
DHPR	dihydropyridine receptors
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DNMTs	DNA methyltransferase
DRP1	dynamin-realted protein 1
E-box	enhancer box
ECC	excitation contraction coupling
EDL	extensor digitorum longus
ENDO G	endonuclease G
Epi. Fat	epididymal fat
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERRs	estrogen-related receptors
ETC	electron transport chain
F344BNxF1	Fisher 344 Brown Norway F1 hybrid
FIP200	FAK family-interacting protein of 200 kDa
FIS1	Mitochondrial fission 1 protein
FOXO3	forkhead box O3
FUNDC1	FUN14 Domain Containing 1
GABARAP	Gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor-associated protein
GABP	GA-binding protein
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
GATA-4	GATA Binding Protein 4
GATE 16	Golgi-associated ATPase enhancer of 16 kDa
gDNA	genomic DNA
GFP	green fluorescent protein
\mathbf{H}^+	hydrogen ion
H2O2	hydrogen peroxide
HDAC5	histone deacetylase 5
HIF-1α	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha
HSC70	Heat shock cognate 70 kDa protein
HuR	human antigen r
i.p.	intraperitoneal
IGF-1	insulin-like growth factor 1
IMF	intermyofibrillar
IMM	inner mitochondrial membrane
IMS	intermembrane space
LAMP	lysosomal-associated membrane protein
LC3-I	Microtubule-associated proteins 1A/1B light chain 3-I
LC3-II	Microtubule-associated proteins 1A/1B light chain 3-II
LIR	LC3-interacting region

MCOLN1	mucolipin 1
MDV	mitochondria derived vesicle
MEF2	myocyte-enhancer factor 2
MFF	mitochondrial fission factor
MFN1/2	mitofusin-1/2
MID49	Mitochondrial dynamics protein of 49 kDa
MID51	Mitochondrial dynamics protein of 51 kDa
MKK6	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 6
MPP	mitochondrial processing peptidase
MRF4	myogenic regulatory factor 4
mRNAs	messenger RNA
mtDNA	mitochondrial DNA
mTORC1	mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1
mtPTP	mitochondrial permeability transition pore
mtUPR	mitochondrial unfolded protein response
MyoD	Myogenic Differentiation 1
n.s.	not significant
Na ⁺	sodium
NBR1	neighbour of BRCA-1
NDP52	nuclear dot protein 52
NFE2L2/Nrf2	Nuclear factor, erythroid 2 like 2
NMJ	neuromuscular junction
NRF-1	nuclear respiratory factor-1
NRF-2	nuclear respiratory factory-2
NT-PGC1a	N-terminal PGC-1a
NuGEMPs	Nuclear genes encoding mitochondrial proteins
O_2	oxygen
O_2 -	superoxide
OCT	optimal cutting temperature
OH•	hydroxyl
OMM	outer mitochondrial membrane
OPA1	optic atrophy 1
OPTN	optineurin
Р	phosphate
p38	p38 mitogen activated kinase
P62/SQSTM1	sequestosome 1
P-AMPK	phospho-AMPK
PARL	Presenilins-associated rhomboid-like protein
PAS	phagophore assembly site
PCR	polymerase chain reaction

Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4
phosphatidylethanolamine
peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma coactivator 1 alpha
Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase
class III phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase complex I
Phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate
PTEN-induced putative kinase 1
protein kinase A
phospho-p38
Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor y
quantitative polymerase chain reaction
recovery
Ras-related protein 7
Ras homolog enriched in brain
relative light units
reactive oxygen species
rat PGC-1α promoter construct
ryanodine receptor
stimulation
S-Adenosyl methionine
succinate dehydrogenase
sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca ²⁺ -ATPase
Sirtuin 1
specificity protein 1
stimulation and recovery
subsarcolemmal
total
tibialis anterior
tax-1 binding protein 1
tank binding kinase 1
tricarboxylic acid cycle
Ten-Eleven Translocation 1
mitochondrial transcription factor A
transcription factor EB
translocase of the inner membrane
Toll interacting protein
translocase of the outer membrane
Transducer of regulated CREB-binding proteins
trains per second

UB	ubiquitin
UBD	ubiquitin binding domain
ULK1	unc-51 like kinase 1
USF-1	upstream stimulatory factor 1
v-ATPase	Vacuolar-type H ⁺ -ATPase
VDAC	voltage dependent anion channel
VEH	vehicle
YC	young control
YUACC	York University animal care committee
YY1	yin yang 1
$\Delta \Psi_{m}$	mitochondrial membrane potential

CHAPTER ONE: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

1.0 SKELETAL MUSCLE, MITOCHONDRIA AND AGING

Skeletal muscle is a specialized tissue comprising approximately 30-40% of total body mass in young, healthy individuals (119). This tissue is highly labile to changes in physical activity with beneficial adaptations occurring with increased periods of contractile activity. This notably includes the proliferation of mitochondria (2, 101, 104, 140, 234, 274). However, with extended periods of inactivity or aging, deleterious manifestations, such as reductions in overall muscle mass and depletion of mitochondria can occur (41, 208, 266). Central to the performance of skeletal muscle are the mitochondria, intracellular organelles that provide the bulk of cellular energy and regulate a host of molecular pathways. To understand how skeletal muscle and mitochondria change with aging or exercise, a description of the architecture of this tissue as well as the organelles in the healthy state will first be provided.

1.1 ARCHITECTURE OF SKELETAL MUSCLE

Skeletal muscle allows the body to locomote, maintain posture, engage in respiration and communicate with the environment. At the cellular level, these gross functions are supported by the requirement of this tissue to regulate metabolism, energy homeostasis, heat regulation, insulin sensitivity and amino acid metabolism. Thus, alterations in the quality and/or quantity of this tissue can influence the wellbeing of the complete organism.

Skeletal muscle is a multi-nucleated tissue that is composed in layers of wrapped bundles starting with the myofibrils (77). Myofibrils are the smallest cylindrical units that house the thick and thin filaments, myosin and actin, respectively, that comprise the sarcomere. The sarcomere is the functional unit which allows for shortening of the muscle, upon an appropriate stimulus and give muscle the striped, or banded appearance (Fig. 1). Many myofibrils are ensconced in a



Fig. 1. Electron Micrograph of Skeletal Muscle. Longitudinal section of skeletal muscle from the extensor digitorum longus of *rattus norvegicus*. Sarcomeres are depicted with the A-band, darker portion, and I-band, lighter portion, highlighted. Additionally, pairs of IMF mitochondria are circled at the Z-line. Z; Z-line; M; M-line; IMF; intermyofibrillar mitochondria. Magnification 19000x. Unpublished image by H.N. Carter.

membrane to make up the myofibre. Numerous bundles of myofibres are surrounded by layers of connective tissue and within these bundles, blood vessels are interspersed for the transportation of oxygen, nutrients and removal of waste products. Groups of muscle fibres receive innervation from a common motor neuron and together these are referred to as the motor unit. The innervation to a group of myofibres will result in the same pattern of nerve impulses and the muscle fibres will exhibit similar contractile characteristics (199, 221).

Two special properties of skeletal muscle are that is excitable and capable of contraction. The process of muscle shortening elicited by neural impulses is referred to as excitationcontraction coupling (ECC). Action potentials generated from the motor cortex will travel to the muscle to elicit shortening of the muscle fibres. At the synapse, the action potential causes the release of the neurotransmitter, acetylcholine, which will bind to receptors located on the motor endplate of the neuromuscular junction. The binding of acetylcholine to its target receptors will propagate the action potential along the plasma membrane by voltage-sensitive Na⁺ channels that then spreads down the transverse tubules. The transverse tubules are intrusions of the sarcolemmal membrane that align between the A- and I-bands of the sarcomere. The transverse tubules are flanked by the sarcoplasmic reticulum, forming what is referred to as the triad. As the action potential progresses through the transverse tubules, dihydropyridine receptors (DHPR) located within are sensitive to the change in voltage and will undergo a conformational change. The result is that the DHPR will interact with the ryanodine receptors (RyR) located on the adjacent sarcoplasmic reticulum. The DHPR interacting with the RyR will "pull the plug" opening the floodgates on the sarcoplasmic reticulum for calcium transients into the intramyocellular milieu. This released calcium will bind to troponin, changing its configuration to facilitate removal of tropomyosin from blocking the myosin-binding site on actin filaments. In this configuration, actin and myosin are able to interact in an adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-dependent manner to generate shortening of the sarcomeres and muscle contraction. Upon cessation of the nerve impulse, calcium is quickly removed from the intracellular space to facilitate relaxation of the muscle. Quenching of calcium in skeletal muscle is mediated largely by the pumping action of the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca^{2+} -ATPase (SERCA) (283).

1.1.1 FIBRE TYPES

In humans, three distinct fibre types have been categorized in relation to the innervation they receive, the isoforms of contractile proteins they express and their oxidative capacity. These differences result in variations in size, contractile properties, ATP economy, mitochondrial volume and fatigue resistance (239). There are various terms used to classify fibres relating to the contractile characteristics or mitochondrial volume found within. Visualization of muscle fibre types can be readily observed through myosin ATPase histochemistry (65, 90, 231).

Type I (slow-twitch, oxidative) fibres contain high mitochondrial volume, slow shortening velocity and develop the least amount of specific tension. Type I fibres are smallest in diameter and are often postural muscles, that are regularly recruited. In contrast, the remaining classes of fibres, IIa (fast-twitch, oxidative) and IIx (fast-twitch, glycolytic), are larger and capable of producing greater force. Type IIx fibres produce the greatest force but are the least resistant to fatigue, housing the least amount of mitochondria. Corresponding to the large fibre size, the neural cells are also large, requiring a greater stimulus for depolarization. Type IIa fibres are often considered the intermediate between these two extremes, exhibiting a middle ground with features of both Type I and Type IIx fibres (105). In rodents, three groupings of type II fibres have been noted, including IIa, IIx and IIb.

1.2 CHANGES IN MUSCLE ARCHITECTURE WITH AGING

Aging is a foreseeable occurrence with the progressive decline of body tissues that ultimately results in a failure of the organism to survive. While seemingly bleak as a definition, maintenance of quality of life throughout the aging process is key to the retention of independence and to avoid the onset of comorbidities (29, 279). As skeletal muscle provides the platform for independent movement, as well as its interaction and regulation of other corporeal systems, it is important to consider the changes that result in this tissue.

While definitions continue to evolve for applications to human research trials and the medical community (54, 176, 193, 194), sarcopenia is the term used to describe the progressive age-related loss of skeletal muscle. Indeed, numerous studies have documented declines in the bulk and strength of this tissue across global populations (119, 186, 265). In North America, the aging population will experience a surge in numbers over the next few decades (14, 40, 61, 271). This places greater reliance on healthcare and financial infrastructures. While the consequences of sarcopenia are often the current targets of interventions and treatment, sourcing the root cellular cause(s) and defining preventative strategies to spare or mitigate this phenomenon is imperative to the individual's, as well as socioeconomic wellbeing. However, this is not an easy feat as sarcopenia has presented as a complex and multifactorial occurrence, being influenced by a host of intrinsic and extrinsic factors (7, 100, 121, 171).

1.2.1 DENERVATION

The loss of muscle mass with age does not fully explain all the features that accompany aging muscle. For example, strength losses are disproportionate and larger than the decline in muscle bulk (83, 109), suggesting other defects beyond myofibre size are responsible. Other notable changes may include, but are not limited to, loss of satellite cells (160, 286), excitation-

contraction coupling defects (235), myonuclear decay (8, 43, 85), mitochondrial insufficiency (7, 37), adipose infiltration (53) and fibrosis (275). In particular, rekindled interest and debate has arisen surrounding denervation and reinnervation that may transpire during aging.

The cycle of excitation-contraction coupling is central to the ability to generate force. In the aging muscle context, various aspects of the ECC pathway have been examined to determine if the functional decrease in force development is attributable to deficits in this pathway. Evidence has pointed to defects in the neuromuscular junction (NMJ) with aging, which may affect the receptivity of incoming neural signals. For example, aged muscle does not possess the characteristic pretzel-shaped NMJ, but rather it is less compact and disorganized (160). Further down the pathway, deficits in the quantity of DHPR receptors have been noted (235), suggesting a defect may exist in the coupling between the DHPR and RyR leading to aberrations in calcium release. This may ultimately affect the ability to generate muscle contraction and force. Further changes with aging that have been documented are reduced elasticity (95), shifts in myosin expression (i.e. fast to slow) (76, 206) and infiltration of adipocyte droplets in inter- and intramyocellular regions (53). Together, these changes would impair the performance of muscle fibers.

The prevailing theory for many years has been that type II fibres exhibit the most robust atrophy and type I fibres are less susceptible (203). This atrophy of type II fibres supports the loss in muscle size and would partly explain the declines in strength-producing capabilities. However, recent evidence has challenged this long-held belief. It appears that type I fibres may be classified incorrectly in aging subjects due to denervation/reinnervation or cross-innervation events from type II input (231, 232, 270). This results in the presence of hybrid fibres that express more than

one isoform of myosin heavy chain. Therefore, myosin histochemistry may not be sensitive enough to accurately identify and classify fibres expressing more than one isoform in the aging context.

1.3 STRUCTURAL FEATURES OF MITOCHONDRIA

Mitochondria within skeletal muscles exist in two discrete locations. These distinct areas of mitochondrial subcellular location have been found to exhibit divergent biochemical properties (2, 50). The first mitochondrial compartment is the subsarcolemmal (SS) found beneath the sarcolemmal membrane surrounding the myofibrils and are adjacent to the myonuclei. The second area of organelles is the intermyofibrillar (IMF) mitochondria which are found interspersed between the myofibrils. Through electron micrographs, SS mitochondria often appear as discrete circular structures while IMF mitochondria are visualized as elongated interconnected structures (114). In a longitudinal view of myofibrils, electron micrographs reveal the presence of IMF mitochondria often in pairs at the Z-line (Fig. 2).

Mitochondria are composed of two lipid membranes, which separate the organelle into two distinct compartments. The inner most compartment is the matrix which is surrounded by the highly convoluted inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) which generates the cristae folds (Fig. 3). The space between the IMM and outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) is aptly termed the intermembrane space (IMS).

The OMM is highly permeable enabling the passage of substrates and ions. Specialized protein import complexes, translocase of the outer membrane (TOM), facilitate the entry of nuclear-derived proteins that can be destined for the OMM, intermembrane space or will be passed to the translocase on the inner membrane (TIM) complex to reach the IMM or matrix. The intermembrane space is a highly acidic environment due to the accretion of H⁺ ions pumped by three holoenzyme complexes of the electron transport chain (ETC). The elegantly folded structure



Fig. 2. Localization of SS and IMF mitochondria. Longitudinal section of extensor digitorum longus muscle from *rattus norvegicus*. SS mitochondria are evident below the sarcolemma membrane and adjacent to the nucleus. IMF mitochondria are observed in reticular structures or as pairs flanking the Z-line of the sarcomere. SS; subsarcolemmal; IMF; intermyofibrillar. Magnification 9600x. Unpublished image captured by H.N. Carter.



Fig. 3. Mitochondrial Compartments. Electron micrograph of SS mitochondria adjacent to a myofibril from skeletal muscle of *rattus norvegicus*. The elaborately folded inner membrane generating the cristae folds can be readily observed. OMM; outer mitochondrial membrane; IMM; inner mitochondrial membrane; IMS; intermembrane space. Magnification 62000x. Unpublished image by H.N. Carter.

of the IMM (Fig. 3) enhances the surface area for the placement of ETC protein complexes which are held in place by cardiolipin molecules. The IMM is highly impermeable and passage of any substrates requires the appropriate channel, transporter or carrier. The matrix is densely packed with proteins and enzymes for the tricarboxylic (TCA) cycle, ATP synthesis, reactive oxygen species detoxification, protein quality control and synthesis and contains multiple copies of mtDNA.

1.3.1 OXIDATIVE PHOSPHORYLATION

The process of mitochondrial ATP synthesis starts on the IMM when electrons are donated from metabolized nutrients to complexes I and II. The electrons are shuttled from complex I to IV, facilitating the pumping of protons into the intermembrane space by complexes I, III and IV. This creates an electrochemical gradient, called the mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi_m$), and a source of potential energy. In the presence of adenosine diphosphate (ADP), these protons can flow through complex V (ATP synthase) into the matrix, providing the chemical energy to phosphorylate ADP to make ATP. Oxygen will also be consumed in proportion to ATP synthesis by complex IV, and measurement of oxygen flux is often used to determine energetic efficiency of the organelles (167, 168). Of note, electrons do not always pass smoothly between the ETC complexes. At complexes I and III, it is possible that electrons can be prematurely donated to oxygen and generate volatile free radicals also known as reactive oxygen species (ROS) (82, 120). Mitochondrially-situated antioxidants, such as manganese superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase, are in place to help cope with this stress. However, if the organelle is unable to manage the detoxification of ROS, damage can ensue to proteins, membranes or DNA. If the organelles are beyond the state of repair, their clearance and replacement must occur in order to continue to meet the metabolic demands of the muscle.

1.3.2 REGULATION OF APOPTOSIS

Mitochondria are peculiar in that while they largely provide life-sustaining energy, they are also blatant regulators of programmed cell death, or apoptosis. Within the mitochondria there are numerous protein factors that assist in the proper function of the organelle. This includes proteins such as cytochrome c, apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) and endonuclease G (ENDO G). Under homeostasis, these factors reside in various organelle locales, however upon a stimulus which alters the configuration of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mtPTP) in the OMM, these proteins can be released. Once in the cytosol, they can trigger caspase-dependent or –independent protein cascades that result in DNA fragmentation and forfeiture of the myonucleus. Notable stimuli which can lead to the opening of the mtPTP and release of pro-apoptotic proteins include the loss of membrane potential, impaired ATP synthesis and excessive generation of ROS.

In aging muscle, there is a favorable environment to instigate mitochondrially-mediated apoptosis and experience DNA fragmentation (163). The mtPTP exhibits greater sensitivity to stimuli to open and release pro-apoptotic proteins (85). Indeed, studies on aging muscle have found pro-apoptotic release as a common event (41, 85). Elevations in ROS generated from the organelles in addition to impaired calcium handling are part of the signals that mediate opening of the mtPTP. Combined, these events facilitate higher myonuclear degradation. With the loss of the myonucleus, the genetic derivations that support the surrounding structures are now absent and regional atrophy of the myofibre may ensue (31).

Notably, chronic contractile activity (CCA), a model of exercise, is successful to ameliorate the degree mitochondrially-mediated apoptosis in aging muscle (2, 163). With adaptation to the exercise, increases in the anti-apoptotic protein B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2), which inhibits

opening of the mtPTP are observed (2). Reductions in the release of proteins from the organelle are accompanied by lower levels of nuclear DNA fragmentation, the hallmark of apoptosis (163).

1.3.3 REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES

As oxidative phosphorylation progresses by the actions of the ETC, there may be occurrences where electrons are inappropriately donated to oxygen before reaching Complex IV (82, 120). When the electrons combine with oxygen, together they generate highly volatile substances such as superoxide (O_2^{-}) or hydroxyl (OH^{*}) radicals or H₂O₂, collectively referred to as reactive oxygen species (ROS). Defensive mechanisms, in the form of antioxidants, are locally positioned to guard the mitochondria from the potential havoc these radicals could cause. However, if the formation of ROS exceeds the capabilities of the detoxification enzymes, damage to lipid membranes, proteins (such as ETC components) and mtDNA could transpire. If the damaged mitochondria are not readily removed or repaired, perpetuation of further damage may result.

Basally, SS mitochondrial produce more ROS compared to IMF mitochondria, and it has been observed in aged muscle that ROS produced from both fractions is heightened (41, 163). Production of ROS can be modulated through muscle activity. With chronic contractile activity of the muscle, quantities of ROS are reduced and antioxidant enzyme content is enhanced (163, 217). Indeed, aged muscle exposed to CCA exhibits declines in ROS production from both mitochondrial subfractions (163).

1.4 AGING, MITOCHONDRIA AND EXERCISE

Whether mitochondrial changes occur in skeletal muscle with aging is still highly controversial in the literature and continues to be studied (240). While numerous studies have documented deleterious changes of the organelles through a plethora of markers and functional

measures (28, 41, 81, 97, 123, 130, 150, 163, 172, 243, 263, 264, 280, 291), a competing body of evidence has found no differences often with similar measurements (60, 134, 150, 222). Moving forward, it remains imperative to match young and aged groups for physical activity levels when making comparisons as this may be a source of potential bias.

Equally debatable is the capacity of aged muscle and mitochondria to adapt to exercise training paradigms. In recent reviews we have compared and discussed a number of studies that either used the same relative or absolute training intensity between young and aged groups (37, 103). We concluded that mitochondrial adaptations can occur with a sufficient duration and intensity in aged muscle, albeit the magnitude of adaptation can vary. It is possible that for observation of mitochondrial adaptations a longer time frame for training may be required in aged muscle (220, 288). This extension of time may be necessary when the muscle milieu possesses decreased signaling (162) and transcriptional drive towards biogenesis factors (see section 2.0), requires large renovation due to the starting presence of dysfunctional organelles, or needs to improve the capacity for turnover through mitophagy (discussed in section 3.0).

2.0 MITOCHONDRIAL BIOGENESIS

Mitochondria are semi-autonomous organelles that are found in nearly all body tissues. They are enriched in tissues that have high energy demands, such as skeletal muscle, heart, brain, kidneys and brown adipose tissue. Mitochondria are composed of greater than 1100 proteins (34), and the vast majority of gene products need to be derived from nuclear DNA. However, 13 critical subunits for the electron transport chain are encoded by the maternally-inherited mtDNA. Possession of its own genetic material is a highly unique feature to mitochondria, likely a remnant of its endosymbiotic origins (173), and makes the study of this organelle fascinating.

In order to expand the population of organelles in skeletal muscle, numerous cellular events must transpire. This includes upregulation of gene expression, translation of mRNAs, import of proteins into the mitochondria, transcription of mtDNA, fusion of existing organelles to create a larger reticular network and fission for recycling of organelles that are no longer suitable to support muscular demands. Mitochondrial biogenesis is considered to occur in response to a stimulus, such as exercise, when 1) there is an enhanced requirement to generate ATP and/or 2) mitochondrial mass/volume has increased through fusion and/or enlargement of the reticulum through the import/generation of new mitochondrial constituents. Physiological enhancement of mitochondrial mass in skeletal muscle is advantageous as it will bolster endurance capacity, spare carbohydrates, reduce acidosis and increase lipid utilization.

With aging, while controversial, numerous reports have found that organelle number, quality and morphology exhibit defects in skeletal muscle, potentially pointing to a shortcoming in the maintenance of these organelles (37, 103). Additionally, with the instigation of training, aged muscle may respond with a lower capacity, or require an extended time period to reach a similar magnitude as young subjects, suggesting an attenuation of the signaling mechanisms governing organelle biogenesis (37, 103). The following review will cover notable aspects of mitochondrial biogenesis and provide commentary on organelle changes in aging muscle with an exercise perspective.

2.1 NUCLEAR GENE TRANSCRIPTION

Exploration of the transcriptional regulation of nuclear genes encoding mitochondrial proteins (NuGEMPs) has yielded interesting insight into how these organelles are maintained and fortified with exercise. For nuclear gene expression to occur, the integration between cellular signals, chromatin modifications, transcription factor recruitment to *cis*-acting elements, binding of coactivator proteins, and assembly of the RNA polymerase machinery are all necessary molecular events. This makes elucidating the regulation of nuclear-encoded mitochondrial genes a seemingly overwhelming challenge. Despite this complexity in the regulation of nuclear gene expression, numerous factors have been successfully identified which regulate NuGEMPs, and as molecular techniques continue to advance, more factors will certainly be defined.

Identification of the regulatory transcription factors that govern NuGEMP expression largely began after the characterization of the cytochrome c gene (254), an essential component of the electron transport chain. In the promoter region of cytochrome c, regulatory sequences were identified which bound a transcription factor that was termed nuclear respiratory factor-1 (NRF-1) (72). Thereafter, NRF-1 was found to have binding sites in the promoters of many other nuclear encoded mitochondrial genes, including subunits of the respiratory chain, ETC assembly factors, transcriptional regulators of mitochondrial DNA and components of the mitochondrial protein import machinery (253, 256). In addition to NRF-1, the family member NRF-2 (also known as GA-binding protein [GABP]), was recognized to control the expression of all nuclear-derived subunits of complex IV of the electron transport chain (212). A key discovery surrounding NRF- 1/2 NuGEMP regulation was that both of these transcription factors had binding elements in the promoter region of mitochondrial transcription factor A (Tfam), the principal transcription factor of mtDNA (287). The highlight of this discovery was that it provided a molecular link between nuclear gene expression and mitochondrial gene expression.

While NRF-1 and 2 are major contributors to the expression of NuGEMPs, many other transcription factors have also been demonstrated to participate in the process. Of note is the transcription factor family, estrogen-related receptors (ERRs). In particular, ERR α has been well studied to define its role in regulating mitochondrial genes (192). Indeed, ERR α can regulate the expression of components of the electron transport chain as well as mitofusin-2 (MFN-2) which regulates the fusion of the organelles (39), and this has often been found to be in a PGC-1 α -dependent manner (discussed below).

The ubiquitously expressed transcription factors Sp1 and Yin Yang 1 (YY1) also exert functions to regulate NuGEMP expression. Interestingly, YY1 is not exclusively associated with upregulation of NuGEMPs, but rather can exert either stimulatory or inhibitory effects on transcription (254). This type of regulation likely arises from intracellular cues that are received and protein interactions on target promoters. Loss of YY1 specifically from skeletal muscle results in abnormal mitochondrial morphology and impaired function of the organelles (26), highlighting the important of this transcription factor to mitochondrial integrity.

A large breakthrough surrounding the expression of NuGEMPs, was the discovery of a transcriptional coactivator protein that could bind a variety of transcription factors to upregulate numerous genes involved in mitochondrial biogenesis (229). This coactivator protein is referred to as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ) coactivator-1 α (PGC-1 α). A vast amount of research has been devoted to PGC-1 α since this coactivator can mediate enhancement

of mitochondrial biogenesis with exercise and has been found to be dysregulated in a variety of conditions, including sarcopenia.

2.2 PGC-1a AND MITOCHONDRIAL BIOGENESIS

PGC-1a was discovered through a yeast two-hybrid screen for cofactors of PPARy in brown adjose tissue (229). PGC-1 α was demonstrated to increase mitochondrial mass in response to numerous stimuli including cold, thyroid hormone administration as well as exercise (229). Investigation into the mechanisms through which PGC-1a mediates these effects on mitochondria yielded the discovery that it binds and coactivates almost all nuclear receptors and many other transcription factors (255). Indeed, PGC-1a possesses multiple LXXLL amino acid motifs to facilitate binding with nuclear receptors and other domains of the protein serve to interact with other transcription factors (55, 229). PGC-1a possesses no direct DNA binding activity, but when activated and associated with factors occupying promoters, it can potently upregulate the expression of a vast array of NuGEMPs (Fig. 4). Following binding of PGC-1a to transcription factors, chromatin modifying enzymes, such as histone acetyl transferases, are recruited to facilitate opening of the DNA followed by recruitment of the transcriptional initiation machinery (227). In skeletal muscle, NRF-1 and 2, ERRs, PPARs, and YY1 are among the nuclear receptors/transcription factors that are bound and coactivated by PGC-1 α to promote expression of genes for mitochondrial biogenesis.

2.2.1 PGC-1a AND SKELETAL MUSCLE

PGC-1 α exhibits enriched expression in tissues with high metabolic demand. In skeletal muscle, PGC-1 α protein levels are greatest in type I fibres in comparison to type II, which correlates with the content of mitochondria found in these respective fibre types (156). Additionally, PGC-1 α skeletal muscle overexpression elicits a shift in fibre types toward slower,



Fig. 4. Mitochondrial Biogenesis. The transcriptional coactivator PGC-1a can bind and upregulate the activity of a host of receptors/transcription factors. This increases the mRNA expression of a plethora of NuGEMPs which are transcribed then exported into the cytosol. These gene products will be translated by ribosomal machinery followed by import into the organelle through the PIM. For instance, entry of Tfam will permit transcription of mtDNA. Accretion of proteins inside the organelle along with fusion of neighboring mitochondria will increase the reticulum, creating a greater capacity for energy provision. The ETC passes electrons and pumps H⁺ ions generating the $\Delta \Psi_m$, a source of potential energy. Oxygen will be consumed at complex IV and when H⁺ ions pass down the concentration gradient through Complex V, free ADP can be phosphorylated to generate the energy rich molecule, ATP. In the event a portion of the organelle loses its $\Delta \Psi_{\rm m}$ or emits greater ROS through inappropriate donation of electrons, this segment can be divided from the reticulum by fission proteins. PGC-1 α ; peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ coactivator-1a; Tfam; mitochondrial transcription factor A; ETC; electron transport chain; PIM; protein import machinery; NRF-1; nuclear respiratory factor-1; NuGEMPS; Nuclear Genes Encoding Mitochondrial Proteins; OPA1; optic atrophy 1; MFN-1/2; mitofusin-1/2; MFF; mitochondrial fission factor; DRP1; dynamin-related protein 1; FIS1; mitochondrial fission protein 1; $\Delta \Psi_m$; mitochondrial membrane potential; ROS; reactive oxygen species. Adapted from (37).

oxidative fibres, favoring greater fatigue resistance, as animals have improved endurance capacity and higher mitochondrial content (156). This suggests that PGC-1 α governs a skeletal muscle program including the regulation of fibre type and mitochondria found within. Global knockout of PGC-1 α does not result in a remarkable skeletal muscle fibre phenotype, likely due to hyperactivity brought about through altered neural function in these animals (157). Skeletal muscle-specific PGC-1 α -null animals, do however exhibit a shift in muscle fibre phenotype towards more type II fibres (91). Furthermore, animals lacking PGC-1 α in skeletal muscle present with reduced ability to exercise, lower mitochondrial content, impaired respiration and greater potential to release apoptotic proteins (3, 91, 285).

PGC-1 α expression and activity is regulated at the transcriptional, subcellular and posttranslational level in skeletal muscle. Transcriptional control of its gene expression is discussed in detail in section 2.1.2. PGC-1 α protein surprisingly has been found to localize mainly in the cytosol (296). Upon receipt of an exercise stimulus, the protein can be phosphorylated by 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK), and translocate to the nucleus (118, 296). Additionally, deacetylation of PGC-1 α by Sirtuin 1 (SirT1) assists with maximal transcriptional coactivation capabilities of the coactivator (35, 149, 200).

Some studies have challenged the requirement for PGC-1 α in exercise-induced mitochondrial biogenesis (154, 244, 245). Often using knockout models, some studies have reported that mitochondrial improvements transpire with exercise even in the absence of PGC-1 α . However, the presence of PGC-1 α is necessary to confer the beneficial effects of training in middle-aged mice (153). A potential confounding variable for these interpretations may be how knockouts are generated. Disruption of certain exons may not obscure all forms of PGC-1 α . Residual splice variants of PGC-1 α may be left intact to perform auxiliary functions. A more

detailed discussion of PGC-1 α isoforms can be found in section 2.2.4. With the advent of gene editing technology, it may now be possible to tailor specific deletions to PGC-1 α , its isoforms and family members to uncover their specific roles or possible redundancies that may influence these contradictory observations.

2.2.2 TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION OF THE PGC-1a GENE

With the importance of PGC-1 α for the expression of a plethora of mitochondrial genes, it becomes important to consider what transcription factors and upstream signals regulate the expression of this key coactivator. The cell exerts many levels of control of the expression of cellular factors. Initially, whether or not a gene may be transcribed influences the mRNA abundance and ultimately the amount of protein in the cellular milieu.

Often investigators use mRNA levels to suggest changes in transcription. However, increased or decreased mRNA levels are not a direct indication of altered gene transcription and should be interpreted with caution. While mRNA levels are partly regulated by transcription, mRNA is also subject to the influence of stability or decay factors that can ultimately change the total amount of mRNA independent of changes in gene transcription (98). Thus, to conclusively determine if transcription is altered, a method which evaluates nuclear activity is warranted, such as a nuclear run-on assay or a promoter-reporter assay (e.g. luciferase constructs).

Acute exercise results in the turnover of many metabolites and molecules, the production of reactive oxygen species, mechanical muscle stretch and the activation of numerous signaling pathways. In an effort to determine if any of these cellular changes elicit effects on PGC-1 α transcription, researchers have harnessed molecular biology tools to gain deeper insight into the regulation of PGC-1 α with acute exercise. In the 2000s, many studies were designed to examine the influence of acute exercise or exercise signals, on the regulation of the PGC-1 α promoter.



Fig. 5. Schematic of factors that regulate the PGC-1 α promoter. Numerous have been identified that promote expression of the PGC-1 α gene. In response to contractile activity, cycling of ATP, calcium and ROS production are characterized events. Enhancement in ROS production, triggering a shift in the ratio AMP:ATP leads to action of AMPK. AMPK will stimulate the binding of factors GATA-4 and USF-1 to an E-box motif to stimulate PGC-1 α expression. ROS ad calcium have been identified to elicit activation of the kinase p38, which promotes the activity of the transcription factors ATF2 and MEF2. Additionally, calcium regulates the action of TORCs which fortify the binding of CREB to CRE motifs. Contractile activity of muscle has also been shown to induce MEF2 and CREB binding to the promoter area as mutation of these sites blunts the effects of contraction-induced upregulation of PGC-1 α . PGC-1 α ; peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma coactivator 1 alpha; ROS; reactive oxygen species; AMPK; 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase; GATA-4; GATA binding protein 4; USF-1; upstream stimulatory factor 1; ATF2; activating transcription factor 2; MEF2; myocyte-enhancer factor 2; CREB; cAMP response element binding protein; E-box; enhancer box; CRE; cAMP response element; TORC; transducer of regulated CREB-binding proteins.
In 2003, Pilegaard, Neufer and Saltin demonstrated in humans that PGC-1 α transcription was stimulated following an acute bout of exercise and peaked at 2 hours during the recovery period (225). The subjects had performed one-legged training exercise for four weeks prior to the acute bout and interestingly, greater activation of PGC-1 α transcription was noted in the trained leg compared to the untrained leg. This is notable because the training-induced adaptation resulted in a lower workload placed on the trained leg, versus the untrained leg.

In the same year, Spiegelman's group reported that PGC-1 α gene expression is subject to an autoregulatory loop, with calcium being a strong signaling candidate of this process (92). This work highlighted the fact that Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CAMK) IV, calcineurin (CnA) and myocyte-enhancer factor 2 (MEF2) were all factors involved in the transcriptional regulation of the PGC-1 α promoter. Furthermore, PGC-1 α protein could coactivate the MEF2 family of transcription factors, including when they resided on the PGC-1 α promoter, creating a self-regulatory loop. These observations also fortified findings by Wu et al. describing that CAMK IV, an effector of Ca²⁺ signaling, was able to positively regulate the PGC-1 α promoter in myotubes (297). An unbiased cDNA screen further confirmed a role for calcium signaling in the regulation of PGC-1 α gene expression (300). Binding sites for cAMP response element binding (CREB) are located on the promoter of PGC-1 α and it was discovered that CREB can be coactivated by the family of transducers of regulated CREB (TORCs) in muscle cells (300). This coactivation of CREB likely occurs through calcium and/or AMP-mediated activation of TORCs.

Corroborating previous findings, bioluminescence real-time imaging of mouse TA muscle, demonstrated that low-frequency nerve stimulation produced a 3-fold increase in PGC-1 α promoter activity (6). This effect was eliminated when MEF2 or CRE sites (which bind MEF2 and CREB transcription factors, respectively) were mutated on the PGC-1 α promoter. Subsequent work by the same group also identified that activating transcription factor 2 (ATF2) or histone deacetylase 5 (HDAC5) mutation blocked the effect on contractile activity-induced PGC-1 α promoter activity, suggesting these factors are also involved in PGC-1 α gene expression (4, 5).

The mitogen-activated kinase p38 (p38) has long been noted to become phosphorylated with acute exercise (66, 161). Interestingly, p38 is capable of increasing PGC-1 α promoter activity through targeting transcription factors for phosphorylation, such as ATF2 and MEF2 (5). Furthermore, p38 appears to be regulated in response to calcium by the upstream factor CAMK II (295). p38 is also capable of targeting PGC-1 α protein directly for phosphorylation in the presence of inflammatory cytokines (228). This post-translational modification appears to increase the stability of PGC-1 α protein which would assist in coactivation of its own gene as well as other targets. However, whether p38-mediated PGC-1 α protein phosphorylation with muscle contraction exerts a relevant role in the transcription of PGC-1 α , has yet to be elucidated.

Adding to the body of evidence surrounding PGC-1 α promoter regulation with exercise, work by Irrcher et al. demonstrated *in vitro* that exercise-induced signals, such as ROS or AMPK, increased PGC-1 α promoter activity (115, 116). It was identified that through an enhancer box (E-box) motif, GATA binding protein 4 (GATA-4) or upstream stimulatory factor-1 (USF-1) were transcription factors that could respond to these signals to increase human PGC-1 α promoter activity, providing more molecular details on the regulation of this key coactivator in the context of contractile activity-induced signaling towards mitochondrial biogenesis. Elaboration of the influence of ROS, AMPK, p38 and Ca²⁺ has come from work which has examined these signaling factors in the presence and absence of inhibitors using a PGC-1 α GAL4-DNA binding assay (305). Indeed, many of these pathways appear to rapidly converge on PGC-1 α during muscle contraction.

Taken together, this evidence largely points to calcium as a key regulator of PGC-1 α gene expression, particularly in skeletal muscle with contractile activity. Calcium is necessary for muscle contraction and performance as well as maintenance of mitochondria. Thus, for calcium to be a regulatory molecule of the pivotal coactivator for mitochondrial, metabolic and skeletal muscle genes, it provides a common link between contraction-induced signals and maintenance or adaptation of metabolic muscle components, including mitochondria.

2.2.3 EFFECTS OF AGING ON PGC-1a

Numerous studies have correlated a decline in PGC-1 α expression (mRNA or protein) with poor muscle and mitochondrial factors in aging skeletal muscle (41, 58, 112, 124, 142, 163, 249). Indeed, in elderly subjects stratified according to function based on a battery of measures, those classified as high-functioning demonstrated greater levels of PGC-1 α compared to the lowfunctioning group (124). However, both high- and low-functioning aged groups had lower quantities of PGC-1 α when compared to younger counterparts.

Integral to the expression of PGC-1 α are the upstream signaling inputs that drive its transcriptional and post-translational regulation. Signaling factors towards PGC-1 α , such as AMPK, p38 and CAMK have been found to be lower basally in aged muscle (162, 236). Acute exercise is known to potently evoke enhanced phosphorylation of these factors triggering their downstream cascades. However, the response of these kinases in aged muscle to acute exercise is blunted, suggesting an age-related deterioration of signaling towards PGC-1 α expression (162). It would be interesting to determine whether chronic exercise could rectify the signaling towards and expression of PGC-1 α in aged muscle. Should this occur, would contraction-mediated induction of PGC-1 α in aged muscle be able to evoke a turnaround in the function and quality of the mitochondria?

As documented in chapter four, we examined PGC-1 α promoter activity in young and aged skeletal with a single bout of *in situ* contractile activity (38). Basally, aged muscle harbored lower PGC-1 α promoter activity compared to young resting muscle. However, with acute contractile activity, both age groups were able to upregulate PGC-1 α promoter activity, suggesting that aged muscle retains the capacity to drive PGC-1 α expression in a contraction-dependent manner. Furthermore, chronic contractile activity, a model of exercise training, enhanced PGC-1 α mRNA levels in aged muscle so they were similar in expression to that of young control muscle. This suggests that chronic exercise may restore transcription of the PGC-1 α gene, however further experiments are required to determine this supposition.

2.2.4 SPLICE VARIANTS OF PGC-1α

A larger picture surrounding PGC-1 α has begun to emerge through the identification of an alternative upstream promoter as well as alternative splicing of mRNA transcripts which generate distinct, functional protein products. Even early on in the investigation of PGC-1 α there were reports of smaller variants (16, 70) which have only recently begun to be described in more detail.

Initial studies from independent laboratories described two variants for PGC-1 α , denoted as PGC-1 α -b and PGC-1 α -c in murine skeletal muscle which were synthesized from an alternative upstream promoter and the use of an alternative first exon (48, 187, 188, 303). The original PGC-1 α was labelled as PGC-1 α -a or PGC-1 α 1, depending on the scientific group. These variants of PGC-1 α were found to make functional protein that could transcriptionally coactivate gene expression *in vitro* and *in vivo* (187, 188). Furthermore, these two identified variants were found most abundantly in metabolic tissues such as skeletal and cardiac muscle, while seemingly undetectable in other tissues. The alternative promoter which gave rise to these variants was found to be located ~14kb upstream from the canonical PGC-1 α promoter (now referred to as the

proximal promoter) (303). Gene expression from this new upstream alternative promoter was coupled to the alternative exon1, known as exon1b, while the rest of the transcript was identical to the original PGC-1 α -a. This alternative exon1b shortened the transcript and the translated protein at the N-terminal which gave rise to PGC-1 α -b (51, 175). Alternative transcript splicing from the upstream promoter also occurred producing PGC-1 α -c, which was further shortened at the N-terminus, however only by a few amino acids. These initially described variants were found to positively respond to aerobic exercise and to β -adrenergic stimulation in skeletal muscle (187). Furthermore, PGC-1 α -b and PGC-1 α -c exhibited a greater response to either of these stimuli than the traditional PGC-1 α -a and accounted for the majority of the increase when total transcript change was calculated.

Examination of regulatory factors that controlled the alternative promoter revealed similarity to the proximal promoter. The transcription factors myogenic differentiation 1 (MyoD) and myogenic regulatory factor 4 (MRF4) were able to increase alternative promoter activity through an E-box motif (303). Additionally, overexpression of CAMK IV, CnA or mitogenactivated protein kinase 6 (MKK6) recruited CREB to bind to a CRE-response element and increase promoter activity. Thus, it appears that similar signals, such as calcium, may regulate the activity of both promoters.

Early reports of a very short protein variant of PGC-1 α that was induced with exercise, has been now identified as the N-terminal (NT) variants of PGC-1 α (NT-PGC1 α) (16). These variants are approximately 30-37kDa and are generated due to a premature stop codon between exons 6 and 7, excluding the central and C-terminal portions. There are three described variants of the NTs with two arising from the alternative promoter (NT-PGC-1 α -b and NT-PGC-1 α -c) and NT-PGC-1 α -a transcribed from the proximal promoter (175). The generation of these smaller proteins excludes many motifs including the nuclear localization signal. Indeed, imaging has revealed a vastly cytosolic presence of the truncated variant in skeletal muscle (261). However, NT-PGC-1 α -a appears to translocate to the nucleus upon activation of protein kinase A (PKA), a kinase known to phosphorylate the PGC-1 α (42). Neither contraction of muscle fibres nor AMPK activation by 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide (AICAR) did not induce any alterations in the cellular localization of these shortened forms of PGC-1 α (261).

A recent study from the laboratory which discovered the original PGC-1 α described a truncated variant of the protein, PGC-1 α 4 (identical to NT-PGC-1 α -b) which was responsible for the adaptations associated with resistance exercise (246). Indeed, the authors described muscle hypertrophy through the ability of PGC-1 α 4 to induce insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) and repress myostatin. However, this result has not been entirely reproduced. Further work will therefore be required to accurately determine if the variants of PGC-1 α are able to confer specific exercise-induced adaptations. Moreover, whether there is an age-related alteration in the expression or activity of the variants remains to be examined.

2.3 PROTEIN IMPORT INTO MITOCHONDRIA

Most of the gene products for mitochondria are derived from nuclear DNA and the resulting protein products are synthesized in the cytoplasm. This necessitates the import of these proteins into the appropriate compartment or membrane of the organelle. To achieve this feat, membrane import channels exist on the outer and inner mitochondrial membranes, termed translocases of the outer membrane (TOM) and translocases of the inner membrane (TIM), respectively. Proteins that require entry to the organelle typically contain a positively charged N-terminal mitochondrial targeting sequence that guides them to the organelle with the aid of chaperone proteins. Incorporation of nuclear-derived mitochondrial proteins is considered a

valuable indicator of mitochondrial biogenesis (102). With dysfunctional organelles arising in aged muscle, it suggests that perhaps protein import has become defective. Examination of protein import capacity from aged skeletal muscle as well as heart tissue, have noted no defects in the movement of proteins into the organelle (52, 108, 163).

2.4 FUSION AND FISSION

The form of a biological entity is often suggestive of the function it is able to perform. In the case of mitochondria, they are constantly changing shape through fusion events, which connect areas, while fission processes serve to sever contact between organelles (68, 242). These changes in form influence the ability of the mitochondria to supply ATP, use substrates, release pro-apoptotic factors and determine whether they may be removed through mitophagy (155, 284).

Mitochondrial fusion is regulated through the factors mitofusin-1/2 (MFN1/2) to tether the outer membranes together (17, 46, 71) and optic atrophy 1 (OPA1) is in charge of mediating linkage of the inner mitochondrial membrane and cristae structure (49, 211). Pruning of the mitochondrial reticulum occurs through the regulation of fission. Dynamin-related protein 1 (DRP1) will encircle the area of the organelle through binding to the fission factors, mitochondrial fission 1 protein (FIS1), mitochondrial dynamics protein of 49 kDa (MID49), mitochondrial dynamics protein of 51 kDa (MID51) and mitochondrial fission factor (MFF) (166, 214, 267). This wrapping of DRP1 around the organelle will constrict and pinch the organelle from the rest of the reticulum, creating a smaller, unconnected piece.

Maintaining equilibrium between fusion and fission is necessary, as an imbalance creates an unwelcome environment in skeletal muscle. For example, skeletal muscle-specific loss of OPA1 (278), overexpression of the fission factors FIS1 or DRP1 (242) or loss of MFN2 (257) all exhibit features of precocious aging including fragmented mitochondria, dysfunction of remaining organelles and muscle atrophy. With aging, either decreases in the expression of both groups of mitochondrial morphology factors or a skewed balance toward the favored expression of fission regulators have been documented (112, 114, 124, 207, 306). These data harmonize with the observation that mitochondria appear more fragmented in aged muscle (114, 163). Thus, engaging in strategies, like exercise, that promote a balanced expression of these regulators is an attractive option. In young muscle, exercise increases fusion regulators, through PGC-1 α (17, 268), and elongated organelle structures are a notable feature following training paradigms (114). These observations have been extended to also occur in aging muscle, as elevations in the expression of factors promoting fusion have also been noted following training coincident with reduced mitochondrial fragmentation (12). These changes in mitochondrial morphology with aging have been described to be dependent on the expression of PGC-1 α (89).

2.5 EPIGENETICS

Epigenetics refers to changes in gene expression that occur without alteration to the inherent sequence of the DNA. It is widely recognized that epigenetic variations influence development and that epigenetic marks have been demonstrated to exist in tissue-specific patterns. Evidence has detailed that epigenetic modifications are dynamic in somatic tissues in response to varying stimuli, such as exercise or composition of the diet (139). DNA methylation and histone modifications are well-described to alter gene expression through either condensing or unwrapping DNA. Epigenetic modifications have mainly been attributed to the nuclear genome, yet recent evidence has demonstrated that methylation may also influence mitochondrial DNA, albeit this remains quite controversial. Mitochondrial DNA lacks protective histone proteins, however it has been described that Tfam may bind and protect mtDNA forming the nucleoid (147, 148). It

therefore may conceivable that post-translational modifications to Tfam may be considered an epigenetic modification.

2.5.1 METHYLATION OF GENOMIC DNA

Methylation of DNA is a covalent modification that occurs on the fifth carbon of cytosines that are part of CpG dinucleotides (5mC). Methylation of the DNA is catalyzed by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) using the universal methyl donor *S*-adenosyl-_L-methionine (SAM). The 5mC modification of DNA is typically associated with gene silencing, particularly if the methylation occurs in gene promoter regions (Figure 6). Recently, it has been described that 5mC can be hydroxylated by ten-eleven translocase 1 (Tet1) to form 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC) (88). Like 5mC, the 5hmC epigenetic mark is a stable modification. 5hmC has been correlated with transcriptional activation and also as a precursor step in the demethylation of the DNA in conjunction with the base-excision repair pathway (88). The differences on the effects of gene transcription by 5mC and 5hmC may be related to where in the gene segment the modifications occur (i.e. promoter vs. gene body). Currently, studies are now attempting quantification of both DNA methylation events for further insight into transcriptional regulation.

In the approximately 3 billion base pair human genome, 56 million CpG sites have been identified and are obviously an underrepresented sequence. Interestingly, these underrepresented CpG sites have been found in clusters referred to as CpG islands (CGIs). An area of at least 550bp is considered a CGI if the ratio of observed CpG/expected CpG is greater than 0.65. CGIs have been found in approximately 70% of human promoter regions, however, interestingly, these CGIs are largely unmethylated (57).



Fig. 6. Schematic of DNA methylation. Cytosine residues that precede guanine nucleotides can be methylated at the 5' position. DNA methyltransferases facilitate this epigenetic modification using the methyl group from the universal donor, S-Adenosyl methionine. Often when promoter regions are methylated, transcription silencing of the target gene results. This modification to DNA is reversible. DNMT; DNA methyltransferase; TSS; transcription start site; Me; Methyl group.

2.5.2 DNA METHYLATION, SKELETAL MUSCLE AND EXERCISE

In skeletal muscle, DNA methylation is involved in the development of the tissue by regulating the expression of myogenic genes (15). In mature skeletal muscle, recent work has begun to highlight a role for exercise in altering methylation patterns which correlates with changes in gene expression. For example, immediately following an acute bout of aerobic exercise, methylation of the promoter regions of key metabolic genes, such as PGC-1 α , Tfam, Glut4 and pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4 (PDK4), were reduced (20). This decrease in methylation is negatively correlated with an increase in mRNA expression in the subsequent recovery period. A recent study went a step further and examined 5mC and 5hmC modifications on the proximal and alternative PGC-1 α promoters after approximately 1 hour of intensifying rotorod exercise in mice (164). The authors observed that their exercise protocol elicited significant increases in the PGC- 1α -b and PGC- 1α -c mRNA variants, but not the traditional PGC- 1α -a variant. Examination of CpG sites up to -1000bp from the transcription start site of each promoter revealed no alterations in 5mC or 5hmC following exercise. However, basally there was greater 5hmC modification associated with the traditional PGC-1a promoter. This observation correlated to higher mRNA levels of PGC-1 α -a in sedentary animals compared to the levels of PGC-1 α -b or PGC-1 α -c. The lack of changes noted with exercise in this study may be due to the mode and duration of exercise or that samples were taken one hour following the exercise and transient changes in methylation were missed. Taken together, these findings highlight a dynamic, transient role for methylation to control gene expression in skeletal muscle immediately following acute exercise and the subsequent upregulation of mRNA expression (Fig. 7).

With regular exercise training, adaptations in muscle occur due to the accumulation of new proteins facilitated, in part, by consistent upregulation of gene expression. Furthermore, gene



Fig. 7. Responses to an acute bout of exercise and recovery. An acute bout of exercise stimulates the removal of methyl groups from promoters of metabolic and mitochondrial genes. This event precedes and is permissive for a large increase in the transcriptional response. With enhanced transcription, gene products in the form of mRNA will be generated. mRNA will be subject to the influence of stability and decay factors, thus the magnitude of transcript is often lower than the transcriptional response. Stabilized mRNA can be translated into protein in the cytosol. With a single bout of exercise, this change in protein will be small. However, with repeated sessions of exercise, the amount of protein can start to accumulate to elicit measureable changes in mitochondrial content and quality.

expression profiles have been shown to shift after exercise training, potentially indicating a role for alterations in the methylation profile of DNA. Indeed, examination of genome-wide promoter methylation after 4 weeks of treadmill training in mice revealed differential methylation patterns compared to sedentary controls (131). Notably, genes that corresponded with muscle growth and differentiation as well as metabolism exhibited decreased methylation and enriched mRNA expression. In another study, a six-month aerobic exercise intervention was implemented in subjects with or without a family history of type 2 diabetes to determine if exercise could alter methylation patterns in these cohorts (204). In both groups, exercise training was positively correlated with many metabolic genes that exhibited reduced methylation patterns. In another study, 3 months of exercise training was undertaken in previously sedentary individuals to examine changes in methylation patterns of skeletal muscle (158). An important advantage of this study was that supervised one-legged knee extension exercise was used, providing an intra-individual control of the non-exercised leg. This assisted in eliminating the confounding variables of diet and environment which can affect methylation profiles. The researchers identified that differences in methylation occurred predominantly in the enhancer, gene body and intragenic regions as opposed to CGIs and promoter regions. Regions that had altered methylation profiles were consistent with genes involved in muscle remodeling and energetics. Furthermore, MEF2 motifs were consistently found in the regions that harbored alterations in methylation status which is interesting as MEF2 is a bonafide regulator of PGC-1a transcription. Altogether, these studies suggests that engagement in exercise training remodels the methylation profile of the DNA to facilitate gene expression associated with muscle adaptation to exercise. It would be interesting in the future to differentiate between the 5mC and 5hmC patterns after exercise training to gain more specific insight into the epigenetic changes with training. It will also be interesting to determine what signals (i.e. energy

turnover, calcium, metabolites or reactive oxygen species) mediate the changes in DNA methylation and by what molecular mechanisms DNA methylation/demethylation is achieved with exercise (i.e. DNMTs).

2.6 SUMMARY

Mitochondrial biogenesis is essential to support skeletal muscle basally and with exerciseinduced metabolic demands. Organelle content and quality are regulated with fastidious care in a multistep pathway (Fig. 4). At the heart of the proper execution of mitochondrial biogenesis is the transcriptional coactivator, PGC-1 α . In young, healthy muscle PGC-1 α is an important player to mediate the beneficial adaptations wrought by repeated bouts of contractile stimuli. Unfortunately with aging, declines in this coactivator are evident, accompanied by mitochondrial derangements and muscle atrophy. Therefore, restoration of the expression of this coactivator presents as an attractive opportunity to assist in rejuvenation of aging muscle and mitochondria.

3.0 AUTOPHAGY AND MITOPHAGY IN SKELETAL MUSCLE

The maintenance of a healthy pool of mitochondria in skeletal muscle is not only dictated by the degree of biogenesis, but also by the pruning of the mitochondrial reticulum to degrade old, superfluous or damaged organelles. Indeed, a fine-tuned balance between the generation and removal of mitochondria are key events in determining mitochondrial homeostasis (223). The process of specifically removing mitochondria from the cellular milieu is termed mitophagy. Mitophagy is a selective form of the broader process of the evolutionarily-conserved pathway, autophagy. In brief, a stimulus for mitochondrial removal, such as diminished membrane potential or increased ROS emission, will trigger the identification and molecular labelling of this portion of the organelle for removal. Concurrently, a cascade of autophagy-related (ATG) proteins work to generate a *de novo* structure called the autophagosome. This double membrane vesicle will be guided to enwrap the defective organelle and once fully engulfed, will then be transported to the lysosome. At the lysosome, the autophagosome, with its mitochondrial cargo inside, will fuse with the lysosome and release the contents into the acidic lumen of the lysosome. Herein, the resident pH-dependent hydrolases can breakdown the components of the mitochondria, including proteins, DNA and lipid membranes to basic cellular building materials. Now liberated, these resources can then be ejected from the lysosome for their use as cellular building blocks or energy substrates and also to serve as negative signaling feedback for the suppression of autophagy/mitophagy.

When this pathway of intracellular recycling is functioning correctly, alongside mitochondrial biogenesis, organelle homeostasis can be achieved. However, interruption of the normal function of autophagy/mitophagy in skeletal muscle can lead to features of premature aging and muscle disease (36, 177, 233, 299). Furthermore, continuing debate surrounds how autophagy/mitophagy may change with aging. Prominent notions in the literature express that autophagy is

downregulated with aging (93, 181, 198, 247), however lack of conclusive evidence has been available for skeletal muscle tissue to firmly support this concept. Indeed, these conclusions are often based on data extrapolated from lower organisms (181), non-muscle tissue (277), genetic models or *in vitro* work that lacks a physiological context. Thus, investigation into the mechanisms which govern mitochondrial turnover through mitophagy in the context of exercise and aging within skeletal muscle are important to enhance our understanding of mitochondrial homeostasis and muscle health.

Three types of autophagy have been described to occur. The most commonly studied is referred to as macroautophagy, and this process targets intracellular organelles, bulk portions of the cytosol and protein aggregates through encapsulation of material in the newly generated autophagosome. Microautophagy has been observed when small cellular components that require degradation directly indent through the lysosomal membrane with no carriers (185). The last form, which is exclusive to mammals, is chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA). This constitutes the selective lysosomal degradation of proteins that harbor a KFERQ-motif that targets them to the lysosome through the chaperone protein HSC70 and binding to the LAMP-2A receptor on the lysosomal surface (132). Macroautophagy rules the majority of cellular components in their fate for lysosomal degradation, and hereafter will be referred to as autophagy and will remain the focus of this discussion.

3.1 PATHWAY FOR AUTOPHAGY

To understand the removal of mitochondria, a review of upstream events that govern the formation and degradation of the double-membrane autophagosome are key. Core autophagy components have been demonstrated to be necessary for selective forms of autophagy. Indeed, the presence of the autophagosome is often considered the hallmark of autophagy. Autophagosomes

are created in the cell through the action of numerous protein complexes and the donation of a portion of membrane. In an effort to characterize the pathway, autophagy has been divided into stages including 1) induction 2) nucleation, 3) elongation, 4) closure/maturation, 5) fusion and 6) degradation. While the actions of these steps are known to occur in the process of autophagy, the temporal order of the events does garner some debate and often has been determined through lower organisms, mitotic tissue, knockout models and/or cell culture systems. Thus, exact extrapolation of all events to post-mitotic mammalian skeletal muscle has not been fully documented, yet the stages detailed in other tissues and organisms provide a framework of the events that likely govern autophagy/mitophagy in this tissue.

3.1.1 INDUCTION

Often considered a master regulator of autophagy, the serine/threonine unc-51-like kinase (ULK1) has been positioned as the most upstream regulator (281). ULK1 exists in a complex with FIP200 (94), ATG13 (75, 106) and ATG101 (107, 184) for protein complex stabilization, maintenance of kinase activity and subcellular localization. Each of the proteins in the induction complex is subject to post-translational modifications, such as phosphorylation, that can either advance or constrain autophagy in the cell. Activation of the ULK1 complex is largely regulated by two potent kinases that sense changes in nutrient and energy status, mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) and AMPK, respectively. These three kinases, mTORC1, AMPK and ULK1, have all been documented to be capable of phosphorylating the others to regulate autophagy (18, 63, 67, 136, 152, 165, 260). For example, under conditions with ample nutrients, mTORC1 is active and localized on the cytosolic side of the lysosomal membrane (143, 250) where it can phosphorylate target residues of ULK1, thus suppressing autophagy. Conversely, when energy levels (ATP) are low in the cell, AMPK becomes active. AMPK will phosphorylate

and inhibit mTORC1, thus releasing mTORC1 inhibition on ULK1. Additionally, AMPK can directly couple with ULK1 and phosphorylate this protein to activate the induction complex, leading to the initiation of autophagy. This entwined relationship suggests that the cell has multiple regulators to interpret and fine-tune cues to either promote or repress autophagy initiation through the ULK1 complex. This regulation may serve to discriminate between bulk autophagy that typically occurs during starvation or fasting periods, versus selective autophagy, like mitophagy. However, more investigation is necessary to understand the role of ULK1 and downstream autophagy events.

3.1.2 NUCLEATION

Nucleation is a critical step in the formation of the autophagosome (1). Nucleation succeeds the induction step and involves the activated ULK1 complex acting on the downstream protein complex, class III PI3K Complex I (PI3KC3-C1) (248). Activation of this nucleation complex generates an autophagy-specific pool of phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate [PI(3)P] at the site of phagophore assembly (13). The phagophore or isolation membrane, is the precursor structure that ultimately develops into the autophagosomal membrane. The nucleation of the phagophore begins with a donated portion of membrane whose origin remains under current debate. The generated pool of PI(3)P will recruit necessary factors that will translocate to the nascent membrane and assist in further nucleation (13, 226). The PI3KC3-C1 protein complex consists of many subunits including the lipid kinase VPS34, VPS15/p150, Beclin 1, ATG14 (135) and activating molecule in beclin-1-regulated autophagy (AMBRA1).

The activated ULK1 complex is capable of phosphorylating VPS34 (248), Beclin 1 (218, 248) as well as AMBRA1 (21). These events will increased the lipid kinase activity of VPS34 to generate PI(3)P (248), stimulate BECLIN 1 (218) and liberate the nucleation complex from the

39

cytoskeletal network (21), respectively. In yeast, the spatial location for nucleation is well characterized as the pre-autophagosomal structure (PAS), however in mammals a defined spatial region for autophagosome biogenesis is less clear and appears to transpire at many sites in cells. It has been considered that nucleation may take part around the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) at areas called the omegasome (13, 226), which are often enriched for PI(3)P. Further studies suggest that junction points between two organelles, such as ER-mitochondria (27), ER-Golgi (78) or possibly ER-plasma membrane (197) contact sites, may also serve as areas for phagophore nucleation. Very recently, work has demonstrated that nascent phagophores are generated from recycling endosomes (230).

Also integral to the nucleation of the phagophore is the sole transmembrane protein in autophagy, ATG9. ATG9 appears to reside in vesicles and upon stimulation of induction and nucleation events, these vesicles may donate lipids for phagophore expansion (174, 213).

3.1.3 ELONGATION

Once the stage is prepared with the nascent phagophore membrane and the milieu of PI(3)P, expansion of the cup-shaped membrane must occur to form a comprehensive structure. To achieve this, two ubiquitin-like conjugation events occur that serve to grow the lipid membrane. The first series of conjugation involves ATG5, ATG12 and ATG16L1 (190) and this event has been described to participate in the second conjugation event. Briefly, ATG12 is conjugated through a covalent bond to ATG5 due to the actions of ATG7 and ATG10, which act in a similar fashion to ubiquitin E1-activating and E2-conjugating enzymes, respectively. Upon the pairing of ATG12 to ATG5, this is permissive for the reversible binding of ATG16L1. The ATG12–ATG5-ATG16L1 complex can then dimerize with itself to exert its role for the second conjugation system involved



Fig. 8. Autophagy conjugation events for membrane elongation. ATG12 will be exposed to the actions of ATG7 and ATG10 leading to the irreversible binding to ATG5. In this configuration, ATG16L1 can now bind, then the complex can dimerize with itself. In another conjugation event, the newly synthesized pro-LC3 will be cleaved by ATG4 to generate LC3-I, which localizes in the cytosol. LC3-I can be processed by ATG7 and ATG3 preparing for lipidation with PE by the ATG12–ATG5-ATG16L1 complex. With lipidation of LC3-I it now converts to LC3-II and can associate with the autophagosomal membrane assisting with the elongation around selected cargo for degradation. LC3-II can be returned to the LC3-I conformation by removal of the PE group through the action of ATG4. ATG; autophagy-related; LC3; Microtubule-associated proteins 1A/1B light chain 3; PE; phosphatidylethanolamine.

in membrane elongation (74). It is notable that this complex can be found on the outside of the immature autophagosomal membrane, but is removed upon maturation.

The second ubiquitin-like conjugation system involves the conversion of pro-LC3 to the lipidated form, microtubule-associated proteins 1A/1B light chain 3-II (LC3-II), which becomes anchored in the membrane of the autophagosome (113, 128, 298). This generation begins with the cleavage at the C-terminal of newly synthesized pro-LC3 by the protease ATG4 to form a cytosolic pool of microtubule-associated proteins 1A/1B light chain 3-I (LC3-I), which has a molecular mass around 16-18kDa (252). From here, ATG7 serves again as an E1-like activating enzyme preparing LC3-I for the E2-like actions of ATG3. Subsequently, the ATG12-ATG5-ATG16L1 dimeric complex poses as the E3-enzyme and will confer attachment of phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) generating LC3-II. LC3-II migrates to around 14-16kDa on an SDS-PAGE gel and is found associated with autophagosomal membranes, in contrast to exclusively cytosolic pool of LC3-I. Of note, while in yeast only one protein exists for this lipidation event (Atg8), mammals possess seven orthologues. The LC3 family has three members, A, B and C, with LC3B being the most studied. The other forms are referred to as the gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor-associated protein (GABARAP) family and also come in three distinct isoforms as well as golgi-associated ATPase enhancer of 16 kDa (GATE-16) (290). While less is known regarding all of these mammalian versions, it has been discussed that the LC3s exert greater action in the expansion of the phagophore, while GABARAPs participate in the maturation of the autophagosome. Once generated, LC3-II is embedded in the autophagosomal membrane and remains there until the degradation step. For simplicity, these related proteins, whether GABARAPs or LC3 are all referred to as LC3-I/II.

Together, these conjugation events assist in the expansion of the phagophore membrane, growing the cup-shaped structure through the addition of lipid molecules, towards a mature, spherical structure.

Recently the requirement of the LC3/GABARAP families in the generation of the autophagosome has been challenged. Using Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR) generated knockouts of each or all of the LC3 isoforms, it was found that they appear not to be essential for autophagosome biogenesis (202), contrary to previous work (290). However, in the absence of six variants, autophagosomes took longer to generate and were smaller in size. Furthermore, engulfment of mitochondria was still able to occur in their absence. However, a requisite function of these proteins was facilitating fusion of autophagosomes with lysosomes. Whether this is a direct or indirect effect of these proteins is still not clear. Furthermore, whether these observations extend beyond a mammalian *in vitro* system remains to be determined.

3.1.4 CLOSURE, MATURATION AND FUSION

Once the autophagosome has formed, it will be sealed and proteins that aided in the process of its biogenesis and expansion need to be removed from the outer membrane. As mentioned, LC3-II is retained in both the inner and outer membrane and this feature has been harnessed for visualizing autophagosomes (138, 189). Creation of mice that harbor N-terminal labelled green fluorescent protein (GFP)-LC3-II have been highly useful for visualizing autophagy *in vivo* in a variety of tissues and under varying stimuli. Only fully formed and closed, autophagosomes will be able to progress to fusing with the lysosome. Of note, autophagosomes can intersect with the endosomal pathway and can fuse with endosomes creating a structure called the amphisome. This amphisome will still go on to fuse with the lysosome.

Figure 9.



Fig. 9. Major steps in the autophagy pathway. The process of autophagy progresses through a series of steps that generate the *de novo* structure, the autophagosome around cellular cargo to be sequestered and removed. Induction requires ULK1 and associated proteins which is counter regulated by AMPK and mTORC1. Following induction, nucleation of the precursor membrane can occur through the action of the PI3KC3-C1 complex, containing Beclin 1, VPS34 and AMBRA1. Beclin 1 is negatively regulated by BCL-2. With the nucleation complex active, a pool of PI(3)P is generated around the endoplasmic reticulum, recruiting various factors including the processed form of LC3, LC3-II. LC3-II will decorate the autophagosomal membrane. Fully closed autophagosomes can travel via microtubules for fusion with the lysosome. Fusion occurs with the aid of RAB7. Lysosomes have numerous membrane proteins including the LAMPs and v-ATPase, which maintains the acidic environment. Inside the lysosome, substrates can be broken down through the actions of numerous hydrolases, such as CTSD. AMPK; 5' adenosine monophosphateactivated protein kinase; ULK1; unc-51 like kinase 1; mTORC1; mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1; BCL-2; B-cell lymphoma 2; AMBRA1; Activating Molecule in Beclin-1-Regulated Autophagy; LC3; Microtubule-associated proteins 1A/1B light chain 3; ATG; autophagy-related; LAMP; lysosomal-associated membrane protein; RAB7; Ras-related protein 7; CTSD; cathepsin D; v-ATPase; Vacuolar-type H⁺ -ATPase.

Autophagosomes traverse the cell on the molecular roads formed by microtubules (10, 289). Since autophagosomes can be formed in various locales, they require the ability to move towards lysosomes, which are often found in the perinuclear region. Indeed, destabilization of these filaments, such as by colchicine treatment, prevents autophagic vessels from reaching the lysosome and consequently the cargo-loaded vesicles accumulate in the cell (127). While a host of proteins have been shown to be involved for fusion events in yeast, less is conclusively known regarding the mechanisms responsible for mammalian cells. Ras-related protein 7 (RAB7) has been demonstrated to be likely responsible for attaching autophagosomes to microtubule motors for their movement, as well as tethering of the autophagosomes to lysosomes (138). Additionally, the lysosomal associated membrane proteins 1/2 (LAMP-1/2) have been documented to assist with fusion (73, 111).

3.1.5 DEGRADATION

The outer autophagosomal membrane is fused with the lysosome leaving the inner membrane free for release along with the sequestered contents into the lysosome. The LC3-II that decorated the outer surface of the autophagosome will be cleaved off by ATG4 returning it to a LC3-I configuration. Since the inner membrane is released into the lysosome for digestion, proteins involved in autophagosome generation as well as adaptors or receptors that link cargo to the inner autophagosome membrane are also subject to digestion. LC3-II and p62 are two such proteins that succumb to a degradative fate, and this makes them highly useful for measures of autophagic flux (discussed below).

The pH within the lysosome is maintained at an acidic level around pH 4.5-5.0 for proper function of the occupant hydrolases. This acidification is due to the action of the proton pump, the vacuolar-type H⁺-ATPase (v-ATPase) found in the lysosomal membrane (11). Over 50 enzymes

can be found inside lysosome that facilitate the breakdown of delivered cargo. The cathepsin family of proteases are abundantly located within the lysosome and CATHEPSIN D (CTSD) is a major player in the breakdown of delivered substrates (23, 292). Mutations in many of the hydrolases or lysosomal proteins have been documented to result in disease broadly classified as lysosomal storage diseases. These can include Gaucher, Danon, Neimann-Pick and Pompe diseases, to name a select few (216). Once macromolecules are spliced into basic constituents, they will be discharged from the lysosome through appropriate channels.

The identification of a master regulator for lysosomal biogenesis, transcription factor EB (TFEB), has recently evolved our understanding of lysosomes and their coordination with autophagy (215, 258, 259). Normally, TFEB is repressed adjacent to lysosome through phosphorylation by mTORC1, but in response to cues for autophagy/mitophagy induction, TFEB will be dephosphorylated and translocate to the nucleus. Once there TFEB can occupy promoters of target genes containing the known coordinated lysosomal expression and regulation (CLEAR) sequence (5'-GTCACGTGAC-3') or and E-box motif, which includes numerous lysosomal and autophagic factors such as LC3B, p62, mucolipin 1 (MCOLN1), BECLIN1, LAMP1 among many others (179, 259). Indeed, overexpression of TFEB increases lysosomal abundance and enhanced autophagic degradation activity. A highlight surrounding the discovery of TFEB is that there exists a reciprocal relationship with the master mitochondrial transcriptional regulator, PGC-1 α , whereby each of these factors can regulate the others promoter (69, 282, 285). TFEB binds directly to the promoter of PGC-1a, while PGC-1a is capable of regulating TFEB expression. What factors PGC-1α may coactivate on the TFEB promoter, remain to be identified. This sets the stage for a mechanism where mitochondrial turnover is regulated through potent, interconnected factors likely to ensure a balance between the effective removal and generation of mitochondria.

Interestingly, TFEB also induces mitochondrial adaptations with exercise independent of its interactions with the PGC-1 α pathway (170).

3.2 MITOPHAGY MECHANISMS

Initially, autophagy was considered a non-selective process that would recycle any cellular constituents in order to maintain homeostasis. However, autophagy has now been well characterized to operate in a highly specific fashion targeting organelles, protein aggregates and even infectious material. In the case of organelles, selectively exists for a wide range of components including, but not limited to, mitochondria, ribosomes, peroxisomes and ER (241). In the case of mitochondria two pathways have largely been described that mediate clearance of this organelle through mitophagy. While not mutually exclusive, ubiquitin-dependent and - independent mechanisms are the most discussed.

The ubiquitin-dependent mechanism is largely controlled through two proteins, PTEN-induced putative kinase 1 (PINK1) and PARKIN. These two proteins act in a common pathway to label mitochondria with polyubiquitin chains that serve to connect the organelle to LC3-II in the autophagosome through adaptor proteins. Ubiquitin-independent clearance of mitochondria is mediated through receptors which can attach to both the outer mitochondrial membrane and then attach to LC3-II in the autophagosomal membrane.

3.2.1 PINK1, PARKIN AND UBIQUITIN-MEDIATED MITOPHAGY

The identification of PINK1 and PARKIN as mediators for mitophagy has spurned a burgeoning field of research. PINK1 and PARKIN mutations are correlated with the onset of recessive familial Parkinson's disease and have been intensely studied in neural tissue (224). Initial studies from the Youle lab demonstrated the link between PARKIN and mitophagy in mammalian cells. In the face of impaired mitochondria, induced through the ETC uncoupler CCCP/FCCP,



Fig. 10. Mitophagy mechanisms.

Figure 10. Mitophagy mechanisms. Clearance of mitochondria often occurs through ubiquitindependent and –independent events. 1) Ub-dependent mitophagy. With the loss of $\Delta \Psi_m$ and increased ROS, PINK1 is no longer imported through TOM and TIM channels. Instead, PINK1 is stabilized on the OMM where it can autophosphorylate, target the E3 ligase, PARKIN as well as molecules of ubiquitin. This leads to full PARKIN activity which is then capable of adding Ub molecules to outer membrane proteins such as, TOM 20/70, VDAC or MFN2. Expansion of ubiquitin chains and phosphorylation of the molecules serves to amplify the mitophagy signal. Adaptor proteins will then link the cargo to the autophagosome. Proteins such as p62, NDP52 and OPTN will act as a scaffold between the targeted cargo and the autophagosomal membrane through binding to both ubiquitin and LC3-II. 2) Ub-independent mitophagy. Receptors, such as NIX, BNIP3 and FUNDC1 are located in the OMM and possess motifs that enable them to bind with LC3-II in the autophagosome. Clearance of mitochondria through these receptors is often triggered by hypoxia (low O_2) events or ROS. Ub; ubiquitin; ROS; reactive oxygen species; $\Delta \Psi_m$; mitochondrial membrane potential; OMM; outer mitochondrial membrane; LC3; Microtubuleassociated proteins 1A/1B light chain 3; PINK1; PTEN-induced putative kinase 1; TOM; translocase of the outer membrane; TIM; translocase of the inner membrane; PARL; Presenilinsassociated rhomboid-like protein; VDAC; voltage-dependent anion channel; MFN-2; mitofusin-2; OPTN; optineurin; NDP52; nuclear dot protein 52; ETC; electron transport chain; NIX; BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19-kDa protein-interacting protein 3-like; BNIP3; BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19-kDa-interacting protein 3; FUNDC1; FUN14 Domain Containing 1; P; phosphate group.

PARKIN would be recruited to these organelles to facilitate their mitophagic degradation (195). Further work has identified PARKIN as an integral component to the degradation of mitochondria in numerous tissues. Loss of PARKIN results in the suppression of stimulus-induced mitochondrial turnover (44, 45), decreased mitochondrial respiration (45, 84) and enhanced oxidative stress (45). PINK1 has also been documented to have a major role in mitochondrial clearance as the absence of PINK1 results in mitochondrial defects, including shifts in mitochondrial morphology, impaired ETC respiration, declines in membrane potential, increased ROS and reductions in Ca²⁺ buffering capacity (9, 99). Through these observations, PINK1 and PARKIN have been clearly demonstrated to exert critical functions to maintain mitochondrial homeostasis.

Recent evidence has elaborated on the sequence of events through which PINK1 and PARKIN act to facilitate mitophagy. In the beginning, there were discrepancies about the sequence of PINK1 and PARKIN actions and also whether they were necessary or simply sufficient for mitophagy. For instance, in heart tissue, ablation of PINK1 did not prevent the recruitment of PARKIN to mitochondria (146). In the drosophila model, PINK1 and PARKIN mutants exhibited similar phenotypes and it was shown that overexpression of PARKIN could compensate for the absence of PINK1. However, PINK1 was unable to compensate for the lack of PARKIN (219). While many studies have highlighted that PINK1 and PARKIN work in a common pathway for mitochondrial removal, recent advances have given greater scope to the sequence of events and roles each of these proteins in mitophagy.

PINK1 is a serine/threonine kinase and normally exists at low levels within the cell in the absence of mitochondrial stress. Under basal conditions, PINK1 is rapidly imported into the organelle through the TOM and TIM import machinery, which is highly dependent on mitochondrial membrane potential (178, 196). Once inside the mitochondria, PINK1 is cleaved by

two proteases. Mitochondrial processing peptidase (MPP) will scission the N-terminal mitochondrial targeting sequence from PINK1 (86), while presenilins-associated rhomboid-like (PARL) protease will cleave PINK1 to a smaller 52kDa fragment from its full length of 64kDa (56, 122, 180). This shortened version of PINK1 can be extruded from the mitochondria and degraded by the proteasome in the cytosol through the N-end rule proteasome pathway (301).

This regulation of PINK1 drastically changes under conditions when mitochondria exhibit stress, such as dissipation of membrane potential. Under these circumstances, full-length PINK1 becomes stabilized on the OMM, likely near the TOM proteins (178, 209). From this position, PINK1 is able to exert its inherent kinase activity to instigate the selection and labelling of the damaged mitochondria for degradation (Fig. 10). Three key phosphorylation events occur from PINK1 that serve to amplify the signal for mitophagy. These include PINK1 autophosphorylation (210), phosphorylation of the E3 ligase PARKIN (262) and phosphorylation of the 76 amino acid protein, ubiquitin (129, 133, 145) (Fig. 10). Interestingly, PINK1 phosphorylates both ubiquitin and PARKIN on the Ser65 residue.

Recent experiments have detailed that phosphorylated ubiquitin attracts PARKIN with high affinity. Upon phospho-ubiquitin binding to PARKIN, an allosteric modification occurs which ultimately stimulates the E3 ligase activity of PARKIN. In this state, PARKIN is now capable of efficiently adding ubiquitin molecules to substrates on the OMM and/or expanding polyubiquitin chains (Fig. 10). These polyubiquitin chains can then serve as substrates for PINK1 to phosphorylate more ubiquitin molecules, creating a feedforward amplification of the mitophagic signal (64, 144). Many proteins residing on the OMM have been identified as PARKIN substrates. These include the outer translocase proteins, TOM20 and TOM70 (251), the outer channel protein,

voltage dependent anion channel (VDAC) (80, 273), and regulators of mitochondrial morphology, MFN1/2 (79) (Fig. 10).

As described earlier, mitochondria are reticular in form and undergo changes in morphology through fusion and fission processes to expand or fragment the network, respectively. Evidence has shown that fission of mitochondria is a prerequisite for mitophagy, as the impaired segment of the organelle must be segregated (32). Disassociation from the larger network likely aids in the engulfment of the organelle and ensures that only the damaged portion will be degraded. Targeted ubiquitination and degradation of the mitochondrial fusion proteins MFN1/2 prevents the damaged segment of mitochondria from reconnecting with the healthy portion of the network (276). However, if a portion of mitochondria that has been fragmented from the network is capable of regaining its membrane potential, there is the potential for this segment to reconnect with the larger reticulum and be spared from mitophagic degradation (155).

3.2.2 ADAPTOR PROTEINS

While the addition of ubiquitin/ubiquitin chains to OMM proteins amplifies the mitophagic signal, the organelle still requires being encircled by the autophagosome. This guidance is achieved through adaptor proteins that act as a scaffold between the ubiquitin molecules emanating from the organelle and LC3-II in the autophagosomal membrane. To date, mammalian cells have been described to express six adaptor proteins that possess the requisite motifs to bind both ubiquitin and LC3-II. Binding of ubiquitin occurs through an ubiquitin-binding domain (UBD) and LC3-II interactions transpire through a LC3-interacting region (LIR) (Fig. 10). These adaptor proteins include p62/sequestosome-1, Optineurin (OPTN), nuclear-dot protein 52 (NDP52), neighbor of BRCA-1 (NBR1), Tax-1 binding protein 1 (TAX1BP1) and toll-interacting protein (TOLLIP).

The best studied of these is p62 and initially was considered the main adaptor protein to link mitochondria with autophagosomal membranes (25, 80, 117). However, recent work has shed light on adaptors beyond p62 and their role in mitophagy. Lazarou and colleagues demonstrated the role for other adaptors through genome editing that targeted NDP52, OPTN, TAX1BP1, NBR1 and p62 (151). NDP52 and OPTN were found to be potent adaptors for PINK1/PARKIN-mediated mitophagy and also capable of recruiting upstream autophagic factors like ULK1 to proximal mitochondrial locations. Adding to these observations, research has shown that tank-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) is capable of phosphorylating the adaptor proteins OPTN, NDP52, TAX1BP1 and p62 enhancing their ability to bind with ubiquitin-labelled mitochondria for mitophagy (237).

3.2.3 RECEPTOR-MEDIATED MITOPHAGY

Elimination of mitochondria from the cell has also been described to occur independently or possibly in conjunction with the PINK1-PARKIN-ubiquitin axis. Protein receptors that can insert into the OMM through their transmembrane domains and connect to LC3 via a LIR have also been demonstrated to facilitate mitophagic degradation (Fig. 10). These receptors include BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19-kDa protein-interacting protein 3-like (NIX/BNIP3L) (59), BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19-kDa protein-interacting protein 3 (BNIP3) (238) and FUN14 Domain Containing 1 (FUNDC1) (47). NIX was identified to readily participate in mitophagy through the eradication of mitochondria during the maturation of reticulocytes to red blood cells (205). BNIP3 and NIX have pro-autophagic functions through their ability to bind BCL-2, thus preventing its ability to inhibit BECLIN 1 (304). Additionally, they are capable of binding the upstream mTORC1 effector ras homolog enriched in brain (RHEB), suppressing mTORC1 activity and promoting autophagy (182). Both BNIP3 and NIX mitophagic functions are regulated through phosphorylation events adjacent to their innate LIR region. All three of these receptors are also involved in mitophagic removal in response to a hypoxic stimulus. Indeed, NIX and BNIP3 are transcriptionally upregulated by hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha (HIF-1 α) and forkhead box O3 (FOXO3) (22, 169). Periods of hypoxia also favor the production of ROS from the mitochondria, which also stimulates mitophagy through BNIP3 and NIX.

3.3 MITOCHONDRIA-DERIVED VESICLES

Mitophagy removes a complete segment of organelle, eliminating membranes, mtDNA, ETC complexes and inherent quality control factors, such as proteases and regulators of the mitochondrial unfolded protein response (mtUPR). Complete organelle removal may not always be required for rejuvenation and this complete demolition may be ill-advised depending on the energy requirements of the cell or the magnitude of the mitochondrial defect. First documented in 2008, mitochondria have been demonstrated to form mitochondrial-derived vesicles (MDVs) (201). These are small membrane-bound vesicles released by the organelle. The MDVs carry oxidized cargo and their formation is often stimulated through increased ROS production (269) in contrast to membrane depolarization, which kindles mitophagic removal. Interestingly, the MDVs can be delivered to peroxisomes or lysosomes independent of upstream autophagic machinery components and may serve as a quality control mechanism that precedes mitophagy (33).

3.4 AUTOPHAGY AND MITOPHAGY FLUX

Autophagy and mitophagy are ongoing dynamic processes, which makes the assessment of these pathways *in vivo* quite challenging. Indeed, low levels of basal autophagy continually transpire and stimulus-induced autophagy/mitophagy may occur within minutes to hours. In an effort to standardize the assessment of autophagy, numerous guidelines, methodological resources and commentaries have been published to assist researchers in the appropriate approaches to quantify and interpret changes in autophagy and/or mitophagy (127, 141, 191, 272, 293, 302).



Figure 11. Autophagy flux.

Fig. 11. Autophagy flux. Autophagy is a dynamic process and requires specialized methods to estimate the degree of ongoing degradation. A) Under physiological conditions, autophagy proceeds without impairment. Autophagosomes that are labelled with LC3-II and contain cargo anchored by adaptor proteins, like p62, will travel on microtubules to the lysosome. Upon fusion with the lysosome, the contents can be degraded by resident pH-sensitive enzymes. B) With the administration of a microtubule destabilizer, such as colchicine, autophagosomes will accumulate in the cellular milieu. The vesicles accrue along with the cargo and proteins found on the autophagosome membrane and inside, such the adaptor molecules. Evaluation of the amount of LC3-II or p62 in the colchicine condition, by western blotting or fluorescence, is then subtracted from the uninhibited condition. This method will reveal an estimated amount of autophagic turnover, otherwise known as flux. LC3; Microtubule-associated proteins 1A/1B light chain 3 LAMP; lysosomal-associated membrane protein; CTSD; cathepsin D.
While the rules for assessing autophagy are more finite in cell culture systems (141), *in vivo* measurements, particularly in skeletal muscle, continue to evolve. Assessment of autophagy flux is the highest standard for describing changes in autophagy/mitophagy and considers the amount of degradation that would have transpired.

Often static measurements of protein markers or mRNAs taken at one set time point can lead to misinterpretation and misunderstanding of the robustness of autophagy. For example, since p62 (or other adaptors) and LC3-II can be degraded during autophagy/mitophagy, it is difficult to solely rely on their total protein abundance to indicate increased or decreased autophagy. Furthermore, many post-translational modifications occur during autophagy/mitophagy, which may also need to be monitored beyond total protein abundance. Many studies have interpreted increased autophagy through an enhanced ratio of LC3-II:LC3-I and decreases in p62 levels (159, 299). However, these proteins may also be transcriptionally and translationally upregulated during stressful stimuli when turnover of substrates is occurring, altering the profile of protein abundance due to enhanced synthesis. Moreover, should a defect exist along the autophagy pathway it may further modify the accumulation or degradation of these markers.

This complex situation in measurement of autophagy markers has led to the adoption of pharmacological strategies that purposefully block the pathway in the short-term and then make comparisons to an experimentally identical condition without the blockade (Fig. 11). With acute inhibition of autophagy, accumulation of autophagosomes and/or prevention of lysosomal degradation can occur (127). This blockade will induce an accretion of proteins associated with the autophagosome or substrate recognition, such as LC3-II or p62 (Fig. 11). Comparison of the difference in protein expression between the blocked and the uninhibited conditions permits the assessment of the degree of autophagy that would have occurred. To draw conclusions regarding

changes in mitophagy, isolation of the organelles followed by western blotting for autophagosome markers would infer the degree of organelles targeted for degradation. Additionally, imaging techniques that would permit visualization of markers for mitochondria, autophagosomes and lysosomes would be useful for colocalization assessment to infer mitophagy. This method of autophagy inhibition has been validated in skeletal muscle of model organisms such as mice and rats, however remains contraindicated for the assessment of autophagy in humans. The drugs colchicine, bafilomycin A1, leupeptin and chloroquine are most commonly used to disrupt either lysosomal degradative functions or fusion of autophagosomes with lysosomes.

3.5 AUTOPHAGY AND MITOPHAGY WITH EXERCISE

Autophagy and mitophagy have begun to be well characterized in response to exercise. With an acute bout of exercise, numerous studies have established an induction of this recycling process, in young, healthy muscle (44, 87, 96, 285). A landmark study in the elucidation of acute exercise and autophagy regulation came forth from Beth Levine's lab in 2012 (96). This work demonstrated enhanced autophagy following acute treadmill exercise in mice. Additionally, through mutation of BCL-2 to inhibit stimulus-induced autophagy via BECLIN 1, they described that with impaired autophagy endurance capacity decreased and glucose homeostasis was lost. Numerous studies since have shown that acute exercise is potent stimulus for autophagy and mitophagy. Indeed, autophagic and mitophagic flux assessment following acute exercise solidified our understanding with data from our laboratory (285). However, what befalls mitochondrial turnover within aging muscle following either an acute session of exercise or in response to chronic training paradigms remains relatively unexplored.

Two studies have suggested that autophagy flux increases following chronic exercise training in young model organisms (126, 159). Furthermore, only inferences towards mitophagy were made

59

as isolation of the organelles was not performed. It is a long standing observation that mitochondrial volume and quality increases following a suitable training regimen. This enhancement in organelle number and composition may arguably lead to an enhanced need for autophagy. However, given that the stimulus for biogenesis is great, the quality of the organelles is high and the muscle is environment is favorable, it is possible that the requirement for mitophagic turnover may actually be relatively low (137). Potential evidence for this points to mitochondrial structure which tends to become more elongated following training along with the increased expression of fusion factors. Since fission is a prerequisite for mitophagy and expression of fission proteins are often lower in trained muscle, there may be fewer organelles that require a complete mitophagic makeover. Furthermore, mitophagy-inducing stimuli, such as ROS and dissipation of membrane potential, are much less prevalent in the trained state suggesting the presence of fewer triggers for mitophagy turnover. It becomes tempting to speculate that with improved organelle quality induced by exercise training, that inherent quality control mechanisms of the mitochondria improve, such as mtUPR (183), and perhaps MDVs become the primary source for exclusion of small organelle portions for renewal.

3.6 AUTOPHAGY AND MITOPHAGY IN AGED SKELETAL MUSCLE

While controversial, the aging muscle milieu loses mitochondria and the remaining organelles are often defective in nature. As described previously, damaged organelles can result from enhanced emission of ROS, increased mtDNA mutations or greater sensitivity to opening of the mtPTP. This seeming preference for aging muscle to harbor poor quality organelles likely arises from perturbations to both biogenesis and mitophagic pathways. This leads to the concept that improper mitochondrial quality control mechanisms must be evident in skeletal muscle.

Whether the mitochondria are the initiators their own demise or are collateral damage remains to be determined.

Initial investigations into mitophagy in aging skeletal muscle have used proteins markers to infer whether this pathway experiences alterations. Assessment of upstream and downstream effectors have documented changes in autophagy and mitophagy markers in aging muscle (19, 62, 125, 207, 294). However, most often the observations are not in agreement. These varying findings impact the interpretations that are generated and leave the field without a consensus. Additionally, we now understand that due to the dynamic nature of autophagy and mitophagy, upstream markers are not solely valid to deduce the changes in autophagy/mitophagy flux. Furthermore, few studies have attempted to isolate mitochondria from aging muscle to examine the translocation or expression levels of mitophagic factors, or assess mitophagic flux. Assessment of isolated organelles from our laboratory has demonstrated that increased expression of PARKIN and p62 are present on mitochondria from aged muscle (207). These data suggest that either the organelles are targeted for degradation at a higher rate or possibly that they are not being removed from the system effectively by the lysosome. These data generate the need to assess mitophagic flux in aged muscle to compose a larger picture of mitochondrial regulation.

The lysosome is the terminal step in the recycling of mitochondria, thus proper function of this depot will maintain the capacity for cellular turnover. Aged tissues, including skeletal muscle, have consistently shown evidence of a substance termed lipofuscin, or the "age pigment" (24, 110, 207, 277). Lipofuscin granules are localized within lysosomes and are indigestible material. The lysosomal theory of aging suggests that due to the accumulation of garbage in the lysosome, this puts the brakes on cellular turnover of structures including mitochondria causing an accumulation of defective components (30). This buildup of harmful substances, like mitochondria can

perpetuate the loss skeletal muscle through their ability to release pro-apoptotic factors. Whether the presence of lipofuscin negatively impacts the degradation of autophagosomes and their cargo in skeletal muscle is currently unknown.

3.7 SUMMARY

Mitochondrial homeostasis is achieved through the continuous formation and removal of organelles. Impairments in the autophagy or mitophagy pathways are noted to cause decrements in skeletal muscle form and function. Aging muscle often presents with poor quality mitochondria, suggesting that the removal of organelles may be reduced, however little evidence has been gathered to support this concept. In particular, the hallmark measurements of autophagy and mitophagy flux are lacking from aged muscle. Exercise is a confirmed stimulus to instigate mitochondrial turnover in young, healthy subjects allowing for remodeling of the organelle network. Additional questions also remain whether exercise can elicit the same effects on autophagy/mitophagy in aged muscle for mitochondrial renovation.

4.0 REFERNCES

- 1. **Abeliovich H, Dunn WA, Kim J, Klionsky DJ**. Dissection of autophagosome biogenesis into distinct nucleation and expansion steps. *J. Cell Biol.* 151: 1025–34, 2000.
- Adhihetty PJ, Ljubicic V, Hood DA. Effect of chronic contractile activity on SS and IMF mitochondrial apoptotic susceptibility in skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 292: E748-55, 2007.
- Adhihetty PJ, Uguccioni G, Leick L, Hidalgo J, Pilegaard H, Hood DA. The role of PGC-1alpha on mitochondrial function and apoptotic susceptibility in muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 297: C217-25, 2009.
- Akimoto T, Li P, Yan Z. Functional interaction of regulatory factors with the Pgc-1alpha promoter in response to exercise by in vivo imaging. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 295: C288-92, 2008.
- Akimoto T, Pohnert SC, Li P, Zhang M, Gumbs C, Rosenberg PB, Williams RS, Yan Z. Exercise stimulates Pgc-1alpha transcription in skeletal muscle through activation of the p38 MAPK pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280: 19587–93, 2005.
- Akimoto T, Sorg BS, Yan Z. Real-time imaging of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator-1alpha promoter activity in skeletal muscles of living mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 287: C790-6, 2004.
- Alway SE, Mohamed JS, Myers MJ. Mitochondria Initiate and Regulate Sarcopenia. Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. 45: 58–69, 2017.
- Alway SE, Siu PM. Nuclear apoptosis contributes to sarcopenia. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 36: 51–7, 2008.
- Amo T, Sato S, Saiki S, Wolf AM, Toyomizu M, Gautier CA, Shen J, Ohta S, Hattori N. Mitochondrial membrane potential decrease caused by loss of PINK1 is not due to proton leak, but to respiratory chain defects. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 41: 111–118, 2011.
- Aplin A, Jasionowski T, Tuttle DL, Lenk SE, Dunn WA. Cytoskeletal elements are required for the formation and maturation of autophagic vacuoles. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 152: 458–66, 1992.
- Arai K, Shimaya A, Hiratani N, Ohkuma S. Purification and characterization of lysosomal H(+)-ATPase. An anion-sensitive v-type H(+)-ATPase from rat liver lysosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268: 5649–60, 1993.

- Arribat Y, Broskey NT, Greggio C, Boutant M, Conde Alonso S, Kulkarni SS, Lagarrigue S, Carnero EA, Besson C, Cantó C, Amati F. Distinct Patterns of Skeletal Muscle Mitochondria Fusion, Fission and Mitophagy upon Duration of Exercise Training. *Acta Physiol.* (August 24, 2018). doi: 10.1111/apha.13179.
- Axe EL, Walker SA, Manifava M, Chandra P, Roderick HL, Habermann A, Griffiths G, Ktistakis NT. Autophagosome formation from membrane compartments enriched in phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate and dynamically connected to the endoplasmic reticulum. *J. Cell Biol.* 182: 685–701, 2008.
- Azagba S, Sharaf MF. Physical inactivity among older canadian adults. J. Phys. Act. Health 11: 99–108, 2014.
- Baar K. Epigenetic control of skeletal muscle fibre type. *Acta Physiol. (Oxf)*. 199: 477–87, 2010.
- Baar K, Wende AR, Jones TE, Marison M, Nolte LA, Chen M, Kelly DP, Holloszy JO. Adaptations of skeletal muscle to exercise: rapid increase in the transcriptional coactivator PGC-1. *FASEB J.* 16: 1879–86, 2002.
- Bach D, Pich S, Soriano FX, Vega N, Baumgartner B, Oriola J, Daugaard JR, Lloberas J, Camps M, Zierath JR, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Wallberg-Henriksson H, Laville M, Palacín M, Vidal H, Rivera F, Brand M, Zorzano A. Mitofusin-2 Determines Mitochondrial Network Architecture and Mitochondrial Metabolism. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 17190–17197, 2003.
- 18. **Bach M, Larance M, James DE, Ramm G**. The serine/threonine kinase ULK1 is a target of multiple phosphorylation events. *Biochem. J.* 440: 283–291, 2011.
- Baehr LM, West DWD, Marcotte G, Marshall AG, De Sousa LG, Baar K, Bodine SC. Age-related deficits in skeletal muscle recovery following disuse are associated with neuromuscular junction instability and ER stress, not impaired protein synthesis. *Aging* (*Albany. NY*). 8: 127–146, 2016.
- Barrès R, Yan J, Egan B, Treebak JT, Rasmussen M, Fritz T, Caidahl K, Krook A, O'Gorman DJ, Zierath JR. Acute exercise remodels promoter methylation in human skeletal muscle. *Cell Metab.* 15: 405–11, 2012.
- 21. Di Bartolomeo S, Corazzari M, Nazio F, Oliverio S, Lisi G, Antonioli M, Pagliarini V, Matteoni S, Fuoco C, Giunta L, D'Amelio M, Nardacci R, Romagnoli A, Piacentini M,

Cecconi F, Fimia GM. The dynamic interaction of AMBRA1 with the dynein motor complex regulates mammalian autophagy. *J. Cell Biol.* 191: 155–168, 2010.

- Bellot G, Garcia-Medina R, Gounon P, Chiche J, Roux D, Pouyssegur J, Mazure NM. Hypoxia-Induced Autophagy Is Mediated through Hypoxia-Inducible Factor Induction of BNIP3 and BNIP3L via Their BH3 Domains. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 29: 2570–2581, 2009.
- Benes P, Vetvicka V, Fusek M. Cathepsin D—Many functions of one aspartic protease. *Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol.* 68: 12–28, 2008.
- Beregi E, Regius O, Hüttl T, Göbl Z. Age-related changes in the skeletal muscle cells. Z. *Gerontol.* 21: 83–6, 1988.
- 25. **Bjørkøy G, Lamark T, Pankiv S, Øvervatn A, Brech A, Johansen T**. Monitoring autophagic degradation of p62/SQSTM1. *Methods Enzymol*. 452: 181–97, 2009.
- 26. Blättler SM, Verdeguer F, Liesa M, Cunningham JT, Vogel RO, Chim H, Liu H, Romanino K, Shirihai OS, Vazquez F, Rüegg MA, Shi Y, Puigserver P. Defective mitochondrial morphology and bioenergetic function in mice lacking the transcription factor Yin Yang 1 in skeletal muscle. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 32: 3333–46, 2012.
- 27. **Böckler S**, **Westermann B**. Mitochondrial ER Contacts Are Crucial for Mitophagy in Yeast. *Dev. Cell* 28: 450–458, 2014.
- Boffoli D, Scacco SC, Vergari R, Solarino G, Santacroce G, Papa S. Decline with age of the respiratory chain activity in human skeletal muscle. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1226: 73–82, 1994.
- 29. Booth FW, Laye MJ, Roberts MD. Lifetime sedentary living accelerates some aspects of secondary aging. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 111: 1497–1504, 2011.
- Brunk UT, Terman A. The mitochondrial-lysosomal axis theory of aging: accumulation of damaged mitochondria as a result of imperfect autophagocytosis. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 269: 1996–2002, 2002.
- Bua EA, McKiernan SH, Wanagat J, McKenzie D, Aiken JM. Mitochondrial abnormalities are more frequent in muscles undergoing sarcopenia. J. Appl. Physiol. 92: 2617–24, 2002.
- Burman JL, Pickles S, Wang C, Sekine S, Vargas JNS, Zhang Z, Youle AM, Nezich CL, Wu X, Hammer JA, Youle RJ. Mitochondrial fission facilitates the selective mitophagy of protein aggregates. *J. Cell Biol.* 216: 3231–3247, 2017.

- 33. Cadete VJJ, Deschênes S, Cuillerier A, Brisebois F, Sugiura A, Vincent A, Turnbull D, Picard M, McBride HM, Burelle Y. Formation of mitochondrial-derived vesicles is an active and physiologically relevant mitochondrial quality control process in the cardiac system. J. Physiol. 594: 5343–5362, 2016.
- 34. **Calvo SE**, **Clauser KR**, **Mootha VK**. MitoCarta2.0: an updated inventory of mammalian mitochondrial proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 44: D1251–D1257, 2016.
- 35. Cantó C, Gerhart-Hines Z, Feige JN, Lagouge M, Noriega L, Milne JC, Elliott PJ, Puigserver P, Auwerx J. AMPK regulates energy expenditure by modulating NAD+ metabolism and SIRT1 activity. *Nature* 458: 1056–1060, 2009.
- 36. Carnio S, LoVerso F, Baraibar MA, Longa E, Khan MM, Maffei M, Reischl M, Canepari M, Loefler S, Kern H, Blaauw B, Friguet B, Bottinelli R, Rudolf R, Sandri M. Autophagy Impairment in Muscle Induces Neuromuscular Junction Degeneration and Precocious Aging. *Cell Rep.* 8: 1509–1521, 2014.
- 37. Carter HN, Chen CCW, Hood DA. Mitochondria, Muscle Health and Exercise with Advancing Age. *Physiology* 30: 208–223, 2015.
- 38. **Carter HN**, **Pauly M**, **Tryon LD**, **Hood DA**. Effect of contractile activity on PGC-1α transcription in young and aged skeletal muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 124: 1605–1615, 2018.
- 39. Cartoni R, Léger B, Hock MB, Praz M, Crettenand A, Pich S, Ziltener J-L, Luthi F, Dériaz O, Zorzano A, Gobelet C, Kralli A, Russell AP, And AK. Mitofusins 1/2 and ERRalpha expression are increased in human skeletal muscle after physical exercise. J. Physiol. 567: 349–58, 2005.
- 40. **Centre for Disease Control and Prevention**. *The State of Aging and Health in America* 2013. Atlanta, GA: 2013.
- 41. Chabi B, Ljubicic V, Menzies KJ, Huang JH, Saleem A, Hood DA. Mitochondrial function and apoptotic susceptibility in aging skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* 7: 2–12, 2008.
- Chang JS, Huypens P, Zhang Y, Black C, Kralli A, Gettys TW. Regulation of NT-PGClalpha subcellular localization and function by protein kinase A-dependent modulation of nuclear export by CRM1. J. Biol. Chem. 285: 18039–50, 2010.
- Cheema N, Herbst A, McKenzie D, Aiken JM. Apoptosis and necrosis mediate skeletal muscle fiber loss in age-induced mitochondrial enzymatic abnormalities. *Aging Cell* 14: 1085–1093, 2015.

- Chen CCW, Erlich AT, Crilly MJ, Hood DA. Parkin is required for exercise-induced mitophagy in muscle: impact of aging. *Am. J. Physiol. Metab.* (May 29, 2018). doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00391.2017.
- 45. Chen CCW, Erlich AT, Hood DA. Role of Parkin and endurance training on mitochondrial turnover in skeletal muscle. *Skelet. Muscle* 8: 10, 2018.
- Chen H, Detmer SA, Ewald AJ, Griffin EE, Fraser SE, Chan DC. Mitofusins Mfn1 and Mfn2 coordinately regulate mitochondrial fusion and are essential for embryonic development. J. Cell Biol. 160: 189–200, 2003.
- 47. Chen M, Chen Z, Wang Y, Tan Z, Zhu C, Li Y, Han Z, Chen L, Gao R, Liu L, Chen Q. Mitophagy receptor FUNDC1 regulates mitochondrial dynamics and mitophagy. *Autophagy* 12: 689–702, 2016.
- Chinsomboon J, Ruas J, Gupta RK, Thom R, Shoag J, Rowe GC, Sawada N, Raghuram S, Arany Z. The transcriptional coactivator PGC-1alpha mediates exerciseinduced angiogenesis in skeletal muscle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106: 21401–6, 2009.
- Cipolat S, de Brito OM, Dal Zilio B, Scorrano L. OPA1 requires mitofusin 1 to promote mitochondrial fusion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 101: 15927–15932, 2004.
- 50. **Cogswell AM**, **Stevens RJ**, **Hood DA**. Properties of skeletal muscle mitochondria isolated from subsarcolemmal and intermyofibrillar regions. *Am. J. Physiol.* 264: C383-9, 1993.
- 51. **Correia JC**, **Ferreira DMS**, **Ruas JL**. Intercellular: local and systemic actions of skeletal muscle PGC-1s. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 26: 305–314, 2015.
- Craig EE, Hood DA. Influence of aging on protein import into cardiac mitochondria. *Am. J. Physiol.* 272: H2983-8, 1997.
- 53. Crane JD, Devries MC, Safdar A, Hamadeh MJ, Tarnopolsky MA. The effect of aging on human skeletal muscle mitochondrial and intramyocellular lipid ultrastructure. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 65: 119–28, 2010.
- 54. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, Martin FC, Michel J-P, Rolland Y, Schneider SM, Topinkova E, Vandewoude M, Zamboni M, European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Age Ageing 39: 412–423, 2010.
- 55. Cunningham JT, Rodgers JT, Arlow DH, Vazquez F, Mootha VK, Puigserver P.

mTOR controls mitochondrial oxidative function through a YY1–PGC-1α transcriptional complex. *Nature* 450: 736–740, 2007.

- 56. Deas E, Plun-Favreau H, Gandhi S, Desmond H, Kjaer S, Loh SHYY, Renton AEMM, Harvey RJ, Whitworth AJ, Martins LM, Abramov AY, Wood NW. PINK1 cleavage at position A103 by the mitochondrial protease PARL. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20: 867–879, 2011.
- Deaton AM, Bird A. CpG islands and the regulation of transcription. *Genes Dev.* 25: 1010–22, 2011.
- 58. Derbré F, Gomez-Cabrera MC, Nascimento AL, Sanchis-Gomar F, Martinez-Bello VE, Tresguerres JAF, Fuentes T, Gratas-Delamarche A, Monsalve M, Viña J. Age associated low mitochondrial biogenesis may be explained by lack of response of PGC-1α to exercise training. *Age (Omaha)*. 34: 669–679, 2012.
- 59. Ding W-X, Ni H-M, Li M, Liao Y, Chen X, Stolz DB, Dorn GW, Yin X-M. Nix Is Critical to Two Distinct Phases of Mitophagy, Reactive Oxygen Species-mediated Autophagy Induction and Parkin-Ubiquitin-p62-mediated Mitochondrial Priming. J. Biol. Chem. 285: 27879–27890, 2010.
- 60. Distefano G, Standley RA, Dubé JJ, Carnero EA, Ritov VB, Stefanovic-Racic M, Toledo FGS, Piva SR, Goodpaster BH, Coen PM. Chronological Age Does not Influence Ex-vivo Mitochondrial Respiration and Quality Control in Skeletal Muscle. *Journals Gerontol. Ser. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 72: 535–542., 2017.
- 61. Doherty TJ. Invited review: Aging and sarcopenia. J. Appl. Physiol. 95: 1717–27, 2003.
- Drummond MJ, Addison O, Brunker L, Hopkins PN, McClain DA, LaStayo PC, Marcus RL. Downregulation of e3 ubiquitin ligases and mitophagy-related genes in skeletal muscle of physically inactive, frail older women: a cross-sectional comparison. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 69: 1040–8, 2014.
- 63. **Dunlop EA**, **Hunt DK**, **Acosta-Jaquez HA**, **Fingar DC**, **Tee AR**. ULK1 inhibits mTORC1 signaling, promotes multisite Raptor phosphorylation and hinders substrate binding. *Autophagy* 7: 737–47, 2011.
- 64. **Durcan TM, Fon EA**. The three 'P's of mitophagy: PARKIN, PINK1, and post-translational modifications. *Genes Dev.* 29: 989–999, 2015.
- 65. Edgerton VR, Smith JL, Simpson DR. Muscle fibre type populations of human leg muscles. *Histochem. J.* 7: 259–66, 1975.

- 66. Egan B, Carson BP, Garcia-Roves PM, Chibalin A V., Sarsfield FM, Barron N, McCaffrey N, Moyna NM, Zierath JR, O'Gorman DJ, O'Gorman DJ, O'Gorman DJ. Exercise intensity-dependent regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor coactivator-1 mRNA abundance is associated with differential activation of upstream signalling kinases in human skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 588: 1779–90, 2010.
- 67. Egan DF, Shackelford DB, Mihaylova MM, Gelino S, Kohnz RA, Mair W, Vasquez DS, Joshi A, Gwinn DM, Taylor R, Asara JM, Fitzpatrick J, Dillin A, Viollet B, Kundu M, Hansen M, Shaw RJ. Phosphorylation of ULK1 (hATG1) by AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Connects Energy Sensing to Mitophagy. *Science* 331: 456–461, 2011.
- 68. **Eisner V**, **Lenaers G**, **Hajnóczky G**. Mitochondrial fusion is frequent in skeletal muscle and supports excitation–contraction coupling. *J. Cell Biol.* 205: 179–195, 2014.
- Erlich AT, Brownlee DM, Beyfuss K, Hood DA. Exercise induces TFEB expression and activity in skeletal muscle in a PGC-1α-dependent manner. *Am. J. Physiol. Physiol.* 314: C62–C72, 2018.
- Esterbauer H, Oberkofler H, Krempler F, Patsch W. Human peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma coactivator 1 (PPARGC1) gene: cDNA sequence, genomic organization, chromosomal localization, and tissue expression. *Genomics* 62: 98–102, 1999.
- Fura Y, Ishihara N, Yokota S, Mihara K. Two mitofusin proteins, mammalian homologues of FZO, with distinct functions are both required for mitochondrial fusion. *J. Biochem.* 134: 333–44, 2003.
- Evans MJ, Scarpulla RC. Interaction of nuclear factors with multiple sites in the somatic cytochrome c promoter. Characterization of upstream NRF-1, ATF, and intron Sp1 recognition sequences. J. Biol. Chem. 264: 14361–8, 1989.
- 73. Fortunato F, Bürgers H, Bergmann F, Rieger P, Büchler MW, Kroemer G, Werner J. Impaired Autolysosome Formation Correlates With Lamp-2 Depletion: Role of Apoptosis, Autophagy, and Necrosis in Pancreatitis. *Gastroenterology* 137: 350–360.e5, 2009.
- 74. Fujita N, Itoh T, Omori H, Fukuda M, Noda T, Yoshimori T. The Atg16L Complex Specifies the Site of LC3 Lipidation for Membrane Biogenesis in Autophagy. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19: 2092–2100, 2008.
- 75. **Funakoshi T**, **Matsuura A**, **Noda T**, **Ohsumi Y**. Analyses of APG13 gene involved in autophagy in yeast, Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Gene* 192: 207–13, 1997.

- 76. Gannon J, Doran P, Kirwan A, Ohlendieck K. Drastic increase of myosin light chain MLC-2 in senescent skeletal muscle indicates fast-to-slow fibre transition in sarcopenia of old age. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 88: 685–700, 2009.
- Gautel M, Djinović-Carugo K. The sarcomeric cytoskeleton: from molecules to motion.*J. Exp. Biol.* 219: 135–145, 2016.
- 78. Ge L, Melville D, Zhang M, Schekman R. The ER–Golgi intermediate compartment is a key membrane source for the LC3 lipidation step of autophagosome biogenesis. *Elife* 2: e00947, 2013.
- Gegg ME, Cooper JM, Chau K-Y, Rojo M, Schapira AHV, Taanman J-W. Mitofusin 1 and mitofusin 2 are ubiquitinated in a PINK1/parkin-dependent manner upon induction of mitophagy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 19: 4861–4870, 2010.
- Geisler S, Holmström KM, Skujat D, Fiesel FC, Rothfuss OC, Kahle PJ, Springer W. PINK1/Parkin-mediated mitophagy is dependent on VDAC1 and p62/SQSTM1. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12: 119–131, 2010.
- 81. Ghosh S, Lertwattanarak R, Lefort N, Molina-Carrion M, Joya-Galeana J, Bowen BP, Garduno-Garcia J de J, Abdul-Ghani M, Richardson A, DeFronzo RA, Mandarino L, Van Remmen H, Musi N. Reduction in reactive oxygen species production by mitochondria from elderly subjects with normal and impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetes* 60: 2051–60, 2011.
- Goncalves RLS, Quinlan CL, Perevoshchikova I V, Hey-Mogensen M, Brand MD.
 Sites of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production by muscle mitochondria assessed ex vivo under conditions mimicking rest and exercise. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290: 209–27, 2015.
- 83. Goodpaster BH, Park SW, Harris TB, Kritchevsky SB, Nevitt M, Schwartz A V, Simonsick EM, Tylavsky FA, Visser M, Newman AB. The loss of skeletal muscle strength, mass, and quality in older adults: the health, aging and body composition study. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 61: 1059–64, 2006.
- 84. Gouspillou G, Godin R, Piquereau J, Picard M, Mofarrahi M, Mathew J, Purves-Smith FM, Sgarioto N, Hepple RT, Burelle Y, Hussain SNA. Protective role of Parkin in skeletal muscle contractile and mitochondrial function. J. Physiol. 596: 2565–2579, 2018.
- 85. Gouspillou G, Sgarioto N, Kapchinsky S, Purves-Smith F, Norris B, Pion CH, Barbat-Artigas S, Lemieux F, Taivassalo T, Morais JA, Aubertin-Leheudre M, Hepple RT.

Increased sensitivity to mitochondrial permeability transition and myonuclear translocation of endonuclease G in atrophied muscle of physically active older humans. *FASEB J.* 28: 1621–33, 2014.

- 86. Greene AW, Grenier K, Aguileta MA, Muise S, Farazifard R, Haque ME, McBride HM, Park DS, Fon EA. Mitochondrial processing peptidase regulates PINK1 processing, import and Parkin recruitment. *EMBO Rep.* 13: 378–385, 2012.
- Grumati P, Coletto L, Schiavinato A, Castagnaro S, Bertaggia E, Sandri M, Bonaldo P. Physical exercise stimulates autophagy in normal skeletal muscles but is detrimental for collagen VI-deficient muscles. *Autophagy* 7: 1415–23, 2011.
- 88. **Guo JU**, **Su Y**, **Zhong C**, **Ming G**, **Song H**. Hydroxylation of 5-methylcytosine by TET1 promotes active DNA demethylation in the adult brain. *Cell* 145: 423–34, 2011.
- 89. Halling JF, Ringholm S, Olesen J, Prats C, Pilegaard H. Exercise training protects against aging-induced mitochondrial fragmentation in mouse skeletal muscle in a PGC-1α dependent manner. *Exp. Gerontol.* 96: 1–6, 2017.
- Hämäläinen N, Pette D. Patterns of myosin isoforms in mammalian skeletal muscle fibres. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 30: 381–9, 1995.
- 91. Handschin C, Chin S, Li P, Liu F, Maratos-Flier E, Lebrasseur NK, Yan Z, Spiegelman BM. Skeletal muscle fiber-type switching, exercise intolerance, and myopathy in PGC-1alpha muscle-specific knock-out animals. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282: 30014–21, 2007.
- 92. Handschin C, Rhee J, Lin J, Tarr PT, Spiegelman BM. An autoregulatory loop controls peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1alpha expression in muscle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 100: 7111–6, 2003.
- 93. Hansen M, Rubinsztein DC, Walker DW. Autophagy as a promoter of longevity: insights from model organisms. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 19: 579–593, 2018.
- 94. Hara T, Takamura A, Kishi C, Iemura S, Natsume T, Guan J-L, Mizushima N. FIP200, a ULK-interacting protein, is required for autophagosome formation in mammalian cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 181: 497–510, 2008.
- 95. Hasson CJ, Miller RH, Caldwell GE. Contractile and Elastic Ankle Joint Muscular Properties in Young and Older Adults. *PLoS One* 6: e15953, 2011.
- 96. He C, Bassik MC, Moresi V, Sun K, Wei Y, Zou Z, An Z, Loh J, Fisher J, Sun Q, Korsmeyer S, Packer M, May HI, Hill JA, Virgin HW, Gilpin C, Xiao G, Bassel-Duby

R, **Scherer PE**, **Levine B**. Exercise-induced BCL2-regulated autophagy is required for muscle glucose homeostasis. *Nature* 481: 511–5, 2012.

- 97. Hebert SL, Lanza IR, Nair KS. Mitochondrial DNA alterations and reduced mitochondrial function in aging. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* 131: 451–62, 2010.
- 98. Heck AM, Wilusz J. The Interplay between the RNA Decay and Translation Machinery in Eukaryotes. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 10: a032839, 2018.
- 99. Heeman B, Van den Haute C, Aelvoet S-A, Valsecchi F, Rodenburg RJ, Reumers V, Debyser Z, Callewaert G, Koopman WJH, Willems PHGM, Baekelandt V. Depletion of PINK1 affects mitochondrial metabolism, calcium homeostasis and energy maintenance. J. Cell Sci. 124: 1115–1125, 2011.
- Hepple RT. Mitochondrial involvement and impact in aging skeletal muscle. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6: 211, 2014.
- Holloszy JO. Biochemical adaptations in muscle. Effects of exercise on mitochondrial oxygen uptake and respiratory enzyme activity in skeletal muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* 242: 2278–82, 1967.
- Hood DA, Joseph A-M. Mitochondrial assembly: protein import. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 63: 293– 300, 2004.
- 103. Hood DA, Tryon LD, Carter HN, Kim Y, Chen CCW. Unravelling the mechanisms regulating muscle mitochondrial biogenesis. *Biochem. J.* 473: 2295–2314, 2016.
- 104. Hood DA, Zak R, Pette D. Chronic stimulation of rat skeletal muscle induces coordinate increases in mitochondrial and nuclear mRNAs of cytochrome-c-oxidase subunits. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 179: 275–80, 1989.
- Hoppeler H. Exercise-Induced Ultrastructural Changes in Skeletal Muscle*. Int. J. Sports Med. 07: 187–204, 1986.
- 106. Hosokawa N, Hara T, Kaizuka T, Kishi C, Takamura A, Miura Y, Iemura S, Natsume T, Takehana K, Yamada N, Guan J-L, Oshiro N, Mizushima N. Nutrient-dependent mTORC1 Association with the ULK1–Atg13–FIP200 Complex Required for Autophagy. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 20: 1981–1991, 2009.
- 107. Hosokawa N, Sasaki T, Iemura S, Natsume T, Hara T, Mizushima N. Atg101, a novel mammalian autophagy protein interacting with Atg13. *Autophagy* 5: 973–9, 2009.
- 108. Huang JH, Joseph A-M, Ljubicic V, Iqbal S, Hood DA. Effect of age on the processing

and import of matrix-destined mitochondrial proteins in skeletal muscle. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 65: 138–46, 2010.

- 109. Hughes VA, Frontera WR, Wood M, Evans WJ, Dallal GE, Roubenoff R, Fiatarone Singh MA. Longitudinal muscle strength changes in older adults: influence of muscle mass, physical activity, and health. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 56: B209-17, 2001.
- 110. Hütter E, Skovbro M, Lener B, Prats C, Rabøl R, Dela F, Jansen-Dürr P. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial impairment can be separated from lipofuscin accumulation in aged human skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* 6: 245–56, 2007.
- 111. Huynh KK, Eskelinen E-L, Scott CC, Malevanets A, Saftig P, Grinstein S. LAMP proteins are required for fusion of lysosomes with phagosomes. *EMBO J.* 26: 313–324, 2007.
- 112. Ibebunjo C, Chick JM, Kendall T, Eash JK, Li C, Zhang Y, Vickers C, Wu Z, Clarke BA, Shi J, Cruz J, Fournier B, Brachat S, Gutzwiller S, Ma Q, Markovits J, Broome M, Steinkrauss M, Skuba E, Galarneau J-R, Gygi SP, Glass DJ. Genomic and proteomic profiling reveals reduced mitochondrial function and disruption of the neuromuscular junction driving rat sarcopenia. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 33: 194–212, 2013.
- 113. Ichimura Y, Kirisako T, Takao T, Satomi Y, Shimonishi Y, Ishihara N, Mizushima N, Tanida I, Kominami E, Ohsumi M, Noda T, Ohsumi Y. A ubiquitin-like system mediates protein lipidation. *Nature* 408: 488–492, 2000.
- 114. Iqbal S, Ostojic O, Singh K, Joseph A-M, Hood DA. Expression of mitochondrial fission and fusion regulatory proteins in skeletal muscle during chronic use and disuse. *Muscle Nerve* 48: 963–70, 2013.
- 115. Irrcher I, Ljubicic V, Hood DA. Interactions between ROS and AMP kinase activity in the regulation of PGC-1alpha transcription in skeletal muscle cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 296: C116-23, 2009.
- 116. Irrcher I, Ljubicic V, Kirwan AF, Hood DA. AMP-activated protein kinase-regulated activation of the PGC-1alpha promoter in skeletal muscle cells. *PLoS One* 3: e3614, 2008.
- 117. Isogai S, Morimoto D, Arita K, Unzai S, Tenno T, Hasegawa J, Sou Y -s., Komatsu M, Tanaka K, Shirakawa M, Tochio H. Crystal Structure of the Ubiquitin-associated (UBA) Domain of p62 and Its Interaction with Ubiquitin. J. Biol. Chem. 286: 31864–31874, 2011.
- 118. Jäger S, Handschin C, St-Pierre J, Spiegelman BM. AMP-activated protein kinase

(AMPK) action in skeletal muscle via direct phosphorylation of PGC-1alpha. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104: 12017–22, 2007.

- Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Wang ZM, Ross R. Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in
 468 men and women aged 18-88 yr. J. Appl. Physiol. 89: 81–8, 2000.
- 120. Jastroch M, Divakaruni AS, Mookerjee S, Treberg JR, Brand MD. Mitochondrial proton and electron leaks. *Essays Biochem.* 47: 53–67, 2010.
- Ji LL, Kang C. Role of PGC-1α in sarcopenia: etiology and potential intervention a minireview. *Gerontology* 61: 139–48, 2015.
- 122. Jin SM, Lazarou M, Wang C, Kane LA, Narendra DP, Youle RJ. Mitochondrial membrane potential regulates PINK1 import and proteolytic destabilization by PARL. J. *Cell Biol.* 191: 933–942, 2010.
- 123. Johannsen DL, Conley KE, Bajpeyi S, Punyanitya M, Gallagher D, Zhang Z, Covington J, Smith SR, Ravussin E. Ectopic lipid accumulation and reduced glucose tolerance in elderly adults are accompanied by altered skeletal muscle mitochondrial activity. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 97: 242–50, 2012.
- 124. Joseph A-M, Adhihetty PJ, Buford TW, Wohlgemuth SE, Lees HA, Nguyen LM-D, Aranda JM, Sandesara BD, Pahor M, Manini TM, Marzetti E, Leeuwenburgh C. The impact of aging on mitochondrial function and biogenesis pathways in skeletal muscle of sedentary high- and low-functioning elderly individuals. *Aging Cell* 11: 801–9, 2012.
- 125. Joseph A-M, Adhihetty PJ, Wawrzyniak NR, Wohlgemuth SE, Picca A, Kujoth GC, Prolla TA, Leeuwenburgh C. Dysregulation of mitochondrial quality control processes contribute to sarcopenia in a mouse model of premature aging. *PLoS One* 8: e69327, 2013.
- 126. Ju J-S, Jeon S-I, Park J-Y, Lee J-Y, Lee S-C, Cho K-J, Jeong J-M. Autophagy plays a role in skeletal muscle mitochondrial biogenesis in an endurance exercise-trained condition. *J. Physiol. Sci.* 66: 417–430, 2016.
- Ju J-S, Varadhachary AS, Miller SE, Weihl CC. Quantitation of "autophagic flux" in mature skeletal muscle. *Autophagy* 6: 929–935, 2010.
- 128. Kabeya Y, Mizushima N, Ueno T, Yamamoto A, Kirisako T, Noda T, Kominami E, Ohsumi Y, Yoshimori T. LC3, a mammalian homologue of yeast Apg8p, is localized in autophagosome membranes after processing. *EMBO J.* 19: 5720–8, 2000.
- 129. Kane LA, Lazarou M, Fogel AI, Li Y, Yamano K, Sarraf SA, Banerjee S, Youle RJ.

PINK1 phosphorylates ubiquitin to activate Parkin E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. *J. Cell Biol.* 205: 143–153, 2014.

- Kang C, Chung E, Diffee G, Ji LL. Exercise training attenuates aging-associated mitochondrial dysfunction in rat skeletal muscle: role of PGC-1α. *Exp. Gerontol.* 48: 1343– 50, 2013.
- 131. Kanzleiter T, Jähnert M, Schulze G, Selbig J, Hallahan N, Schwenk RW, Schürmann A. Exercise training alters DNA methylation patterns in genes related to muscle growth and differentiation in mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 308: E912-20, 2015.
- Kaushik S, Cuervo AM. The coming of age of chaperone-mediated autophagy. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 19: 365–381, 2018.
- 133. Kazlauskaite A, Kondapalli C, Gourlay R, Campbell DG, Ritorto MS, Hofmann K, Alessi DR, Knebel A, Trost M, Muqit MMK. Parkin is activated by PINK1-dependent phosphorylation of ubiquitin at Ser⁶⁵. *Biochem. J.* 460: 127–141, 2014.
- 134. **Kent-Braun JA**, Ng A V. Skeletal muscle oxidative capacity in young and older women and men. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 89: 1072–8, 2000.
- 135. Kihara A, Noda T, Ishihara N, Ohsumi Y. Two distinct Vps34 phosphatidylinositol 3kinase complexes function in autophagy and carboxypeptidase Y sorting in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Cell Biol. 152: 519–30, 2001.
- 136. **Kim J, Kundu M, Viollet B, Guan K-L**. AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 13: 132–141, 2011.
- 137. **Kim Y**, **Hood DA**. Regulation of the autophagy system during chronic contractile activityinduced muscle adaptations. *Physiol. Rep.* 5: e13307, 2017.
- 138. **Kimura S, Noda T, Yoshimori T**. Dissection of the autophagosome maturation process by a novel reporter protein, tandem fluorescent-tagged LC3. *Autophagy* 3: 452–460, 2007.
- 139. **Kirchner H**, **Osler ME**, **Krook A**, **Zierath JR**. Epigenetic flexibility in metabolic regulation: disease cause and prevention? *Trends Cell Biol*. 23: 203–9, 2013.
- 140. **Kirkwood SP, Packer L, Brooks GA**. Effects of endurance training on a mitochondrial reticulum in limb skeletal muscle. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 255: 80–8, 1987.
- 141. Klionsky DJ. Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy (3rd edition). *Autophagy* 12: 1–222, 2016.
- 142. Koltai E, Hart N, Taylor AW, Goto S, Ngo JK, Davies KJA, Radak Z. Age-associated

declines in mitochondrial biogenesis and protein quality control factors are minimized by exercise training. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 303: R127-34, 2012.

- 143. Korolchuk VI, Saiki S, Lichtenberg M, Siddiqi FH, Roberts EA, Imarisio S, Jahreiss L, Sarkar S, Futter M, Menzies FM, O'Kane CJ, Deretic V, Rubinsztein DC. Lysosomal positioning coordinates cellular nutrient responses. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 13: 453–460, 2011.
- 144. Koyano F, Matsuda N. Molecular mechanisms underlying PINK1 and Parkin catalyzed ubiquitylation of substrates on damaged mitochondria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res.* 1853: 2791–2796, 2015.
- 145. Koyano F, Okatsu K, Kosako H, Tamura Y, Go E, Kimura M, Kimura Y, Tsuchiya H, Yoshihara H, Hirokawa T, Endo T, Fon EA, Trempe J-F, Saeki Y, Tanaka K, Matsuda N. Ubiquitin is phosphorylated by PINK1 to activate parkin. *Nature* 510: 162–6, 2014.
- 146. Kubli DA, Cortez MQ, Moyzis AG, Najor RH, Lee Y, Gustafsson ÅB. PINK1 Is Dispensable for Mitochondrial Recruitment of Parkin and Activation of Mitophagy in Cardiac Myocytes. *PLoS One* 10: e0130707, 2015.
- 147. Kukat C, Davies KM, Wurm CA, Spåhr H, Bonekamp NA, Kühl I, Joos F, Polosa PL, Park CB, Posse V, Falkenberg M, Jakobs S, Kühlbrandt W, Larsson N-G. Cross-strand binding of TFAM to a single mtDNA molecule forms the mitochondrial nucleoid. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 112: 11288–93, 2015.
- 148. **Kukat C**, **Larsson N-G**. mtDNA makes a U-turn for the mitochondrial nucleoid. *Trends Cell Biol*. 23: 457–63, 2013.
- 149. Lagouge M, Argmann C, Gerhart-Hines Z, Meziane H, Lerin C, Daussin F, Messadeq N, Milne J, Lambert P, Elliott P, Geny B, Laakso M, Puigserver P, Auwerx J. Resveratrol Improves Mitochondrial Function and Protects against Metabolic Disease by Activating SIRT1 and PGC-1α. *Cell* 127: 1109–1122, 2006.
- 150. Larsen RG, Callahan DM, Foulis SA, Kent-Braun JA. Age-related changes in oxidative capacity differ between locomotory muscles and are associated with physical activity behavior. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 37: 88–99, 2012.
- 151. Lazarou M, Sliter DA, Kane LA, Sarraf SA, Wang C, Burman JL, Sideris DP, Fogel AI, Youle RJ. The ubiquitin kinase PINK1 recruits autophagy receptors to induce

mitophagy. Nature 524: 309-314, 2015.

- 152. Lee JW, Park S, Takahashi Y, Wang H-G. The Association of AMPK with ULK1 Regulates Autophagy. *PLoS One* 5: e15394, 2010.
- 153. Leick L, Lyngby SS, Wojtaszewski JFP, Wojtasewski JFP, Pilegaard H. PGC-1alpha is required for training-induced prevention of age-associated decline in mitochondrial enzymes in mouse skeletal muscle. *Exp. Gerontol.* 45: 336–42, 2010.
- 154. Leick L, Wojtaszewski JFP, Johansen ST, Kiilerich K, Comes G, Hellsten Y, Hidalgo J, Pilegaard H. PGC-1alpha is not mandatory for exercise- and training-induced adaptive gene responses in mouse skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 294: E463-74, 2008.
- 155. Liesa M, Shirihai OS. Mitochondrial dynamics in the regulation of nutrient utilization and energy expenditure. *Cell Metab.* 17: 491–506, 2013.
- 156. Lin J, Wu H, Tarr PT, Zhang C-Y, Wu Z, Boss O, Michael LF, Puigserver P, Isotani E, Olson EN, Lowell BB, Bassel-Duby R, Spiegelman BM. Transcriptional co-activator PGC-1α drives the formation of slow-twitch muscle fibres. *Nature* 418: 797–801, 2002.
- 157. Lin J, Wu P-H, Tarr PT, Lindenberg KS, St-Pierre J, Zhang C-Y, Mootha VK, Jäger S, Vianna CR, Reznick RM, Cui L, Manieri M, Donovan MX, Wu Z, Cooper MP, Fan MC, Rohas LM, Zavacki AM, Cinti S, Shulman GI, Lowell BB, Krainc D, Spiegelman BM. Defects in adaptive energy metabolism with CNS-linked hyperactivity in PGC-1alpha null mice. *Cell* 119: 121–35, 2004.
- 158. Lindholm ME, Marabita F, Gomez-Cabrero D, Rundqvist H, Ekström TJ, Tegnér J, Sundberg CJ. An integrative analysis reveals coordinated reprogramming of the epigenome and the transcriptome in human skeletal muscle after training. *Epigenetics* 9: 1557–69, 2014.
- 159. Lira VA, Okutsu M, Zhang M, Greene NP, Laker RC, Breen DS, Hoehn KL, Yan Z. Autophagy is required for exercise training-induced skeletal muscle adaptation and improvement of physical performance. *FASEB J.* 27: 4184–93, 2013.
- 160. Liu W, Klose A, Forman S, Paris ND, Wei-LaPierre L, Cortés-Lopéz M, Tan A, Flaherty M, Miura P, Dirksen RT, Chakkalakal J V. Loss of adult skeletal muscle stem cells drives age-related neuromuscular junction degeneration. *Elife* 6: e26464, 2017.
- 161. Ljubicic V, Hood DA. Kinase-specific responsiveness to incremental contractile activity

in skeletal muscle with low and high mitochondrial content. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 295: E195-204, 2008.

- Ljubicic V, Hood DA. Diminished contraction-induced intracellular signaling towards mitochondrial biogenesis in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* 8: 394–404, 2009.
- 163. Ljubicic V, Joseph A-M, Adhihetty PJ, Huang JH, Saleem A, Uguccioni G, Hood DA. Molecular basis for an attenuated mitochondrial adaptive plasticity in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging (Albany. NY).* 1: 818–30, 2009.
- 164. Lochmann TL, Thomas RR, Bennett JP, Taylor SM. Epigenetic Modifications of the PGC-1α Promoter during Exercise Induced Expression in Mice. *PLoS One* 10: e0129647, 2015.
- 165. Löffler AS, Alers S, Dieterle AM, Keppeler H, Franz-Wachtel M, Kundu M, Campbell DG, Wesselborg S, Alessi DR, Stork B. Ulk1-mediated phosphorylation of AMPK constitutes a negative regulatory feedback loop. *Autophagy* 7: 696–706, 2011.
- 166. Losón OC, Song Z, Chen H, Chan DC. Fis1, Mff, MiD49, and MiD51 mediate Drp1 recruitment in mitochondrial fission. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 24: 659–67, 2013.
- 167. Lowell BB, Spiegelman BM. Towards a molecular understanding of adaptive thermogenesis. *Nature* 404: 652–60, 2000.
- 168. Makrecka-Kuka M, Krumschnabel G, Gnaiger E. High-Resolution Respirometry for Simultaneous Measurement of Oxygen and Hydrogen Peroxide Fluxes in Permeabilized Cells, Tissue Homogenate and Isolated Mitochondria. *Biomolecules* 5: 1319–1338, 2015.
- 169. Mammucari C, Milan G, Romanello V, Masiero E, Rudolf R, Del Piccolo P, Burden SJ, Di Lisi R, Sandri C, Zhao J, Goldberg AL, Schiaffino S, Sandri M. FoxO3 Controls Autophagy in Skeletal Muscle In Vivo. *Cell Metab.* 6: 458–471, 2007.
- 170. Mansueto G, Armani A, Viscomi C, D'Orsi L, De Cegli R, Polishchuk E V., Lamperti C, Di Meo I, Romanello V, Marchet S, Saha PK, Zong H, Blaauw B, Solagna F, Tezze C, Grumati P, Bonaldo P, Pessin JE, Zeviani M, Sandri M, Ballabio A. Transcription Factor EB Controls Metabolic Flexibility during Exercise. *Cell Metab.* 25: 182–196, 2017.
- Marcell TJ. Sarcopenia: causes, consequences, and preventions. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 58: M911-6, 2003.
- 172. Marcinek DJ, Schenkman KA, Ciesielski WA, Lee D, Conley KE. Reduced mitochondrial coupling in vivo alters cellular energetics in aged mouse skeletal muscle. *J.*

Physiol. 569: 467-73, 2005.

- 173. Margulis L. Symbiosis in cell evolution : life and its environment on the early Earth. W.H. Freeman, 1981.
- 174. Mari M, Griffith J, Rieter E, Krishnappa L, Klionsky DJ, Reggiori F. An Atg9containing compartment that functions in the early steps of autophagosome biogenesis. J. *Cell Biol.* 190: 1005–1022, 2010.
- 175. **Martínez-Redondo V**, **Pettersson AT**, **Ruas JL**. The hitchhiker's guide to PGC-1α isoform structure and biological functions. *Diabetologia* 58: 1969–77, 2015.
- 176. Marzetti E, Calvani R, Tosato M, Cesari M, Di Bari M, Cherubini A, Collamati A, D'Angelo E, Pahor M, Bernabei R, Landi F, SPRINTT Consortium. Sarcopenia: an overview. Aging Clin. Exp. Res. 29: 11–17, 2017.
- 177. Masiero E, Agatea L, Mammucari C, Blaauw B, Loro E, Komatsu M, Metzger D, Reggiani C, Schiaffino S, Sandri M. Autophagy is required to maintain muscle mass. *Cell Metab.* 10: 507–15, 2009.
- 178. Matsuda N, Sato S, Shiba K, Okatsu K, Saisho K, Gautier CA, Sou Y, Saiki S, Kawajiri S, Sato F, Kimura M, Komatsu M, Hattori N, Tanaka K. PINK1 stabilized by mitochondrial depolarization recruits Parkin to damaged mitochondria and activates latent Parkin for mitophagy. J. Cell Biol. 189: 211–221, 2010.
- 179. Medina DL, Di Paola S, Peluso I, Armani A, De Stefani D, Venditti R, Montefusco S, Scotto-Rosato A, Prezioso C, Forrester A, Settembre C, Wang W, Gao Q, Xu H, Sandri M, Rizzuto R, De Matteis MA, Ballabio A. Lysosomal calcium signalling regulates autophagy through calcineurin and TFEB. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 17: 288–299, 2015.
- 180. Meissner C, Lorenz H, Weihofen A, Selkoe DJ, Lemberg MK. The mitochondrial intramembrane protease PARL cleaves human Pink1 to regulate Pink1 trafficking. J. *Neurochem.* 117: 856–867, 2011.
- 181. Meléndez A, Tallóczy Z, Seaman M, Eskelinen EL, Hall DH, Levine B. Autophagy genes are essential for dauer development and life-span extension in C. elegans. *Science* 301: 1387–1391, 2003.
- 182. Melser S, Chatelain EH, Lavie J, Mahfouf W, Jose C, Obre E, Goorden S, Priault M, Elgersma Y, Rezvani HR, Rossignol R, Bénard G. Rheb regulates mitophagy induced by mitochondrial energetic status. *Cell Metab.* 17: 719–30, 2013.

- Memme JM, Oliveira AN, Hood DA. Chronology of UPR activation in skeletal muscle adaptations to chronic contractile activity. *Am. J. Physiol. Physiol.* 310: C1024–C1036, 2016.
- 184. **Mercer CA**, **Kaliappan A**, **Dennis PB**. A novel, human Atg13 binding protein, Atg101, interacts with ULK1 and is essential for macroautophagy. *Autophagy* 5: 649–62, 2009.
- Mijaljica D, Prescott M, Devenish RJ. Microautophagy in mammalian cells: revisiting a 40-year-old conundrum. *Autophagy* 7: 673–82, 2011.
- 186. Mijnarends DM, Koster A, Schols JMGA, Meijers JMM, Halfens RJG, Gudnason V, Eiriksdottir G, Siggeirsdottir K, Sigurdsson S, Jónsson P V., Meirelles O, Harris T. Physical activity and incidence of sarcopenia: the population-based AGES—Reykjavik Study. Age Ageing 45: 614–620, 2016.
- 187. Miura S, Kai Y, Kamei Y, Ezaki O. Isoform-specific increases in murine skeletal muscle peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator-1alpha (PGC-1alpha) mRNA in response to beta2-adrenergic receptor activation and exercise. *Endocrinology* 149: 4527–33, 2008.
- 188. Miura S, Kawanaka K, Kai Y, Tamura M, Goto M, Shiuchi T, Minokoshi Y, Ezaki O. An increase in murine skeletal muscle peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator-1alpha (PGC-1alpha) mRNA in response to exercise is mediated by betaadrenergic receptor activation. *Endocrinology* 148: 3441–8, 2007.
- Mizushima N. Chapter 2 Methods for Monitoring Autophagy Using GFP-LC3 Transgenic Mice. In: *Methods in enzymology*, p. 13–23.
- 190. Mizushima N, Noda T, Yoshimori T, Tanaka Y, Ishii T, George MD, Klionsky DJ, Ohsumi M, Ohsumi Y. A protein conjugation system essential for autophagy. *Nature* 395: 395–398, 1998.
- Mizushima N, Yoshimori T. How to interpret LC3 immunoblotting. *Autophagy* 3: 542–545, 2007.
- 192. Mootha VK, Handschin C, Arlow D, Xie X, St Pierre J, Sihag S, Yang W, Altshuler D, Puigserver P, Patterson N, Willy PJ, Schulman IG, Heyman RA, Lander ES, Spiegelman BM. Erralpha and Gabpa/b specify PGC-1alpha-dependent oxidative phosphorylation gene expression that is altered in diabetic muscle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 101: 6570–5, 2004.

- 193. Morley JE, Abbatecola AM, Argiles JM, Baracos V, Bauer J, Bhasin S, Cederholm T, Stewart Coats AJ, Cummings SR, Evans WJ, Fearon K, Ferrucci L, Fielding RA, Guralnik JM, Harris TB, Inui A, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Kirwan B-A, Mantovani G, Muscaritoli M, Newman AB, Rossi-Fanelli F, Rosano GMC, Roubenoff R, Schambelan M, Sokol GH, Storer TW, Vellas B, von Haehling S, Yeh S-S, Anker SD, Society on Sarcopenia, Cachexia and Wasting Disorders Trialist Workshop. Sarcopenia With Limited Mobility: An International Consensus. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 12: 403–409, 2011.
- 194. Muscaritoli M, Anker SD, Argilés J, Aversa Z, Bauer JM, Biolo G, Boirie Y, Bosaeus I, Cederholm T, Costelli P, Fearon KC, Laviano A, Maggio M, Fanelli FR, Schneider SM, Schols A, Sieber CC. Consensus definition of sarcopenia, cachexia and pre-cachexia: Joint document elaborated by Special Interest Groups (SIG) "cachexia-anorexia in chronic wasting diseases" and "nutrition in geriatrics." *Clin. Nutr.* 29: 154–159, 2010.
- 195. Narendra D, Tanaka A, Suen D-F, Youle RJ. Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy. *J. Cell Biol.* 183: 795–803, 2008.
- 196. Narendra DP, Jin SM, Tanaka A, Suen D-F, Gautier CA, Shen J, Cookson MR, Youle RJ. PINK1 Is Selectively Stabilized on Impaired Mitochondria to Activate Parkin. *PLoS Biol.* 8: e1000298, 2010.
- 197. Nascimbeni AC, Giordano F, Dupont N, Grasso D, Vaccaro MI, Codogno P, Morel E. ER–plasma membrane contact sites contribute to autophagosome biogenesis by regulation of local PI3P synthesis. *EMBO J.* 36: 2018–2033, 2017.
- 198. Navratil M, Terman A, Arriaga EA. Giant mitochondria do not fuse and exchange their contents with normal mitochondria. *Exp. Cell Res.* 314: 164–72, 2008.
- 199. Nemeth PM, Pette D, Vrbová G. Comparison of enzyme activities among single muscle fibres within defined motor units. *J. Physiol.* 311: 489–95, 1981.
- 200. Nemoto S, Fergusson MM, Finkel T. SIRT1 functionally interacts with the metabolic regulator and transcriptional coactivator PGC-1alpha. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280: 16456–60, 2005.
- 201. Neuspiel M, Schauss AC, Braschi E, Zunino R, Rippstein P, Rachubinski RA, Andrade-Navarro MA, McBride HM. Cargo-Selected Transport from the Mitochondria to Peroxisomes Is Mediated by Vesicular Carriers. *Curr. Biol.* 18: 102–108, 2008.
- 202. Nguyen TN, Padman BS, Usher J, Oorschot V, Ramm G, Lazarou M. Atg8 family

LC3/GAB ARAP proteins are crucial for autophagosome-lysosome fusion but not autophagosome formation during PINK1/Parkin mitophagy and starvation. *J. Cell Biol.* 215: 857–874, 2016.

- 203. Nilwik R, Snijders T, Leenders M, Groen BBL, van Kranenburg J, Verdijk LB, van Loon LJC. The decline in skeletal muscle mass with aging is mainly attributed to a reduction in type II muscle fiber size. *Exp. Gerontol.* 48: 492–8, 2013.
- 204. Nitert MD, Dayeh T, Volkov P, Elgzyri T, Hall E, Nilsson E, Yang BT, Lang S, Parikh H, Wessman Y, Weishaupt H, Attema J, Abels M, Wierup N, Almgren P, Jansson P-A, Rönn T, Hansson O, Eriksson K-F, Groop L, Ling C. Impact of an exercise intervention on DNA methylation in skeletal muscle from first-degree relatives of patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 61: 3322–32, 2012.
- 205. Novak I, Kirkin V, McEwan DG, Zhang J, Wild P, Rozenknop A, Rogov V, Löhr F, Popovic D, Occhipinti A, Reichert AS, Terzic J, Dötsch V, Ney PA, Dikic I. Nix is a selective autophagy receptor for mitochondrial clearance. *EMBO Rep.* 11: 45–51, 2010.
- 206. O'Connell K, Gannon J, Doran P, Ohlendieck K. Proteomic profiling reveals a severely perturbed protein expression pattern in aged skeletal muscle. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 20: 145–53, 2007.
- 207. O'Leary MF, Vainshtein A, Iqbal S, Ostojic O, Hood DA. Adaptive plasticity of autophagic proteins to denervation in aging skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 304: C422-30, 2013.
- 208. O'Leary MFN, Vainshtein A, Zhang Y, Carter HN, Hood DA. Denervation-induced mitochondrial dysfunction and autophagy in skeletal muscle of apoptosis-deficient animals. *AJP Cell Physiol.* 303: C447–C454, 2012.
- 209. Okatsu K, Kimura M, Oka T, Tanaka K, Matsuda N. Unconventional PINK1 localization to the outer membrane of depolarized mitochondria drives Parkin recruitment. *J. Cell Sci.* 128: 964–978, 2015.
- 210. Okatsu K, Oka T, Iguchi M, Imamura K, Kosako H, Tani N, Kimura M, Go E, Koyano F, Funayama M, Shiba-Fukushima K, Sato S, Shimizu H, Fukunaga Y, Taniguchi H, Komatsu M, Hattori N, Mihara K, Tanaka K, Matsuda N. PINK1 autophosphorylation upon membrane potential dissipation is essential for Parkin recruitment to damaged mitochondria. *Nat. Commun.* 3: 1016, 2012.

- 211. Olichon A, Baricault L, Gas N, Guillou E, Valette A, Belenguer P, Lenaers G. Loss of OPA1 Perturbates the Mitochondrial Inner Membrane Structure and Integrity, Leading to Cytochrome c Release and Apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278: 7743–7746, 2003.
- Ongwijitwat S, Liang HL, Graboyes EM, Wong-Riley MTT. Nuclear respiratory factor
 2 senses changing cellular energy demands and its silencing down-regulates cytochrome oxidase and other target gene mRNAs. *Gene* 374: 39–49, 2006.
- 213. Orsi A, Razi M, Dooley HC, Robinson D, Weston AE, Collinson LM, Tooze SA. Dynamic and transient interactions of Atg9 with autophagosomes, but not membrane integration, are required for autophagy. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 23: 1860–73, 2012.
- 214. Palmer CS, Elgass KD, Parton RG, Osellame LD, Stojanovski D, Ryan MT. Adaptor Proteins MiD49 and MiD51 Can Act Independently of Mff and Fis1 in Drp1 Recruitment and Are Specific for Mitochondrial Fission. J. Biol. Chem. 288: 27584–27593, 2013.
- 215. Palmieri M, Impey S, Kang H, di Ronza A, Pelz C, Sardiello M, Ballabio A. Characterization of the CLEAR network reveals an integrated control of cellular clearance pathways. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20: 3852–3866, 2011.
- Parenti G, Andria G, Ballabio A. Lysosomal Storage Diseases: From Pathophysiology to Therapy. *Annu. Rev. Med.* 66: 471–486, 2015.
- 217. Parise G, Phillips SM, Kaczor JJ, Tarnopolsky MA. Antioxidant enzyme activity is upregulated after unilateral resistance exercise training in older adults. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 39: 289–295, 2005.
- 218. Park J-M, Seo M, Jung CH, Grunwald D, Stone M, Otto NM, Toso E, Ahn Y, Kyba M, Griffin TJ, Higgins L, Kim D-H. ULK1 phosphorylates Ser30 of BECN1 in association with ATG14 to stimulate autophagy induction. *Autophagy* 14: 584–597, 2018.
- 219. Park J, Lee SB, Lee S, Kim Y, Song S, Kim S, Bae E, Kim J, Shong M, Kim J-M, Chung J. Mitochondrial dysfunction in Drosophila PINK1 mutants is complemented by parkin. *Nature* 441: 1157–1161, 2006.
- 220. Pette D, Skorjanc D. Adaptive potentials of skeletal muscle in young and aging rats. *Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exerc. Metab.* 11 Suppl: S3-8, 2001.
- 221. **Pette D**, **Vrbová G**. Invited review: Neural control of phenotypic expression in mammalian muscle fibers. *Muscle Nerve* 8: 676–689, 1985.
- 222. Picard M, Ritchie D, Thomas MM, Wright KJ, Hepple RT. Alterations in intrinsic

mitochondrial function with aging are fiber type-specific and do not explain differential atrophy between muscles. *Aging Cell* 10: 1047–55, 2011.

- 223. Pickles S, Vigié P, Youle RJ. Mitophagy and Quality Control Mechanisms in Mitochondrial Maintenance. *Curr. Biol.* 28: R170–R185, 2018.
- 224. **Pickrell AM**, **Youle RJ**. The Roles of PINK1, Parkin, and Mitochondrial Fidelity in Parkinson's Disease. *Neuron* 85: 257–273, 2015.
- 225. **Pilegaard H, Saltin B, Neufer PD**. Exercise induces transient transcriptional activation of the PGC-1alpha gene in human skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 546: 851–8, 2003.
- 226. Polson HEJ, de Lartigue J, Rigden DJ, Reedijk M, Urbé S, Clague MJ, Tooze SA. Mammalian Atg18 (WIPI2) localizes to omegasome-anchored phagophores and positively regulates LC3 lipidation. *Autophagy* 6: 506–522, 2010.
- 227. Puigserver P, Adelmant G, Wu Z, Fan M, Xu J, O'Malley B, Spiegelman BM. Activation of PPARgamma coactivator-1 through transcription factor docking. *Science* 286: 1368–71, 1999.
- 228. Puigserver P, Rhee J, Lin J, Wu Z, Yoon JC, Zhang CY, Krauss S, Mootha VK, Lowell BB, Spiegelman BM. Cytokine stimulation of energy expenditure through p38 MAP kinase activation of PPARgamma coactivator-1. *Mol. Cell* 8: 971–82, 2001.
- 229. **Puigserver P, Wu Z, Park CW, Graves R, Wright M, Spiegelman BM**. A cold-inducible coactivator of nuclear receptors linked to adaptive thermogenesis. *Cell* 92: 829–39, 1998.
- 230. Puri C, Vicinanza M, Ashkenazi A, Gratian MJ, Zhang Q, Bento CF, Renna M, Menzies FM, Rubinsztein DC. The RAB11A-Positive Compartment Is a Primary Platform for Autophagosome Assembly Mediated by WIPI2 Recognition of PI3P-RAB11A. *Dev. Cell* 45: 114–131.e8, 2018.
- 231. Purves-Smith FM, Sgarioto N, Hepple RT. Fiber typing in aging muscle. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 42: 45–52, 2014.
- 232. Purves-Smith FM, Solbak NM, Rowan SL, Hepple RT. Severe atrophy of slow myofibers in aging muscle is concealed by myosin heavy chain co-expression. *Exp. Gerontol.* 47: 913–8, 2012.
- 233. Raben N, Baum R, Schreiner C, Takikita S, Mizushima N, Ralston E, Plotz P. When more is less: excess and deficiency of autophagy coexist in skeletal muscle in Pompe disease. *Autophagy* 5: 111–3, 2009.

- 234. **Reichmann H, Hoppeler H, Mathieu-Costello O, von Bergen F, Pette D**. Biochemical and ultrastructural changes of skeletal muscle mitochondria after chronic electrical stimulation in rabbits. *Pflugers Arch.* 404: 1–9, 1985.
- Renganathan M, Messi ML, Delbono O. Dihydropyridine receptor-ryanodine receptor uncoupling in aged skeletal muscle. *J. Membr. Biol.* 157: 247–53, 1997.
- 236. Reznick RM, Zong H, Li J, Morino K, Moore IK, Yu HJ, Liu Z-X, Dong J, Mustard KJ, Hawley SA, Befroy D, Pypaert M, Hardie DG, Young LH, Shulman GI. Aging-associated reductions in AMP-activated protein kinase activity and mitochondrial biogenesis. *Cell Metab.* 5: 151–6, 2007.
- 237. Richter B, Sliter DA, Herhaus L, Stolz A, Wang C, Beli P, Zaffagnini G, Wild P, Martens S, Wagner SA, Youle RJ, Dikic I. Phosphorylation of OPTN by TBK1 enhances its binding to Ub chains and promotes selective autophagy of damaged mitochondria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 113: 4039–4044, 2016.
- 238. Rikka S, Quinsay MN, Thomas RL, Kubli DA, Zhang X, Murphy AN, Gustafsson ÅB. Bnip3 impairs mitochondrial bioenergetics and stimulates mitochondrial turnover. *Cell Death Differ*. 18: 721–731, 2011.
- 239. **Rivero JL**, **Talmadge RJ**, **Edgerton VR**. Interrelationships of myofibrillar ATPase activity and metabolic properties of myosin heavy chain-based fibre types in rat skeletal muscle. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 111: 277–87, 1999.
- 240. Robinson MM, Dasari S, Konopka AR, Johnson ML, Manjunatha S, Esponda RR, Carter RE, Lanza IR, Nair KS. Enhanced Protein Translation Underlies Improved Metabolic and Physical Adaptations to Different Exercise Training Modes in Young and Old Humans. *Cell Metab.* 25: 581–592, 2017.
- Rogov V, Dötsch V, Johansen T, Kirkin V. Interactions between Autophagy Receptors and Ubiquitin-like Proteins Form the Molecular Basis for Selective Autophagy. *Mol. Cell* 53: 167–178, 2014.
- 242. Romanello V, Guadagnin E, Gomes L, Roder I, Sandri C, Petersen Y, Milan G, Masiero E, Del Piccolo P, Foretz M, Scorrano L, Rudolf R, Sandri M. Mitochondrial fission and remodelling contributes to muscle atrophy. *EMBO J.* 29: 1774–85, 2010.
- 243. Rooyackers OE, Adey DB, Ades PA, Nair KS. Effect of age on in vivo rates of mitochondrial protein synthesis in human skeletal muscle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*

93: 15364–9, 1996.

- 244. Rowe GC, El-Khoury R, Patten IS, Rustin P, Arany Z. PGC-1α is dispensable for exercise-induced mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle. *PLoS One* 7: e41817, 2012.
- 245. Rowe GC, Patten IS, Zsengeller ZK, El-Khoury R, Okutsu M, Bampoh S, Koulisis N, Farrell C, Hirshman MF, Yan Z, Goodyear LJ, Rustin P, Arany Z. Disconnecting mitochondrial content from respiratory chain capacity in PGC-1-deficient skeletal muscle. *Cell Rep.* 3: 1449–56, 2013.
- 246. Ruas JL, White JP, Rao RR, Kleiner S, Brannan KT, Harrison BC, Greene NP, Wu J, Estall JL, Irving BA, Lanza IR, Rasbach KA, Okutsu M, Nair KS, Yan Z, Leinwand LA, Spiegelman BM. A PGC-1α isoform induced by resistance training regulates skeletal muscle hypertrophy. *Cell* 151: 1319–31, 2012.
- 247. Rubinsztein DC, Mariño G, Kroemer G. Autophagy and Aging. Cell 146: 682–695, 2011.
- 248. Russell RC, Tian Y, Yuan H, Park HW, Chang Y-Y, Kim J, Kim H, Neufeld TP, Dillin A, Guan K-L. ULK1 induces autophagy by phosphorylating Beclin-1 and activating VPS34 lipid kinase. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15: 741–750, 2013.
- 249. Safdar A, Hamadeh MJ, Kaczor JJ, Raha S, Debeer J, Tarnopolsky MA. Aberrant mitochondrial homeostasis in the skeletal muscle of sedentary older adults. *PLoS One* 5: e10778, 2010.
- 250. Sancak Y, Bar-Peled L, Zoncu R, Markhard AL, Nada S, Sabatini DM. Ragulator-Rag Complex Targets mTORC1 to the Lysosomal Surface and Is Necessary for Its Activation by Amino Acids. *Cell* 141: 290–303, 2010.
- Sarraf SA, Raman M, Guarani-Pereira V, Sowa ME, Huttlin EL, Gygi SP, Harper JW. Landscape of the PARKIN-dependent ubiquitylome in response to mitochondrial depolarization. *Nature* 496: 372–376, 2013.
- 252. Satoo K, Noda NN, Kumeta H, Fujioka Y, Mizushima N, Ohsumi Y, Inagaki F. The structure of Atg4B–LC3 complex reveals the mechanism of LC3 processing and delipidation during autophagy. *EMBO J.* 28: 1341–1350, 2009.
- Scarpulla RC. Nuclear control of respiratory gene expression in mammalian cells. J. Cell. Biochem. 97: 673–83, 2006.
- 254. Scarpulla RC. Transcriptional paradigms in mammalian mitochondrial biogenesis and function. *Physiol. Rev.* 88: 611–38, 2008.

- 255. Scarpulla RC. Metabolic control of mitochondrial biogenesis through the PGC-1 family regulatory network. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1813: 1269–78, 2011.
- Scarpulla RC. Nucleus-encoded regulators of mitochondrial function: integration of respiratory chain expression, nutrient sensing and metabolic stress. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1819: 1088–97, 2012.
- 257. Sebastián D, Sorianello E, Segalés J, Irazoki A, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Sala D, Planet E, Berenguer-Llergo A, Muñoz JP, Sánchez-Feutrie M, Plana N, Hernández-Álvarez MI, Serrano AL, Palacín M, Zorzano A. Mfn2 deficiency links age-related sarcopenia and impaired autophagy to activation of an adaptive mitophagy pathway. *EMBO J.* 35: e201593084, 2016.
- 258. Settembre C, Di Malta C, Polito VA, Arencibia MG, Vetrini F, Erdin S, Erdin SU, Huynh T, Medina D, Colella P, Sardiello M, Rubinsztein DC, Ballabio A. TFEB Links Autophagy to Lysosomal Biogenesis. *Science* 332: 1429–1433, 2011.
- 259. Settembre C, Zoncu R, Medina DL, Vetrini F, Erdin S, Erdin S, Huynh T, Ferron M, Karsenty G, Vellard MC, Facchinetti V, Sabatini DM, Ballabio A. A lysosome-tonucleus signalling mechanism senses and regulates the lysosome via mTOR and TFEB. *EMBO J.* 31: 1095–1108, 2012.
- 260. **Shang L**, **Wang X**. AMPK and mTOR coordinate the regulation of Ulk1 and mammalian autophagy initiation. *Autophagy* 7: 924–6, 2011.
- 261. **Shen T, Liu Y, Schneider MF**. Localization and regulation of the N terminal splice variant of PGC-1α in adult skeletal muscle fibers. *J. Biomed. Biotechnol.* 2012: 989263, 2012.
- 262. Shiba-Fukushima K, Imai Y, Yoshida S, Ishihama Y, Kanao T, Sato S, Hattori N. PINK1-mediated phosphorylation of the Parkin ubiquitin-like domain primes mitochondrial translocation of Parkin and regulates mitophagy. *Sci. Rep.* 2: 1002, 2012.
- 263. Short KR, Bigelow ML, Kahl J, Singh R, Coenen-Schimke J, Raghavakaimal S, Nair KS. Decline in skeletal muscle mitochondrial function with aging in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 102: 5618–23, 2005.
- 264. Short KR, Vittone JL, Bigelow ML, Proctor DN, Rizza RA, Coenen-Schimke JM, Nair KS. Impact of aerobic exercise training on age-related changes in insulin sensitivity and muscle oxidative capacity. *Diabetes* 52: 1888–96, 2003.
- 265. da Silva Alexandre T, de Oliveira Duarte YA, Ferreira Santos JL, Wong R, Lebrão

ML. Prevalence and associated factors of sarcopenia among elderly in Brazil: Findings from the SABE study. *J. Nutr. Health Aging* 18: 284–290, 2014.

- 266. Singh K, Hood DA. Effect of denervation-induced muscle disuse on mitochondrial protein import. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 300: C138-45, 2011.
- 267. Smirnova E, Griparic L, Shurland D-L, van der Bliek AM. Dynamin-related Protein Drp1 Is Required for Mitochondrial Division in Mammalian Cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 12: 2245–2256, 2001.
- 268. Soriano FX, Liesa M, Bach D, Chan DC, Palacín M, Zorzano A. Evidence for a mitochondrial regulatory pathway defined by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator-1 alpha, estrogen-related receptor-alpha, and mitofusin 2. *Diabetes* 55: 1783–91, 2006.
- 269. Soubannier V, Rippstein P, Kaufman BA, Shoubridge EA, McBride HM. Reconstitution of Mitochondria Derived Vesicle Formation Demonstrates Selective Enrichment of Oxidized Cargo. *PLoS One* 7: e52830, 2012.
- 270. Spendiff S, Vuda M, Gouspillou G, Aare S, Perez A, Morais JA, Jagoe RT, Filion M-E, Glicksman R, Kapchinsky S, MacMillan NJ, Pion CH, Aubertin-Leheudre M, Hettwer S, Correa JA, Taivassalo T, Hepple RT. Denervation drives mitochondrial dysfunction in skeletal muscle of octogenarians. J. Physiol. 594: 7361–7379, 2016.
- 271. Statistics Canada. The Canadian Population in 2011: Age and Sex. 2012.
- 272. Sun N, Malide D, Liu J, Rovira II, Combs CA, Finkel T. A fluorescence-based imaging method to measure in vitro and in vivo mitophagy using mt-Keima. *Nat. Protoc.* 12: 1576– 1587, 2017.
- 273. Sun Y, Vashisht AA, Tchieu J, Wohlschlegel JA, Dreier L. Voltage-dependent Anion Channels (VDACs) Recruit Parkin to Defective Mitochondria to Promote Mitochondrial Autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. 287: 40652–40660, 2012.
- 274. Suter E, Hoppeler H, Claassen H, Billeter R, Aebi U, Horber F, Jaeger P, Marti B. Ultrastructural Modification of Human Skeletal Muscle Tissue with 6-Month Moderate-Intensity Exercise Training. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 16: 160–166, 1995.
- 275. Tajrishi MM, Sato S, Shin J, Zheng TS, Burkly LC, Kumar A. The TWEAK–Fn14 dyad is involved in age-associated pathological changes in skeletal muscle. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 446: 1219–1224, 2014.

- 276. Tanaka A, Cleland MM, Xu S, Narendra DP, Suen D-F, Karbowski M, Youle RJ. Proteasome and p97 mediate mitophagy and degradation of mitofusins induced by Parkin. *J. Cell Biol.* 191: 1367–1380, 2010.
- 277. Terman A, Kurz T, Navratil M, Arriaga EA, Brunk UT. Mitochondrial turnover and aging of long-lived postmitotic cells: the mitochondrial-lysosomal axis theory of aging. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 12: 503–35, 2010.
- 278. Tezze C, Romanello V, Desbats MA, Fadini GP, Albiero M, Favaro G, Ciciliot S, Soriano ME, Morbidoni V, Cerqua C, Loefler S, Kern H, Franceschi C, Salvioli S, Conte M, Blaauw B, Zampieri S, Salviati L, Scorrano L, Sandri M. Age-Associated Loss of OPA1 in Muscle Impacts Muscle Mass, Metabolic Homeostasis, Systemic Inflammation, and Epithelial Senescence. *Cell Metab.* 25: 1374–1389.e6, 2017.
- 279. Trombetti A, Reid KF, Hars M, Herrmann FR, Pasha E, Phillips EM, Fielding RA. Age-associated declines in muscle mass, strength, power, and physical performance: impact on fear of falling and quality of life. *Osteoporos. Int.* 27: 463–471, 2016.
- 280. **Trounce I, Byrne E, Marzuki S**. Decline in skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiratory chain function: possible factor in ageing. *Lancet* 1: 637–9, 1989.
- Tsukada M, Ohsumi Y. Isolation and characterization of autophagy-defective mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *FEBS Lett.* 333: 169–74, 1993.
- 282. Tsunemi T, Ashe TD, Morrison BE, Soriano KR, Au J, Roque RAV, Lazarowski ER, Damian VA, Masliah E, La Spada AR. PGC-1α rescues Huntington's disease proteotoxicity by preventing oxidative stress and promoting TFEB function. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 4: 142ra97, 2012.
- 283. **Tupling AR**. The decay phase of Ca 2+ transients in skeletal muscle: regulation and physiology. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 34: 373–376, 2009.
- 284. Twig G, Elorza A, Molina AJA, Mohamed H, Wikstrom JD, Walzer G, Stiles L, Haigh SE, Katz S, Las G, Alroy J, Wu M, Py BF, Yuan J, Deeney JT, Corkey BE, Shirihai OS. Fission and selective fusion govern mitochondrial segregation and elimination by autophagy. *EMBO J.* 27: 433–446, 2008.
- 285. Vainshtein A, Tryon LD, Pauly M, Hood DA. Role of PGC-1α during acute exerciseinduced autophagy and mitophagy in skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 308: C710-9, 2015.

- 286. Verdijk LB, Koopman R, Schaart G, Meijer K, Savelberg HHCM, van Loon LJC. Satellite cell content is specifically reduced in type II skeletal muscle fibers in the elderly. *Am. J. Physiol. Metab.* 292: E151–E157, 2007.
- 287. Virbasius J V, Scarpulla RC. Activation of the human mitochondrial transcription factor A gene by nuclear respiratory factors: a potential regulatory link between nuclear and mitochondrial gene expression in organelle biogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 91: 1309–13, 1994.
- 288. Walters TJ, Sweeney HL, Farrar RP. Influence of electrical stimulation on a fast-twitch muscle in aging rats. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 71: 1921–8, 1991.
- 289. Webb JL, Ravikumar B, Rubinsztein DC. Microtubule disruption inhibits autophagosome-lysosome fusion: implications for studying the roles of aggresomes in polyglutamine diseases. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 36: 2541–2550, 2004.
- 290. Weidberg H, Shvets E, Shpilka T, Shimron F, Shinder V, Elazar Z. LC3 and GATE-16/GABARAP subfamilies are both essential yet act differently in autophagosome biogenesis. *EMBO J.* 29: 1792–1802, 2010.
- 291. Welle S, Bhatt K, Shah B, Needler N, Delehanty JM, Thornton CA. Reduced amount of mitochondrial DNA in aged human muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 94: 1479–84, 2003.
- 292. Wiederanders B, Oelke B. Accumulation of inactive cathepsin D in old rats. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* 24: 265–71, 1984.
- 293. Williams JA, Ding W-X. Mechanisms, pathophysiological roles and methods for analyzing mitophagy – recent insights. *Biol. Chem.* 399: 147–178, 2018.
- 294. Wohlgemuth SE, Seo AY, Marzetti E, Lees HA, Leeuwenburgh C. Skeletal muscle autophagy and apoptosis during aging: effects of calorie restriction and life-long exercise. *Exp. Gerontol.* 45: 138–48, 2010.
- 295. Wright DC, Geiger PC, Han D-H, Jones TE, Holloszy JO. Calcium induces increases in peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator-1alpha and mitochondrial biogenesis by a pathway leading to p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282: 18793–9, 2007.
- 296. Wright DC, Han D-H, Garcia-Roves PM, Geiger PC, Jones TE, Holloszy JO. Exerciseinduced mitochondrial biogenesis begins before the increase in muscle PGC-1alpha expression. J. Biol. Chem. 282: 194–9, 2007.

- 297. Wu H, Kanatous SB, Thurmond FA, Gallardo T, Isotani E, Bassel-Duby R, Williams RS. Regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle by CaMK. *Science* 296: 349–52, 2002.
- 298. Wu J, Dang Y, Su W, Liu C, Ma H, Shan Y, Pei Y, Wan B, Guo J, Yu L. Molecular cloning and characterization of rat LC3A and LC3B—Two novel markers of autophagosome. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 339: 437–442, 2006.
- 299. Wu JJ, Quijano C, Chen E, Liu H, Cao L, Fergusson MM, Rovira II, Gutkind S, Daniels MP, Komatsu M, Finkel T. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress mediate the physiological impairment induced by the disruption of autophagy. *Aging (Albany. NY).* 1: 425–37, 2009.
- 300. Wu Z, Huang X, Feng Y, Handschin C, Feng Y, Gullicksen PS, Bare O, Labow M, Spiegelman B, Stevenson SC. Transducer of regulated CREB-binding proteins (TORCs) induce PGC-1alpha transcription and mitochondrial biogenesis in muscle cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 103: 14379–84, 2006.
- Yamano K, Youle RJ. PINK1 is degraded through the N-end rule pathway. *Autophagy* 9: 1758–1769, 2013.
- 302. Yoshii SR, Mizushima N. Monitoring and Measuring Autophagy. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18: 1865, 2017.
- 303. Yoshioka T, Inagaki K, Noguchi T, Sakai M, Ogawa W, Hosooka T, Iguchi H, Watanabe E, Matsuki Y, Hiramatsu R, Kasuga M. Identification and characterization of an alternative promoter of the human PGC-1alpha gene. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 381: 537–43, 2009.
- 304. Zhang J, Ney PA. Mechanisms and Biology of B-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma 2/Adenovirus E1B Interacting Protein 3 and Nip-Like Protein X. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 14: 1959–1969, 2011.
- 305. Zhang Y, Uguccioni G, Ljubicic V, Irrcher I, Iqbal S, Singh K, Ding S, Hood DA. Multiple signaling pathways regulate contractile activity-mediated PGC-1α gene expression and activity in skeletal muscle cells. *Physiol. Rep.* 2: e12008, 2014.
- 306. Zhao L, Zou X, Feng Z, Luo C, Liu J, Li H, Chang L, Wang H, Li Y, Long J, Gao F, Liu J. Evidence for association of mitochondrial metabolism alteration with lipid accumulation in aging rats. *Exp. Gerontol.* 56: 3–12, 2014.

CHAPTER TWO: PhD Objectives and Hypotheses

Mitochondria are fundamental organelles to the function of skeletal muscle. Aging skeletal muscle accrues poor quality mitochondria which may be related to deficiencies in biogenesis and/or mitophagy. Understanding the mechanisms that keep these organelles in a state of homeostasis is imperative. Exercise is a known stimulus to elicit beneficial changes in skeletal muscle. The effects of exercise, whether acute or chronic, are mediated largely through the transcriptional coactivator PGC-1 α . Indeed, upregulation of the PGC-1 α gene is a well-documented event with acute exercise. However, aged muscle is at a disadvantage as PGC-1 α levels are reduced in aged muscle and numerous upstream signaling modifiers, including those that drive its gene expression, are dampened.

The process of mitochondrial biogenesis is counterbalanced through the removal of old or damaged organelles via mitophagic degradation in the lysosome. Considerable evidence exists that autophagy and mitophagy are upregulated in skeletal muscle in response to an acute session of aerobic exercise. However, whether this upregulation in mitophagic turnover remains following a training paradigm remains relatively unexplored. Given that aged muscle contains a population of dysfunctional mitochondrial it may suggest that mitophagy would be impaired in the aged milieu, yet studies that examine flux are lacking. Additionally, it is important to consider whether aged muscle would respond with alterations in mitophagic flux following a training paradigm, to potentially improve the quality of organelles therein. These observations have led to our following objectives.

OBJECTIVE #1:

To assess the transcriptional activation of the PGC-1 α gene in young and aged muscle following an acute bout of exercise and recovery period.

HYPOTHESES #1

- 1) PGC-1 α transcription will be reduced in aging muscle basally compared to young muscle;
- Young muscle will increase PGC-1α transcription following an acute bout of contractile activity;
- Aged muscle will exhibit an impaired elevation in PGC-1α transcription following acute contractile activity.

OBJECTIVE #2

To determine whether basal differences exist in autophagy and mitophagy flux in young and aged muscle. Additionally, to explore how autophagy and mitophagy flux might change in both young and aged muscle following adaptations to chronic contractile activity.

HYPOTHESES #2

- 1) Autophagy and mitophagy flux will be reduced in aged muscle;
- 2) Following CCA adaptations, young muscle will exhibit reduced mitophagy flux;
- 3) Aged muscle will experience enhanced flux after the CCA period.
CHAPTER THREE

Effect of contractile activity on PGC-1α transcription in young and aged skeletal muscle

Heather N. Carter¹, Marion Pauly¹, Liam D. Tryon¹ and David A. Hood^{1, 2} ¹Muscle Health Research Centre, School of Kinesiology and Health Science York University, Toronto, Ontario, M3J 1P3, Canada ²Corresponding author

Running title: PGC-1a transcription in aging muscle

Key Words: mitochondria, acute exercise, signaling, mitochondrial biogenesis, Nrf2

Address for correspondence: Dr. David A. Hood School of Kinesiology and Health Science, Muscle Health Research Centre York University, 4700 Keele St., Toronto, ON M3J 1P3, Canada Tel: (416) 736-2100 ext. 66640 Email: dhood@yorku.ca

D.A.H. and H.N.C conceived the study; H.N.C, M.P. and L.D.T. performed experiments; D.A.H. and H.N.C analyzed data; D.A.H. and H.N.C. interpreted results of experiments; H.N.C prepared figures; H.N.C drafted manuscript; D.A.H. edited and revised manuscript; D.A.H. approved final version of manuscript.

This manuscript has been published: Carter, H. N., Pauly, M., Tryon, L. D., and Hood, D. A. (2018) Effect of contractile activity on PGC-1α transcription in young and aged skeletal muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. 124, 1605–1615.

Abstract

Mitochondrial impairments are often noted in aged skeletal muscle. The transcriptional coactivator PGC-1 α is integral to maintaining mitochondria, and its expression declines in aged muscle. It remains unknown whether this is due to a transcriptional deficit during aging. Our study examined PGC-1a transcription in muscle from young and old F344BN rats. Using a rat PGC-1a promoter-reporter construct, we found that PGC-1 α transcription was reduced by ~65% in aged TA muscle, accompanied by decreases in PGC-1a mRNA and transcript stability. Altered expression patterns in PGC-1 α transcription regulatory factors, including Nrf2, USF1, ATF2 and YY1, were noted in aged muscle. Acute contractile activity (CA) followed by recovery was employed to examine whether PGC-1 α transcription could be activated in aged muscle similar to that observed in young muscle. AMPK and p38 signaling was attenuated in aged muscle. CA evoked an upregulation of PGC-1 α transcription in both young and aged groups, while mRNAs encoding PGC-1a and COX IV were induced during the recovery period. Global DNA methylation, an inhibitory event for transcription, was enhanced in aged muscle, likely a result of elevated methyltransferase enzyme Dnmt3b in aged muscle. Successive bouts of CA for 7 days to evaluate longer-term consequences resulted in a rescue of PGC-1 α and downstream mRNAs in aged muscle. Our data indicate that diminished mitochondria in aged muscle is partly due to a deficit in PGC-1 α transcription, a result of attenuated upstream signaling. Contractile activity is an appropriate countermeasure to restore PGC-1a expression and mitochondrial content in aged muscle.

New and Noteworthy

PGC-1 α is a regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis in muscle. We demonstrate that PGC-1 α expression is reduced in aging muscle due to decreases in transcriptional and post-transcriptional mechanisms. The transcriptional deficit is due to alterations in transcription factor expression, reduced signaling and DNA methylation. Acute exercise can initiate signaling to reverse the transcriptional defect, restoring PGC-1 α expression toward young values, suggesting a mechanism whereby aged muscle can respond to exercise for the promotion of mitochondrial biogenesis.

INTRODUCTION

Deficits in mitochondrial content and quality are often observed in aging muscle, although this topic remains under considerable debate (9, 22). While some studies have not noted changes in mitochondria with aging (reviewed in (9)), others have documented reductions in mitochondrial content (10, 38), enhanced ROS emission (38), decreased calcium retention capacity (18), increased apoptotic susceptibility (10, 18) and an impaired signaling for biogenesis (36, 47). Instrumental to the quality of mitochondria is the nuclear transcriptional coactivator, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ , coactivator 1 α (PGC-1 α) (50). PGC-1 α binds and coactivates numerous transcription factors/nuclear receptors that occupy promoters of nuclear genes encoding mitochondrial proteins (NuGEMPs) (21). Indeed, mice deficient for PGC-1 α in skeletal muscle exhibit reduced mitochondrial content and function and lower endurance capacity (2, 35). In contrast, overexpression of the coactivator in skeletal muscle enriches mitochondrial content and exercise performance (34, 53). In aging muscle, PGC-1a transcript and protein content are reduced (10, 13, 25, 31, 32, 38), yet whether this deficit occurs through transcriptional defects has yet to be determined. Indeed, the limitation in solely measuring mRNA is that transcripts are subjected to the presence of stability as well as decay factors, which can alter the accumulation of specific transcripts (12). Thus, mRNA concentrations are not a direct reflection of the transcriptional machinery, and assessing promoter activity directly is beneficial to determine whether transcriptional differences exist.

An acute bout of exercise is a stimulus which is known to activate transcription of the PGC- 1α gene in young, healthy muscle (45, 56). Previous work has documented that contractile activity of skeletal muscle activates divergent signaling pathways and kinases that impinge upon both PGC- 1α protein (28) and factors that regulate the PGC- 1α gene promoter (3, 4, 15, 26, 27, 56).

Interestingly, PGC-1 α also exists in a self-regulatory loop whereby it coactivates its own transcription (20). Thus, in scenarios with diminished PGC-1 α protein content, this likely also impacts the transcription of its own gene. Whether basal or exercise-induced transcription of PGC-1 α remains intact in aged muscle has not been examined.

Transcription is a highly regulated process that can be affected by epigenetic modifications (30). The methylation status of the DNA is one such epigenetic marker, and increases in the methylation of promoter regions are widely regarded as inhibitory for transcription. Results indicating global hypermethylation of DNA from aging human muscle (57), as well as increased NuGEMP-specific methylation (49) suggest an altered genomic landscape for gene expression with aging. This may partly explain the vast changes in transcriptional profiles that occur between young and aged muscle (17, 25, 29, 39, 42). DNA methylation/demethylation is an active process, and recent evidence details dynamic changes after exercise in young, healthy muscle, which permits the upregulation of mRNAs vital for mitochondrial function, including PGC-1 α (7). The addition of methyl groups to DNA is mediated by a group of proteins known as the DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs), and the examination of PGC-1 α transcription concomitant with markers of epigenetic regulation may provide insight into the regulation of mitochondrial content and quality within aging muscle.

Thus, the purpose of our study was to examine the transcriptional activity of the PGC-1 α promoter in young and aged muscle basally, and following an acute exercise stimulus. We hypothesized that PGC-1 α promoter activity would be reduced in aged muscle, and that a single bout of contractile activity would elicit a diminished response compared to young muscle.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals. Young (6-7mo) and aged (34-35mo) male Fisher 344 Brown Norway F1 hybrid rats (F344BNxF1) were obtained from the National Institute of Aging (Bethesda, MD, USA), and were maintained and used in accordance with the York University Animal Care Committee and Canadian Council of Animal Care guidelines. The ages of the animals employed correspond approximately to the human years of adult (18-20) and octogenarian (80-85). Upon arrival, animals were housed 2-3/cage and acclimatized to the environment for a minimum of one week prior to experimentation. Animals were fed and watered *ad libitum* and maintained on a 12h/12h light/dark cycle in a temperature-controlled environment.

PGC-1a promoter generation. Using rat genomic DNA, a 1.5kb region upstream of the transcription start site for PGC-1*a* was amplified by PCR using the following primers: Forward: 5'- GGA CCC GGG ACT AAT GTT TTC CTT CTA AG -3' Reverse: 5'- TCC CTC GAG ACT CCA ATC CAC TCT -3'. The resultant product was cloned into a PGL3 basic vector (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) upstream of the luciferase coding region using KpnI and HindIII restriction enzymes. Plasmid DNA was grown and isolated with a Maxi Prep kit (Qiagen, Toronto, ON, CAN) for subsequent electrotransfection experiments. Correct plasmid amplification was confirmed using restriction enzyme digest and visualized on an agarose gel with ethidium bromide. The construct was tested *in vitro* and *in vivo* versus an empty PGL3 vector to confirm endogenous transcriptional activation of the promoter sequence in skeletal muscle (data not shown). The PGC-1*a* vector was co-transfected with PRL-CMV to serve as a loading control to correct for transfection efficiency.

PGC-1 α *Promoter and Electroporation*. Similar to previous experimentation (12, 52), animals were anesthetized with isoflurane and 50µg of the rPGC-1 α construct, concomitant with 1µg of

99

PRL-CMV DNA, was injected bilaterally with an ultra-fine 29-gauge syringe (BD Canada) into the TA muscles under aseptic conditions. Twenty 100V/cm² pulses were applied to the muscle with forcep-style electrodes using an ECM 380 BTX electroporation system (Harvard Apparatus, Saint-Laurent, QC, CAN) to facilitate uptake of the construct into the muscle. Conductive gel was applied to the electrodes to assist with transfection. The animals were given 7 days for gene amplification (14) prior to *in situ* contractile activity and muscle removal.

mRNA stability. The mRNA stability assay was performed as described previously (12, 33, 52). Briefly, total RNA was isolated from the tibialis anterior (TA) of Sprague-Dawley rats and was subsequently incubated with isolated cytosolic extracts from the TA muscles of either young or aged animals. Incubations lasted for 0, 15 or 30 mins and after each time point, total RNA was reisolated and reverse transcribed to cDNA. Sequence specific primers for PGC-1 α [n=3;(12)] were used to quantify cDNA using semi-quantitative PCR. The PCR products were subjected to electrophoresis on ethidium bromide-stained 1.8% agarose gels. mRNA content was quantified as a percentage of t=0.

In Situ Contractile Activity. Animals were anesthetized with an i.p. injection of ketamine/xylazine cocktail (0.2 ml/100g body mass) and supplemented as required for the duration of the experiment. The left and right TA muscles were exposed and trimmed of constraining connective tissue. Additionally, the left sciatic nerve was gently uncovered and doused with warmed 0.9% saline. The distal tendon of the left TA was tied to a hooked pin and the animal was placed perpendicular to a force gauge and the tendon was attached to the force transducer (Grass FT 10: Grass Instruments, Quincy, MA, USA) via the pin. Data was amplified using a PowerLab/4SP and recorded on Chart5 software (ADInstruments, Colorado Springs, CO, USA). Initially, a length-tension curve was performed to determine optimal resting muscle length to elicit maximal

contraction. Following this, maximal (tetanic) and submaximal (twitch) contractions were determined by first stimulating the sciatic nerve, followed by a brief rest period, and then these measures were repeated via direct muscle stimulation. Maximal tetanic and twitch force were calculated for nerve and muscle stimulation and compared as a means to examine whether age-related denervation or neuromuscular transmission defects were present in the TA muscle. Subsequent to these tests, direct muscle stimulation was performed to induce contractile activity. The intramuscular electrodes were inserted parallel to muscle fibres and accompanied by a temperature probe. Muscle temperature was maintained at 37°C throughout by the use of adjustable heat lamps. Muscle dehydration was prevented by flushing the muscles with saline and wrapping them in plastic.

To induce contractile activity and the activation of intracellular signaling pathways, 40 minutes of stimulation was performed in 10 minute bouts of increasing intensity (0.25, 0.5, 1, 2 trains/s). Muscles were either excised immediately, or the animal was maintained under anesthesia to allow for 2 hours of quiet muscle recovery followed by muscle extraction. During the stimulation and the recovery periods, oral body temperature was monitored using the CODA monitor (Kent Scientific, Torrington, CT, USA) and muscle temperature and hydration were also continually maintained.

Chronic Contractile Activity. To evaluate long-term chronic consequences of repeated contractile activity, young and aged animals were implanted with stimulators to activate the left TA and EDL muscles as previously described (1, 38). Animals were subjected to 3 hours of stimulation per day, for 7 consecutive days. TA and EDL muscles were harvested 21 hours following the last stimulation bout and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen.

Luciferase Activity. The TA muscle was pulverized to a fine powder at the temperature of liquid nitrogen. Approximately 30mg of powder was diluted in 1X Passive Lysis Buffer (Promega, Madison, WI, USA), by 5-fold on ice. The sample was sonicated on ice 3 x 3s and subsequently spun in a microfuge at 4°C for 10min at 16.1xg and the supernate was collected. Using a luminometer, (Lumat LB 9507, Berthold Technologies, Oak Ridge, TN, USA) initial background readings of the passive lysis solution to confirm buffer integrity were followed by addition of 20µl of sample into a test tube that was mixed with 100µl of luciferase substrate followed by 100µl of renilla substrate (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Samples were measured in triplicate. Luciferase values were corrected for renilla values to control for transfection efficiency and the triplicate readings were averaged.

COX Activity. Extracts and enzyme activities were prepared and measured as previously described (40, 41). Briefly, tissue was pulverized to a fine powder and extracts prepared in enzyme extraction buffer (100mM Na-K-Phosphate, 2mM EDTA, pH 7.2). Extracts were added to a solution containing fully reduced cytochrome c (Sigma, Mississauga, ON, CAN) and the rate of oxidation was measured as the change in absorbance over time at 550nm using a plate reader (Synergy HT, Bio-tek, Thorold, ON, CAN).

High Resolution Respirometry. The red gastrocnemius muscle was freshly isolated for examination of respirometry using the Oroboros O2k, Innsbruck, Austria. Samples were extracted and immediately placed in ice-cold BIOPS buffer (10 mM Ca-EGTA, 0.1 μM free calcium, 20 mM imidazole, 20 mM taurine, 50 mM K-MES, 0.5 mM DTT, 6.56 mM MgCl₂, 5.77 mM ATP, 15 mM phosphocreatine, pH 7.1). Small muscle fibre bundles were separated on ice in BIOPS buffer with fine forceps under a dissection microscope. The isolated bundles were incubated at 4°C for 30 mins in saponin (50μg/mL) with gentle rotation. Fibre bundles were washed and weighed then

added to the oxygen chamber in Miro5 buffer (110 mM sucrose, 60 mM K-lactobionate, 0.5 mM EGTA, 3 mM MgCl₂, 20 mM taurine, 10 mM KH₂PO₄, 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.1, and 0.1% BSA). The chambers were hyperoxygenated with 100% O₂ followed by stabilization for a background reading. Glutamate (10mM) and malate (2mM) were added followed by ADP (2.5mM) to assess State IV and State III respiration at 37°C (43, 44). Oxygen flux values were corrected for background readings and fibre mass. Respiratory control ratios were assessed to ensure quality of the fibres and mitochondrial respiration.

Genomic DNA Isolation. gDNA was isolated from 20-25mg of pulverized tissue powder using the DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Toronto, ON, CAN). Purity and concentration were determined using a NanoDrop 2000 (ThermoFisher, Mississauga, ON, CAN).

Global Methylation. gDNA was prepared for the 5-methylcytosine DNA ELISA kit (Zymo Research, Irvine CA, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, samples were loaded into the wells and incubated with an antibody highly specific for 5-methylcytosine. A secondary antibody was added for detection and absorbance measured on a plate reader at 450nm. A standard curve was prepared and read simultaneously with the samples of interest.

qPCR. Tissue was pounded to a fine powder on liquid nitrogen and mRNA was isolated using TRIzol reagent according to manufacturer's instructions. Quality and concentration of the mRNA was assessed using the NanoDrop 2000. Subsequently, mRNA was converted to cDNA using Superscript III (ThermoFisher, Mississauga, ON, CAN). For mRNA evaluation of basal changes with age and acute CA, equal amounts of cDNA were incubated with FAM-labelled TaqMan specific probes (ThermoFisher, Mississauga, ON, CAN) for genes of interest (Table 1). Samples were run in duplicate on a 96-well plate and assessed using the StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Gene expression was normalized to the average

of the loading controls β 2-Microglobulin, β -actin and GAPDH. To assess mRNA from CCA obtained tissues, extraction and cDNA conversion was identical as described above. cDNA was incubated with PerfeCTa SYBR Green (Quantabio, Beverly, MA, USA) and forward and reverse primers specific to the gene of interest (Table 1). Primers were assessed for specificity and optimized for concentration prior to collection of CCA transcript data. Gene expression was normalized to S12 as previous and current examination of samples in our laboratory has determined that this gene does not to change in response to either aging or CCA in the F344BNxF1 rat. Transcript expression was calculated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method relative to Young, or Young Control, where applicable.

Western Blotting. Equal amounts of protein (20-40µg) were loaded and separated on 8-15% gels followed by electrotransfer to a nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON, CAN). Membranes were incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibodies (Table 2). The next day membranes were washed in Tris-buffered saline with Tween-20 and incubated with appropriate secondary antibodies (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, USA) conjugated to horse radish peroxidase for one hour. Membranes were washed again and then developed using enhanced chemiluminescence (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON, CAN) on film (Mandel Scientific, Guelph, ON, CAN).

Statistics. Analyses were made using GraphPad Prism 6.0 with a student's t-test or two-way ANOVA where applicable. CCA mRNA data was evaluated using a two-way repeated measures ANOVA as CON and CCA conditions were obtained from the same animals. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

RESULTS

Young and aged characteristics. Aged animals exhibited characteristics of sarcopenic muscle including a 44% reduction in the TA/body mass ratio (Table 3). Additionally, in situ tetanic force production corrected for muscle mass was significantly suppressed by 27%, indicating reduced muscle quality (Table 3). Mitochondrial content, assessed through COX activity, was significantly reduced by ~25% in aged animals in conjunction with a 36% reduction in State III respiration, measured through high resolution respirometry (Fig. 1A, B). Assessment of the respiratory control ratios (State III/State IV) revealed no difference in intrinsic respiration between young (4.52±0.43) and aged (4.06±0.43) groups. Analyses of mRNA revealed that PGC-1a and COX IV transcripts were supressed by ~30% while no change in Tfam was observed in aged muscle (Fig. 1E). Evaluation of key transcription factors that drive PGC-1a expression revealed significant decreases by ~30% in NFE2L2 (Nrf2) and USF1 in aging muscle (Fig. 1C, D). In contrast, ATF2 and YYI were enhanced (p<0.05) with aging by 1.5 and 1.7-fold, respectively. No changes were noted in either GATA4 or CREB (Fig. 1C, D). Since PGC-1a transcript levels were suppressed in aged muscle, assessment of PGC-1a mRNA stability was performed. Interestingly, PGC-1a stability was significantly decreased in the aged muscle milieu compared to young animals (Fig. 1F). Additionally, we noted a likely increase in the mRNA destabilization factor, CUG binding protein 1 (CUGBP1) while the stabilizing factor human antigen R (HuR) remained unchanged in aged muscle (Fig. 1E).

Muscle and nerve force production. In an effort to examine the potential for age-related denervation in the TA muscles, young and aged animals were subjected to twitch and tetanic contractions via the sciatic nerve or intramuscular stimulation. In young muscle, tetanic contractions elicited 3.6-fold greater force production than twitch contractions (p<0.05, Fig. 2A).

No differences were noted in the amount of force generated through nerve and muscle stimulation for either twitch or tetanic contractions in young animals (Fig. 2A). Aged muscle produced significantly less force than young muscle during both tetanic (60-74% decrease) and twitch (47-63% decrease) contractions (p<0.05, Fig. 2B). Tetanic force development was 2.6-fold greater than twitch contractions in aged muscle (p<0.05, Fig. 2A). No differences were observed in force development elicited through nerve or muscle stimulation in the aged group (Fig. 2A), suggesting the absence of any functional denervation or deficits in signal transmission within the TA muscle of these aged animals.

In situ signaling with aging. Young and aged animals were then exposed to 40 mins of progressive *in situ* contractile activity (CA) with or without a two hour recovery period. A typical force output with progressive fatigue of the TA muscle is illustrated in Fig. 2B. This protocol was adopted because it elicits intensity-dependent increase in muscle oxygen consumption (23), mimicking the increase in oxygen consumption observed in muscle subjected to an increasing, graded workload test. Two key signaling kinases, AMPK and p38, were assessed immediately after contractile activity and following the recovery period. A significant enhancement of P-AMPK by 2.5-fold (p<0.05, Fig. 3A) was noted in young muscle immediately after CA (Fig. 3A). This elevation returned to control levels following quiet recovery. Aged muscle exhibited lower AMPK phosphorylation across all conditions in comparison to young muscle. In response to CA, P-AMPK increased by 2-fold in aged muscle (p<0.05, Fig. 3A). To determine if the strength of the signaling response was similar in young and aged muscle, the delta was calculated (STIM-CON). An attenuation in AMPK signaling by 46% (p<0.05, Fig. 3A, inset) was observed in aged compared to young muscle. P-p38 was significantly lower across all conditions in aged animals compared to

young (p<0.05, Fig. 3B). A trend (p=0.06) for an increase in P-p38 was observed with acute CA in both age groups.

PGC-1a promoter activity and target transcripts. Activity of the upstream 1.5kb rat PGC-1a promoter was assessed through luciferase activity following CA and recovery. Young muscle exhibited a significant 1.8-fold increase in promoter activity with CA which returned to baseline levels subsequent to the recovery period (Fig. 4A). Aged muscle displayed reduced promoter activity basally by ~66% (p<0.05, Fig. 4A). Following CA in aged muscle, a 2.4-fold increase was observed. Similar to young muscle, promoter activity returned to baseline values after the 2 hour recovery. Calculation of the delta (STIM-CON) to compare the difference between the magnitude of young and aged promoter activation with acute CA revealed no difference (p>0.05; Fig. 4A, inset).

PGC-1 α mRNA remained unchanged after the contractile activity and recovery period in young muscle. However, aging muscle exhibited lower transcript levels at rest and following CA compared to young CON muscle as assessed through post-hoc analysis (p<0.05, Fig. 4B). Interestingly, there was no significant difference in PGC-1 α mRNA when aged REC was compared to young CON (Fig. 4B). COX IV expression is coactivated by PGC-1 α , thus we also assessed transcript levels of this nuclear-encoded mitochondrially-destined gene. COX IV transcript was unchanged in young muscle. In aged muscle, a main effect for a decrease in COX IV mRNA was noted across all conditions (Fig. 4C).

DNA methylation factors. Regulation of gene expression can be influenced by epigenetic alterations, such as methylation of the DNA. Assessment of global DNA methylation on isolated genomic DNA revealed significantly greater levels in aged, compared to young muscle (Fig. 5A). With CA and recovery, no significant changes were noted (Fig. 5B). However, methylation

appeared to be greater with age across all rest, CA and recovery periods (p=0.057; Fig. 5B). Next we assessed the transcript content of two DNA methyltransferases responsible for adding methyl groups to DNA, Dnmt3a and 3b. Dnmt3a mRNA was significantly reduced by ~54% while Dnmt3b was unchanged with aging (Fig. 5C). Protein assessment of Dnmt3b showed an increase by ~1.9-fold (p<0.05) in aged muscle (Fig. 5D).

Effect of CCA on transcript expression. In a separate set of animals, we assessed whether accumulating bouts of CA could restore transcript levels of PGC-1 α in aged muscle. As expected, aged muscle displayed significantly reduced expression of PGC-1 α mRNA (p<0.05, Fig. 6A). CCA induced a significant upregulation (p<0.05, Fig. 6A) in PGC-1 α expression in both young (1.3-fold) and aged (1.6-fold) muscle. Interestingly, the levels of PGC-1 α mRNA in aged muscle subject to 7 days of CCA were not different from those observed in young resting muscle (Fig. 6A). We also evaluated COX IV following CCA. Similar to PGC-1 α , COX IV was reduced in aged muscle (p<0.05, Fig. 6B). CCA evoked a trend (p=0.07) to increase COX IV mRNA levels. We also examined Nrf2 mRNA in response to aging and CCA. No difference in transcript expression was observed with age. CCA induced a similar elevation in Nrf2 (p<0.05, Fig. 6C) in both young and aged groups.

DISCUSSION

With advancing age, mitochondria are often reported to diminish in volume and function within skeletal muscle. The mechanisms responsible for age-related mitochondrial loss are not fully understood and continue to be elucidated. To produce fully functioning, high quality organelles, coordination between the nuclear and mitochondrial genomes is necessary to produce protein products in the correct stoichiometry. Central to the regulation of the expression of nuclear genes encoding mitochondrial proteins (NuGEMPs) is the transcriptional coactivator PGC-1 α . PGC-1 α coactivates a wide array of nuclear receptors/transcription factors, including those found on numerous NuGEMPs, as well as its own promoter. Thus, maintaining the levels of PGC-1 α is integral to promoting mitochondrial biogenesis. With aging, PGC-1 α expression has been observed to decline (10, 13, 25, 31, 32, 38). However, the cellular mechanisms underlying this deficiency with age have not been documented. In this study, we sought to understand whether PGC-1 α gene transcription was altered in aging muscle, and if PGC-1 α transcription could be induced to increase, as has been documented previously (4, 45) with exercise in skeletal muscle of young subjects.

The F344BNxF1 rat is considered an appropriate aging model as these animals exhibit sarcopenia similar to humans, albeit in a shorter timeframe (5). Indeed, we observed that aged muscle was reduced in quantity and quality, as mass and force generation were significantly diminished compared to the younger group. This also appeared to take place in the absence of any functional denervation or defects in neuromuscular transmission within the aged muscle. Furthermore, reductions in skeletal muscle mitochondrial content and quality were also apparent with aging. These observations are in agreement with previous work using the same rodent model of aging (36, 38). Additionally, the transcripts for PGC-1 α and COX IV exhibited blunted expression, also pointing to a decrement in mitochondrial biogenesis in aged muscle. Transcript levels are a product of the extent of transcription, and are modulated by the presence of stabilizing or destabilizing factors. In an effort to understand the effect of the aging milieu on transcript stability of PGC-1 α , assessment of mRNA stability was made using cytosolic extracts from young and aged muscle. Interestingly, PGC-1 α stability was significantly decreased in aged muscle. Thus, the decrease in PGC-1 α mRNA is likely a consequence of reduced transcription, and/or increased instability.

To evaluate PGC-1 α gene transcription in muscle, we utilized a construct consisting of 1.5kb upstream of the rat PGC-1 α canonical/proximal promoter attached to a luciferase reporter. This construct was electrotransfected bilaterally into the TA muscles of young and aged animals. The transcription of PGC-1 α via the canonical promoter was reduced by ~66% with age in resting muscle. This undoubtedly contributes to the diminished levels of PGC-1 α mRNA and protein often found in aged muscle (10, 13, 25, 31, 32, 38), in combination with enhanced decay of transcripts. Taken together, the observed decreases in transcription, stability, and mRNA levels suggest that the aged muscle environment is unfavourable to maintain PGC-1 α levels, and this may ultimately contribute to a reduction in mitochondrial content.

This also suggests that factors which regulate the basal expression of PGC-1 α are less effective with age, and restoration of canonical promoter activity would likely serve to increase PGC-1 α transcript content. AMPK and p38 are two kinases documented to regulate PGC-1 α promoter and protein activity (3, 26–28, 46). Lower levels of AMPK and p38 phosphorylation were observed basally in aged muscle in agreement with previous observations (36, 47). Additionally, epigenetic alterations of promoter methylation may affect gene transcription. Previous work has documented enhanced levels of methylation in skeletal muscle both globally, and on specific NuGEMP promoters with aging (49, 57). In agreement, our study noted enhanced global genomic methylation in aged muscle. This enhanced methylation profile is likely mediated, in part, via the action of Dnmt3b, a *de novo* methyltransferase which adds methyl groups to the 5' position of cytosine residues that precede guanines (CpGs). Additionally, Dnmt3b has been found to methylate the PGC-1 α promoter on non-cytosine residues in diabetic patients which correlates

110

with decreased PGC-1 α mRNA (6). Furthermore, knockdown of Dnmt3b prevents hypermethylation using an *in vitro* muscle model. In our study, Dnmt3b levels were increased in aging muscle, while the mRNA of the other *de novo* methyltransferase, Dnmt3a, was reduced. Unfortunately, we were unable to detect Dnmt3a at the protein level. While we were unable to directly assess promoter-specific methylation patterns of the PGC-1 α promoter, our data nonetheless suggest that the increase in global methylation may be partly attributable to the rise in Dnmt3b observed in aged muscle. The increase in global methylation may also be partly explained by lack of demethylation. More recently, the events which regulate active demethylation have begun to be described, involving a series of oxidation reactions affecting 5-mC and the base excision repair pathway (19, 55). Future work examining the expression of the regulators of demethylation would add to our understanding of the role of epigenetics in aging skeletal muscle.

We next assessed the protein expression of transcription factors that have been documented to have putative binding sites on the PGC-1 α promoter. Previous reports, along with TRANSFAC and JASPAR database searches, have identified that USF1(27), GATA4 (27), CREB (16), ATF2 (3, 4), Nrf2 and YY1(11) have binding sites on the PGC-1 α promoter. Basally, we observed that the expression of these transcription factors were imbalanced within the aging milieu compared to young muscle. Interestingly, some of these factors including ATF2, USF1 and GATA4 have been identified to regulate PGC-1 α gene expression in response to muscle contractile activity signaling. However, this has thus far only been documented in young muscle, in exercise mimetic signaling or in cell culture models. Taken together, the reductions in PGC-1 α promoter activity in resting muscle of aged animals may be attributable to repressed kinase activity, imbalanced transcription factor expression and elevated DNA methylation patterns. Thus, rectification of these deficits may improve transcription of PGC-1 α , and ultimately mitochondrial biogenesis.

With aging, it has been noted that physical activity levels often decline in tandem with advancing age. Whether ageing per se or changes in physical activity levels contribute to the declines in PGC-1 α and/or mitochondrial biogenesis is not well understood. In an effort to understand whether a single bout of physical activity could initiate the signaling required to remedy the deficit in PGC-1a promoter activity, we exposed the animals to an acute bout of *in situ* contractile activity of 40 mins, with or without a two hour recovery period. We selected this paradigm as it is recruits all fibre types and it is progressive in intensity for both young and aged muscle. Furthermore, tetanic contractions were chosen as higher intensity exercise often leads to more robust kinase signaling pathways that impinge on PGC-1 α (15). To confirm that the contractile activity paradigm was able to activate known exercise-responsive signaling pathways, we evaluated the phosphorylation of AMPK and p38, kinases that are also known to affect PGC- 1α transcription with contractile activity (4, 27, 46, 54). AMPK phosphorylation was remarkably elevated in young muscle immediately following CA, and returned to basal levels subsequent to the recovery period. This is in agreement with previous observations that have documented enhanced AMPK signaling following acute exercise in young muscle (15, 37). In contrast, aged muscle had reduced AMPK activity overall, including the response to contractile activity and recovery. We observed a trend for an increase in P-p38 with contractile activity regardless of age. Thus, it appears that aged muscle retains the ability to activate kinase-signaling networks in response to contractile activity, however in comparison to young muscle, the response is diminished. Perhaps with successive, accumulating bouts of contractile activity, kinase signaling could be restored to similar levels observed in young muscle.

An acute bout of progressive contractile activity was employed to evaluate PGC-1 α transcription in the setting of increased muscle workload intensity and oxygen consumption (23).

This acute paradigm produced an increase in PGC-1 α promoter activity in both young and aged muscle suggesting that exercise is a positive stimulus towards the restoration of PGC-1 α promoter activity in aged muscle. Despite the relatively pronounced change in promoter activity observed in young muscle, PGC-1 α mRNA was not significantly changed immediately following this single, short bout of CA. However, following the 2 hour recovery period PGC-1 α mRNA levels were no longer significantly different in aged muscle compared to those observed in young resting muscle. While others have observed increases in the mRNA of PGC-1 α following acute exercise, the timing of the recovery may influence the observed result. The recovery time period chosen was based on previous literature documenting changes in transcript expression in young muscle (3, 45). However, this time point representing the optimal increase in PGC-1 α and its targets are likely different in aged and young muscle, given the divergent signaling milieu and transcription kinetics in these aged groups.

Although our research has documented the transcriptional activity of the canonical PGC- 1α promoter, an alternative promoter exists for PGC- 1α , as well as splicing events that generate numerous truncated variants. Future work assessing the role and function of the alternative promoter and the variants in the context of aging would provide additional insight into the regulation of PGC- 1α expression. However, since aged muscle displayed a decrement basally in the activity of the canonical promoter, it is reasonable to develop strategies that reinstate a higher level of promoter activity for PGC- 1α . Thus, we evaluated whether repeated bouts of contractile activity would rescue the levels of PGC- 1α mRNA and its downstream targets. Importantly, chronic contractile activity elicited rejuvenating effects on both PGC- 1α and COX IV in aged muscle, and increased Nrf2 levels similarly in both young and old muscle. This suggests that repeated bouts of exercise can promote the enhanced expression of transcripts that play an integral

role in the expression of the PGC-1 α gene. Indeed, these results are in agreement with previous literature which has identified that PGC-1 α mRNA and other transcripts can accumulate in individuals regardless of age, after exposure to training paradigms (51). However, whether the adaptation is similar in both young and aged muscle is controversial (9, 24). Restoration of a basal defect in PGC-1 α mRNA is regarded as beneficial, however we have yet to discern whether this change results in increased protein product, which is the functional unit that will elicit the mitochondrial adaptations through the coactivation of target genes. Indeed, recent evidence has pointed to the concept that the improvements in mitochondrial content with exercise training in aged individuals are due in part to enhanced gains in protein abundance, rather than solely mRNA (48). Continued work assessing the relationship between chronic exercise, transcriptional activity, mRNA and protein levels would shed more insight on this matter.

We also evaluated the genomic methylation landscape following acute contractile activity and recovery in young and aged muscle. It has been previously identified that global methylation as well as methylation of the PGC-1 α promoter in young muscle is reduced in response to acute exercise (7). This demethylation of PGC-1 α occurred immediately following acute exercise, preceding the rise in corresponding mRNA which peaked at 3 hours post-recovery, suggesting that reduced methylation is coupled to transcript expression. While we did not observe the same decrease in global methylation following acute contractile activity in either of our age groups, this may be explained by the timing of sample acquisition, exercise intensity, and/or species differences. Despite this, we did measure a significant upregulation of PGC-1 α transcriptional activity in both age groups. Evaluation of our promoter construct revealed the presence of numerous CpG sites, suggesting that it could be subject to methylation/demethylation events. Future work evaluating the specific methylation pattern of the PGC-1 α promoter in aged muscle using bisulfite sequencing would be ideal to understand the global hypermethylation that occurs with aging, as well as the rise in transcription following acute contractile activity. However, it should also be noted that a direct correlation between methylation and transcript expression may not always be apparent, since the expression of mRNA following its production can be subject to mRNA stability factors which either stabilize or subject to the transcript to degradation. As such, the lack of "coupling" between the observed increase in PGC-1 α transcription and mRNA abundance and may be partly explained by changes in mRNA stability.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that PGC-1 α promoter activity is reduced in resting aging muscle concomitant with decreased signaling pathways and regulatory transcription factors. This suggests that the signals towards biogenesis are impaired within the aged muscle milieu. However, aged muscle appears to retain the ability to respond to acute exercise signals, ultimately leading to a mitochondrial adaptation when these signals are repeated chronically. This suggests that the decrements in mitochondrial content and quality that are often found in aged individuals can be rectified, at least in part, by the adoption of a strategy that includes a program of regular physical activity. Broadly, this has impact for the health of sedentary aged individuals, as gains in mitochondrial content and quality can still be brought about through the instigation of exercise.

GRANTS

This work was supported by a Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) grant to D. A. Hood. D. A. Hood holds a Canada Research Chair in Cell Physiology.

DISCLOSURES

No conflicts of interest, financial or otherwise, are declared by the author(s).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

D.A.H. and H.N.C conceived the study; H.N.C, M.P. and L.D.T. performed experiments; D.A.H. and H.N.C analyzed data; D.A.H. and H.N.C. interpreted results of experiments; H.N.C prepared figures; H.N.C drafted manuscript; D.A.H. edited and revised manuscript; D.A.H. approved final version of manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to express their gratitude to Dr. Michael Shuen for the generation of the PGC-1α promoter construct. The authors also wish to thank Avigail Erlich, Karli Gavendo and Ashley Oliveira for their excellent technical assistance.

REFERENCES

- Adhihetty PJ, Ljubicic V, Hood DA. Effect of chronic contractile activity on SS and IMF mitochondrial apoptotic susceptibility in skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 292: E748-55, 2007.
- Adhihetty PJ, Uguccioni G, Leick L, Hidalgo J, Pilegaard H, Hood DA. The role of PGC-1alpha on mitochondrial function and apoptotic susceptibility in muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 297: C217-25, 2009.
- 3. Akimoto T, Li P, Yan Z. Functional interaction of regulatory factors with the Pgc-1alpha promoter in response to exercise by in vivo imaging. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 295: C288-92, 2008.
- Akimoto T, Pohnert SC, Li P, Zhang M, Gumbs C, Rosenberg PB, Williams RS, Yan Z. Exercise stimulates Pgc-1alpha transcription in skeletal muscle through activation of the p38 MAPK pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280: 19587–93, 2005.
- Ballak SB, Degens H, de Haan A, Jaspers RT. Aging related changes in determinants of muscle force generating capacity: a comparison of muscle aging in men and male rodents. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 14: 43–55, 2014.
- Barrès R, Osler ME, Yan J, Rune A, Fritz T, Caidahl K, Krook A, Zierath JR. Non-CpG Methylation of the PGC-1α Promoter through DNMT3B Controls Mitochondrial Density. *Cell Metab.* 10: 189–198, 2009.
- Barrès R, Yan J, Egan B, Treebak JT, Rasmussen M, Fritz T, Caidahl K, Krook A, O'Gorman DJ, Zierath JR. Acute exercise remodels promoter methylation in human skeletal muscle. *Cell Metab.* 15: 405–11, 2012.
- Belkin AM, Klimanskaya I V, Lukashev ME, Lilley K, Critchley DR, Koteliansky VE. A novel phosphoglucomutase-related protein is concentrated in adherens junctions of muscle and nonmuscle cells. J. Cell Sci. 107: 159–173, 1994.
- 9. Carter HN, Chen CCW, Hood DA. Mitochondria, Muscle Health and Exercise with Advancing Age. *Physiology* 30: 208–223, 2015.

- 10. **Chabi B, Ljubicic V, Menzies KJ, Huang JH, Saleem A, Hood DA**. Mitochondrial function and apoptotic susceptibility in aging skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* 7: 2–12, 2008.
- Cunningham JT, Rodgers JT, Arlow DH, Vazquez F, Mootha VK, Puigserver P. mTOR controls mitochondrial oxidative function through a YY1–PGC-1α transcriptional complex. *Nature* 450: 736–740, 2007.
- 12. **D'souza D, Lai RYJ, Shuen M, Hood DA**. mRNA stability as a function of striated muscle oxidative capacity. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 303: R408-17, 2012.
- 13. Derbré F, Gomez-Cabrera MC, Nascimento AL, Sanchis-Gomar F, Martinez-Bello VE, Tresguerres JAF, Fuentes T, Gratas-Delamarche A, Monsalve M, Viña J. Age associated low mitochondrial biogenesis may be explained by lack of response of PGC-1α to exercise training. *Age (Omaha)*. 34: 669–679, 2012.
- Donà M, Sandri M, Rossini K, Dell'Aica I, Podhorska-Okolow M, Carraro U. Functional in vivo gene transfer into the myofibers of adult skeletal muscle. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 312: 1132–8, 2003.
- 15. Egan B, Carson BP, Garcia-Roves PM, Chibalin A V., Sarsfield FM, Barron N, McCaffrey N, Moyna NM, Zierath JR, O'Gorman DJ, O'Gorman DJ. Exercise intensity-dependent regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor coactivator-1 mRNA abundance is associated with differential activation of upstream signalling kinases in human skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 588: 1779–90, 2010.
- Esterbauer H, Oberkofler H, Krempler F, Patsch W. Human peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma coactivator 1 (PPARGC1) gene: cDNA sequence, genomic organization, chromosomal localization, and tissue expression. *Genomics* 62: 98–102, 1999.
- Giresi PG, Stevenson EJ, Theilhaber J, Koncarevic A, Parkington J, Fielding RA, Kandarian SC. Identification of a molecular signature of sarcopenia. *Physiol. Genomics* 21: 253–63, 2005.
- 18. Gouspillou G, Sgarioto N, Kapchinsky S, Purves-Smith F, Norris B, Pion CH, Barbat-Artigas S, Lemieux F, Taivassalo T, Morais JA, Aubertin-Leheudre M, Hepple RT. Increased sensitivity to mitochondrial permeability transition and myonuclear translocation

of endonuclease G in atrophied muscle of physically active older humans. *FASEB J.* 28: 1621–33, 2014.

- 19. **Guo JU**, **Su Y**, **Zhong C**, **Ming G**, **Song H**. Hydroxylation of 5-methylcytosine by TET1 promotes active DNA demethylation in the adult brain. *Cell* 145: 423–34, 2011.
- Handschin C, Rhee J, Lin J, Tarr PT, Spiegelman BM. An autoregulatory loop controls peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1alpha expression in muscle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 100: 7111–6, 2003.
- Handschin C, Spiegelman BM. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1 coactivators, energy homeostasis, and metabolism. *Endocr. Rev.* 27: 728–35, 2006.
- 22. **Hepple RT**. Mitochondrial involvement and impact in aging skeletal muscle. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6: 211, 2014.
- 23. **Hood DA**, **Gorski J**, **Terjung RL**. Oxygen cost of twitch and tetanic isometric contractions of rat skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 250: E449-56, 1986.
- 24. **Hood DA**, **Tryon LD**, **Carter HN**, **Kim Y**, **Chen CCW**. Unravelling the mechanisms regulating muscle mitochondrial biogenesis. *Biochem. J.* 473: 2295–2314, 2016.
- 25. Ibebunjo C, Chick JM, Kendall T, Eash JK, Li C, Zhang Y, Vickers C, Wu Z, Clarke BA, Shi J, Cruz J, Fournier B, Brachat S, Gutzwiller S, Ma Q, Markovits J, Broome M, Steinkrauss M, Skuba E, Galarneau J-R, Gygi SP, Glass DJ. Genomic and proteomic profiling reveals reduced mitochondrial function and disruption of the neuromuscular junction driving rat sarcopenia. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 33: 194–212, 2013.
- Irrcher I, Ljubicic V, Hood DA. Interactions between ROS and AMP kinase activity in the regulation of PGC-1alpha transcription in skeletal muscle cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 296: C116-23, 2009.
- 27. Irrcher I, Ljubicic V, Kirwan AF, Hood DA. AMP-activated protein kinase-regulated activation of the PGC-1alpha promoter in skeletal muscle cells. *PLoS One* 3: e3614, 2008.
- 28. Jäger S, Handschin C, St-Pierre J, Spiegelman BM. AMP-activated protein kinase

(AMPK) action in skeletal muscle via direct phosphorylation of PGC-1alpha. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104: 12017–22, 2007.

- Johnson ML, Lanza IR, Short DK, Asmann YW, Nair KS. Chronically endurancetrained individuals preserve skeletal muscle mitochondrial gene expression with age but differences within age groups remain. *Physiol. Rep.* 2: e12239–e12239, 2014.
- Jones PA. Functions of DNA methylation: islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 13: 484–492, 2012.
- 31. Joseph A-M, Adhihetty PJ, Buford TW, Wohlgemuth SE, Lees HA, Nguyen LM-D, Aranda JM, Sandesara BD, Pahor M, Manini TM, Marzetti E, Leeuwenburgh C. The impact of aging on mitochondrial function and biogenesis pathways in skeletal muscle of sedentary high- and low-functioning elderly individuals. *Aging Cell* 11: 801–9, 2012.
- 32. Koltai E, Hart N, Taylor AW, Goto S, Ngo JK, Davies KJA, Radak Z. Age-associated declines in mitochondrial biogenesis and protein quality control factors are minimized by exercise training. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 303: R127-34, 2012.
- 33. Lai RYJ, Ljubicic V, D'souza D, Hood DA. Effect of chronic contractile activity on mRNA stability in skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Physiol.* 299: C155–C163, 2010.
- Lin J, Wu H, Tarr PT, Zhang C-Y, Wu Z, Boss O, Michael LF, Puigserver P, Isotani
 E, Olson EN, Lowell BB, Bassel-Duby R, Spiegelman BM. Transcriptional co-activator
 PGC-1α drives the formation of slow-twitch muscle fibres. *Nature* 418: 797–801, 2002.
- 35. Lin J, Wu P-H, Tarr PT, Lindenberg KS, St-Pierre J, Zhang C-Y, Mootha VK, Jäger S, Vianna CR, Reznick RM, Cui L, Manieri M, Donovan MX, Wu Z, Cooper MP, Fan MC, Rohas LM, Zavacki AM, Cinti S, Shulman GI, Lowell BB, Krainc D, Spiegelman BM. Defects in adaptive energy metabolism with CNS-linked hyperactivity in PGC-1alpha null mice. *Cell* 119: 121–35, 2004.
- Ljubicic V, Hood DA. Diminished contraction-induced intracellular signaling towards mitochondrial biogenesis in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* 8: 394–404, 2009.
- 37. Ljubicic V, Hood DA. Specific attenuation of protein kinase phosphorylation in muscle with a high mitochondrial content. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 297: E749-58, 2009.

- Ljubicic V, Joseph A-M, Adhihetty PJ, Huang JH, Saleem A, Uguccioni G, Hood DA. Molecular basis for an attenuated mitochondrial adaptive plasticity in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging (Albany. NY).* 1: 818–30, 2009.
- Lombardi A, Silvestri E, Cioffi F, Senese R, Lanni A, Goglia F, de Lange P, Moreno M. Defining the transcriptomic and proteomic profiles of rat ageing skeletal muscle by the use of a cDNA array, 2D- and Blue native-PAGE approach. *J. Proteomics* 72: 708–21, 2009.
- 40. Menzies KJ, Singh K, Saleem A, Hood DA. Sirtuin 1-mediated effects of exercise and resveratrol on mitochondrial biogenesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288: 6968–79, 2013.
- O'Leary MF, Vainshtein A, Iqbal S, Ostojic O, Hood DA. Adaptive plasticity of autophagic proteins to denervation in aging skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 304: C422-30, 2013.
- 42. **Pattison JS, Folk LC, Madsen RW, Childs TE, Booth FW**. Transcriptional profiling identifies extensive downregulation of extracellular matrix gene expression in sarcopenic rat soleus muscle. *Physiol. Genomics* 15: 34–43, 2003.
- 43. **Picard M, Ritchie D, Thomas MM, Wright KJ, Hepple RT**. Alterations in intrinsic mitochondrial function with aging are fiber type-specific and do not explain differential atrophy between muscles. *Aging Cell* 10: 1047–55, 2011.
- Picard M, Ritchie D, Wright KJ, Romestaing C, Thomas MM, Rowan SL, Taivassalo T, Hepple RT. Mitochondrial functional impairment with aging is exaggerated in isolated mitochondria compared to permeabilized myofibers. *Aging Cell* 9: 1032–46, 2010.
- 45. **Pilegaard H**, **Saltin B**, **Neufer PD**. Exercise induces transient transcriptional activation of the PGC-1alpha gene in human skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 546: 851–8, 2003.
- Puigserver P, Rhee J, Lin J, Wu Z, Yoon JC, Zhang CY, Krauss S, Mootha VK, Lowell BB, Spiegelman BM. Cytokine stimulation of energy expenditure through p38 MAP kinase activation of PPARgamma coactivator-1. *Mol. Cell* 8: 971–82, 2001.
- 47. Reznick RM, Zong H, Li J, Morino K, Moore IK, Yu HJ, Liu Z-X, Dong J, Mustard KJ, Hawley SA, Befroy D, Pypaert M, Hardie DG, Young LH, Shulman GI. Aging-

associated reductions in AMP-activated protein kinase activity and mitochondrial biogenesis. *Cell Metab.* 5: 151–6, 2007.

- 48. Robinson MM, Dasari S, Konopka AR, Johnson ML, Manjunatha S, Esponda RR, Carter RE, Lanza IR, Nair KS. Enhanced Protein Translation Underlies Improved Metabolic and Physical Adaptations to Different Exercise Training Modes in Young and Old Humans. *Cell Metab.* 25: 581–592, 2017.
- Rönn T, Poulsen P, Hansson O, Holmkvist J, Almgren P, Nilsson P, Tuomi T, Isomaa B, Groop L, Vaag A, Ling C. Age influences DNA methylation and gene expression of COX7A1 in human skeletal muscle. *Diabetologia* 51: 1159–68, 2008.
- 50. Scarpulla RC, Vega RB, Kelly DP. Transcriptional integration of mitochondrial biogenesis. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 23: 459–466, 2012.
- Short KR, Vittone JL, Bigelow ML, Proctor DN, Rizza RA, Coenen-Schimke JM, Nair KS. Impact of aerobic exercise training on age-related changes in insulin sensitivity and muscle oxidative capacity. *Diabetes* 52: 1888–96, 2003.
- Tryon LD, Crilly MJ, Hood DA. Effect of denervation on the regulation of mitochondrial transcription factor A expression in skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Physiol.* 309: C228– C238, 2015.
- 53. Vainshtein A, Desjardins EM, Armani A, Sandri M, Hood DA. PGC-1α modulates denervation-induced mitophagy in skeletal muscle. *Skelet. Muscle* 5: 9, 2015.
- 54. Wright DC, Geiger PC, Han D-H, Jones TE, Holloszy JO. Calcium induces increases in peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator-1alpha and mitochondrial biogenesis by a pathway leading to p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282: 18793–9, 2007.
- 55. Wu X, Zhang Y. TET-mediated active DNA demethylation: mechanism, function and beyond. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 18: 517–534, 2017.
- 56. Zhang Y, Uguccioni G, Ljubicic V, Irrcher I, Iqbal S, Singh K, Ding S, Hood DA. Multiple signaling pathways regulate contractile activity-mediated PGC-1α gene expression and activity in skeletal muscle cells. *Physiol. Rep.* 2, 2014.

Zykovich A, Hubbard A, Flynn JM, Tarnopolsky M, Fraga MF, Kerksick C, Ogborn D, MacNeil L, Mooney SD, Melov S. Genome-wide DNA methylation changes with age in disease-free human skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* 13: 360–6, 2014.

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. Alterations of Mitochondrial Content and Factors Regulating PGC-1a in Aged Muscle. A Mitochondrial content was assessed through the marker COX activity in young and aged TA muscle. n=14. **B** Fibre bundles from the red gastrocnemius were used to measure oxygen flux in voung and aged muscle during basal and active respiration. n=7-8. C, D Transcription factors identified to bind putative sites on the PGC-1 α promoter were assessed through immunoblotting. A representative image of each protein is presented and proteins of interest were corrected for Aciculin. Data are presented as fold change relative to young. n=4-11. E Protein assessment of CUGBP1, a destabilizing factor, and HuR, a stabilizing protein were assessed in young and aged extracts. Aciculin was used as a loading control. n=2. F PGC-1a mRNA stability in young and aged muscle. Representative ethidium bromide stained gel of amplified PGC-1a mRNA following incubation with cytosolic fractions from young or aged muscle for 0, 15 or 30 mins (top). Semilogarithmic quantification of the experiments (bottom; n=3). The reaction in the absence of cDNA is presented as the negative control. G Transcript expression of PGC-1 α , cytochrome oxidase subunit IV (COX IV) and mitochondrial transcription factor A (Tfam) were assessed in basal young and aged TA muscle. Data are presented as fold change relative to young. n=11-15. *p<0.05 aged vs. young. ¶p<0.05 interaction effect. Contrast and brightness changes to immunoblots were applied equally to each image. Data are presented as mean±SEM. COX, cytochrome oxidase; TA, tibialis anterior; Nrf2, Nuclear Factor Erythroid 2-Related Factor 2; USF1, Upstream Transcription Factor 1; CREB, cAMP response element-binding protein; GATA4, GATA Binding Protein 4; ATF2, Activating Transcription Factor 2; YY1, yin yang 1; CUGBP1, CUG binding protein 1; HuR, human antigen R; Y, young; A, aged.

Figure 2. In Situ Force Generation in Young and Aged Muscle. A Young and animals were anesthetized and the TA muscle was exposed and attached to a force transducer. To assess force generation capabilities the TA was stimulated via the sciatic nerve and through intramuscular field stimulation. Twitch and tetanic contractions were performed in both scenarios of each age group. n=8-16. *p<0.05 aged vs young. †p<0.05 tetanic vs. twitch. Data are presented as mean±SEM. **B** A representative tracing of progressive fatigue through *in situ* stimulation. The protocol was 40 mins in duration with increasing intensity every ten 10 minutes in the following order; 0.25 TPS, 0.5 TPS, 1 TPS and 2 TPS. TPS, trains per second; TA, tibialis anterior.

Figure 3. *Signaling with in situ Contractile Activity*. Phosphorylation of AMPK **A** and p38 **B** were assessed immediately following *in situ* contractile activity or subsequent to the recovery period. Phosphorylated protein abundance was corrected for their corresponding total protein content. The inset graph in **A** depicts attenuated signaling of AMPK in aged muscle following acute stimulation. *p<0.05 aged vs. young. †p<0.05 STIM vs. CON. n=3-8 for AMPK and p38. CON/C, control; STIM/S, in situ acute stimulation; REC/R, 2 hour recovery; AMPK, AMP-activated protein kinase; p38, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase; P, phospho; T, total; A.U., arbitrary units. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

Figure 4. *PGC-1a Promoter Activity and Transcript Expression*. **A** An ~1.5kb PGC-1a upstream promoter driving luciferase expression was electroporated bilaterally into the TA muscles of young and aged animals. Luciferase activity was corrected for renilla luciferase to control for transfection efficiency. Basal, acute contractile activity and recovery samples were assessed for luciferase n=6-19. Inset graph depicts the delta of STIM-CON. Transcript expression of PGC-1a (n=4-13) **B** and COX IV (n=6-14) **C** were measured using qPCR TaqMan chemistry. Transcript data is presented as fold relative to young control. Assays IDs are available in Table 1. *p<0.05 aged vs. young.

[†]p<0.05 STIM vs. CON. RLU, relative light units; CON, control; STIM, acute *in situ* stimulation; REC, 2 hour recovery; YC, young control. n.s. not significant. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

Figure 5. DNA Methylation and Methyltransferase Expression in Aging Muscle. Global methylation of young and aged genomic DNA basally A (n=7) and with acute *in situ* stimulation and recovery B (n=3-7). Dnmt expression at the transcript C (n=6-8) and protein level D (n=4). Immunoblots were adjusted for contrast and brightness equally. *p<0.05 aged vs. young. CON, control; STIM, acute *in situ* stimulation; REC, 2 hour recovery; Y, young; A, aged; Dnmt, DNA methyltransferase; A.U., arbitrary unit. Transcript expression is presented as $\Delta\Delta$ Ct relative to young. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

Figure 6. *Effects of CCA on mRNA abundance*. Young and aged animals were subjected to seven consecutive days of CCA and transcripts for PGC-1 α **A**, COX IV **B**, and Nrf2 **C** were assessed using qPCR SYBR Green chemistry (n=5-6). Transcript data is presented as fold relative to young control. Primer sequences can be found in Table 1. Control and CCA are paired within each age group. *p<0.05 aged vs. young. †p<0.05 CCA vs. CON. CON, control; CCA, chronic contractile activity; YC, young control. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

Target	Forward	Reverse			
mRNA assays used basally and for in situ contractile activity					
PGC-1a	TaqMan Probe Assay ID	Rn00580241_m1			
COX IV	TaqMan Probe Assay ID	Rn00665001_g1			
Tfam	TaqMan Probe Assay ID	Rn00580051_m1			
Dnmt3a	TaqMan Probe Assay ID	Rn01027162_g1			
Dnmt3b	TaqMan Probe Assay ID	Rn01536418_g1			
GAPDH	TaqMan Probe Assay ID	Rn01775763_g1			
β -actin	TaqMan Probe Assay ID	Rn00667869_m1			
β2-	TagMan Probe Assay ID	Rn00560865_m1			
Microglobulin	Taqivian 11000 Assay iD				
Primers used for mRNA evaluation of CCA animals					
PGC-1a	5'-CAT CGC AAT TCT CCC TTG	5'-CAG ACT CCC GCT TCT CAT			
	TAT-3'	ACT-3'			
COX IV	5'-GGC AAG AGA GCC ATT	5'-GTA GTC ACG CCG ATC AAC			
	TCT ACT T-3'	ATA-3'			
Nrf2	5'-AGT CGC TTG CCC TGG	5'-GCT CCA TGT CCT GCT GTA			
	ATA TT-3'	T-3'			
S12	5'-ATG GAC GTC AAC ACT GCT	5'-ATG CAA GCA CGC AGA			
	CT-3'	GAT-3'			

Table 1. List of mRNA Primers and Assays.

Target	Manufacturer	Product ID	Lot #
Nrf2 (NFE2L2)	Santa Cruz	sc-722	C2013
USF1	Santa Cruz	sc-8983	B2713
CREB	Cell Signaling	9192	4
GATA4	Santa Cruz	sc-9053	I1404
ATF2	Cell Signaling	9226	2
YY1	Santa Cruz	sc-7341	L0208
CUGBP1	Santa Cruz	sc-20003	B2210
HuR	Santa Cruz	sc-5261	E0710
P-AMPKa _{1/2}	Cell Signaling	2535	16
T-AMPKa _{1/2}	Cell Signaling	2532	19
P-p38	Cell Signaling	9211	23
T-p38	Cell Signaling	9212	23
Dnmt3b	Novus Biologicals	NBP1-40651	YJ031903DS
Aciculin	Gift	(8)	

Table 2. List of Antibodies.

	YOUNG	AGED	Fold Difference (Aged/Young)
Body Mass (g)	430.5±7.31 (24)	480.5±12.82* (24)	1.1
TA Mass (mg)	845.9±22.95 (23)	522.5±17.98* (23)	0.62
TA/Body Mass (mg/g)	1.97±0.025 (23)	1.12±0.045* (23)	0.57
Heart Mass/Body Mass (mg/g)	2.29±0.029 (23)	2.64±0.091* (22)	1.2
Tetanic/TA Mass (mN/mg)	3.86±0.24 (23)	2.82±0.30* (20)	0.73
Tibia Length (mm)	42.6±0.4 (15)	43.5±0.42 (14)	1.02
TA mass/Tibia Length (mg/cm)	0.18±0.004 (15)	0.13±0.005* (14)	0.72

Table 3. Animal Characteristics.

*p<0.05 aged vs. young. Values are reported as means \pm SEM. n = number in parentheses.




Time (min)









CHAPTER FOUR

Autophagy and Mitophagy Flux in Young and Aged Skeletal Muscle Following Chronic Contractile Activity

Heather N. Carter¹, Yuho Kim¹, Avigail T. Erlich¹, Dorrin Zarrin-khat^{1,2}, and David A. Hood^{1,3}

Affiliations:

¹Muscle Health Research Centre, School of Kinesiology and Health Science

York University, Toronto, Ontario, M3J 1P3, Canada

² Department of Biology, York University, Toronto, Ontario, M3J 1P3, Canada

³ Corresponding author

Running title: Mitophagy flux in aging muscle

Address for correspondence: **Dr. David A. Hood** School of Kinesiology and Health Science, Muscle Health Research Centre York University, Toronto, ON M3J 1P3, Canada Tel: (416) 736-2100 ext. 66640 Email: dhood@yorku.ca

D.A.H. and H.N.C. conceived the experiment design, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. H.N.C., Y.T., A.T.E. and D.Z. performed the experiments.

This manuscript has been published: Carter, H. N., Kim, Y., Erlich, A. T., Zarrin-khat, D., and Hood, D. A. (2018) Autophagy and mitophagy flux in young and aged skeletal muscle following chronic contractile activity. J. Physiol. 596, 3567–3584.

KEY POINTS SUMMARY

- A healthy mitochondrial pool is dependent on the removal of dysfunctional organelles via mitophagy, but little is known about how mitophagy is altered with aging and chronic exercise;
- Chronic contractile activity (CCA) is a standardized exercise model that can elicit mitochondrial adaptations in both young and aged muscle, albeit to a lesser degree in the aged group;
- Assessment of mitophagy flux revealed enhanced targeting of mitochondria for degradation in aged muscle, in contrast to previous theories;
- Mitophagy flux was significantly reduced as an adaptation to CCA suggesting that an improvement in organelle quality reduces the need for mitochondrial turnover;
- CCA enhances lysosomal capacity and may ameliorate lysosomal dysfunction in aged muscle.

ABSTRACT

Skeletal muscle exhibits deficits in mitochondrial quality with age. Central to the maintenance of a healthy mitochondrial pool is the removal of dysfunctional organelles via mitophagy. Little is known on how mitophagy is altered with aging and chronic exercise. We assessed mitophagy flux using colchicine treatment *in vivo* following chronic contractile activity (CCA) of muscle in young and aged rats. CCA evoked mitochondrial biogenesis in young muscle, with an attenuated response in aged muscle. Mitophagy flux was higher in aged muscle and was correlated with the enhanced expression of mitophagy receptors and upstream transcriptional regulators. CCA decreased mitophagy flux in both age groups, suggesting an improvement in organelle quality. CCA also reduced the exaggerated expression of TFEB evident in aged muscle, which may be promoting the age-induced increase in lysosomal markers. Thus, aged muscle possesses an elevated drive for autophagy and mitophagy which may contribute to the decline in organelle content observed with age, but which may serve to maintain mitochondrial quality. CCA improves organelle integrity and reduces mitophagy, illustrating that chronic exercise is a modality to improve muscle quality in aged populations.

Keywords: mitochondria, exercise, aging

INTRODUCTION

During the natural course of advancing age the loss of muscle mass and function, commonly referred to as sarcopenia, remains an incompletely described phenomenon (Leon, 2017; Sakuma *et al.*, 2017). Implicated in the maintenance of skeletal muscle with aging is the presence of a healthy population of mitochondria (Romanello & Sandri, 2016; Rygiel *et al.*, 2016; Alway *et al.*, 2017). These organelles are widely recognized to produce the bulk of cellular energy, regulate metabolism, act as mediators for apoptosis and participate in a plethora of cellular signaling cascades. With engagement in habitual aerobic exercise, expansion of the mitochondrial reticulum and improved integrity of the organelles in skeletal muscle has been well described to occur in young, healthy individuals (Holloszy, 1967; Hoppeler *et al.*, 1985; Menzies *et al.*, 2013).

Although controversial, aging muscle often presents with a population of compromised mitochondria. Observed impairments include reduced organelle content (Chabi *et al.*, 2008; Ljubicic *et al.*, 2009; O'Leary *et al.*, 2013; St-Jean-Pelletier *et al.*, 2017), impaired transcription of PGC-1 α (Carter *et al.*, 2018), altered synthesis of mitochondrial proteins (Rooyackers *et al.*, 1996; Miller *et al.*, 2012), poor respiratory function (Conley *et al.*, 2000; Ljubicic *et al.*, 2009), higher reactive oxygen species (ROS) emission (Chabi *et al.*, 2008; Ljubicic *et al.*, 2009), loss of $\Delta \Psi_m$ (Chabi *et al.*, 2008), decreased calcium retention (Gouspillou *et al.*, 2014), increased mtDNA mutational load (Melov *et al.*, 1995) and greater release of pro-apoptotic proteins (Chabi *et al.*, 2008; Gouspillou *et al.*, 2014). These changes may potentially contribute to the observed decline in muscle performance with aging, however it remains unclear if these changes are due solely to aging or are a product of changes in physical activity (Kent-Braun & Ng, 2000; Picard *et al.*, 2011; Joseph *et al.*, 2012; Hepple, 2014; Leduc-Gaudet *et al.*, 2015; St-Jean-Pelletier *et al.*, 2017).

Furthermore, while beneficial, exercise training may not produce the same magnitude of mitochondrial adaptation in aged muscle when compared to younger cohorts (Carter *et al.*, 2015; Hood *et al.*, 2016), however controversy on this topic remains (Robinson *et al.*, 2017). Previous work has detailed that the signaling towards nuclear genes encoding mitochondrial proteins (NuGEMPs) is blunted, suggesting that mitochondrial biogenesis remains low in aged muscle (Ljubicic & Hood, 2009). While intact mitochondrial biogenesis is essential to produce/maintain healthy organelles, the removal of damaged/dysfunctional organelles also has a critical role in the health of mitochondria and skeletal muscle. This selective removal of mitochondria is termed mitophagy, and is part of the larger, evolutionarily conserved autophagy pathway. Our understanding of autophagy and mitophagy and the role they play in skeletal muscle health with exercise and aging, remains in its infancy.

Autophagy is an intracellular recycling mechanism, whereby damaged or redundant cellular components are engulfed in a double membrane structure called the autophagosome, which is ultimately delivered to the lysosome for digestion of its contents by pH-sensitive enzymes. Through the use of genetic ablation of critical autophagy genes, it has been described that intact autophagy is necessary to preserve muscle mass (Masiero *et al.*, 2009), and the degeneration of muscle that occurs in the absence of autophagy is reminiscent of the maladaptive changes that occur with aging (Carnio *et al.*, 2014). Indeed, the literature often discusses the concept that autophagy declines with aging, contributing to deleterious organ and tissue health through aggregation of cellular debris (Brunk & Terman, 2002; Terman *et al.*, 2006, 2010; Rubinsztein *et al.*, 2011; Kroemer *et al.*, 2015; Sakuma *et al.*, 2016; Sebastián *et al.*, 2016). However, many of these ideas are extended from observations noted in lower organisms or in non-muscle tissue, and whether the same conclusions can be drawn for skeletal muscle remains unknown. In aged skeletal

muscle, it has been documented that the expression of many autophagy proteins increases (O'Leary *et al.*, 2013; Sakuma *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, there is an increased presence of the mitophagy receptor Parkin on isolated organelles (O'Leary *et al.*, 2013). However, we now appreciate that the documentation of changes in upstream autophagy proteins levels provides a less than complete picture of the process of autophagy within cells. A difficultly in assessing autophagy and mitophagy *in vivo* is that these are highly dynamic processes, and static measures are often subject to discrepancies in interpretation (Klionsky, 2016; Yoshii & Mizushima, 2017). Thus, measures of autophagosome flux are required, and an accepted technique for this obligates the use of an autophagy-inhibited condition for all experimental conditions, along with the corresponding vehicle controls, to allow for the calculation of flux using isolated organelles (Ju *et al.*, 2010). However, no studies to date have yet to capture the dynamic process of autophagy/mitophagy flux in aging skeletal muscle with exercise.

In addition, very little information has been garnered about the effects of chronic exercise on autophagy and mitophagy, particularly in aged muscle. Recent evidence has demonstrated that autophagy and mitophagy flux increase subsequent to a single bout of acute exercise in young, untrained animals (Grumati *et al.*, 2011; He *et al.*, 2012; Vainshtein *et al.*, 2015*b*; Laker *et al.*, 2017). This is likely a precipitating factor for the eventual remodelling of the mitochondrial network that would occur with repeated, successive bouts of exercise. However, how autophagy and mitophagy flux adapt to exercise following training has not been conclusively described. Two studies have begun to examine mitophagy with chronic exercise training in a young cohort (Lira *et al.*, 2013; Ju *et al.*, 2016) and both of these studies have concluded that autophagy flux was higher following exercise training. However, only one study used an autophagy inhibitor to capture the dynamic turnover of autophagosomes through autophagy, and neither study isolated

mitochondria to examine the rate at which mitochondria may be targeted for mitophagy following training. Thus, the purposes of our study were 1) to examine autophagy and mitophagy autophagosome flux in aged muscle, and 2) to understand how flux may adapt following chronic contractile activity (CCA) in skeletal muscle of young and aged animals.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals: All animal procedures were conducted in strict accordance with the standards set by the Canadian Council on Animal Care and with the approval of York University Animal Care Committee (YUACC). Young (5-6 months) and aged (35-36 months) male Fisher 344 Brown Norway F1 Hybrid rats were obtained from the National Institute of Aging (NIA, Bethesda, MD, USA). Upon arrival, animals were acclimated to the facility in accordance with YUACC protocol guidelines. Food and water were provided *ad libitum* and food intake for each age group was monitored for two weeks subsequent to the acclimation period. Animal characteristics are described in Table 1.

Chronic contractile activity: Animals were sedated with isoflurane anesthesia and surgical implantation of a stimulator unit was performed as previously described (Adhihetty *et al.*, 2007; Ljubicic *et al.*, 2009). Oral temperature of the animals was continuously monitored during the procedure using a CODA monitor (Kent Scientific, Torrington, CT, USA) and a heating pad was used to keep body temperature stable at ~37°C. The fur was shaved over the caudal rib cage as well as over the left hind limb. Antiseptic (Povidone-iodine 10%) was applied to the exposed skin and all surgical procedures were performed under aseptic conditions. The first incision (1-2cm) was made vertically between the last rib and pelvic girdle. A second incision was made horizontally over the cephalic aspect of the left hind limb. Blunt dissection liberated the skin from underlying tissues and a subcutaneous passage was made from the vertical incision to the

horizontal incision. The abdominal musculature was lifted with forceps and cut. The opening was large enough to accommodate insertion of the stimulator unit. The sterile stimulator unit [purchased from JC Jarvis, Liverpool, U.K.; (Jarvis & Salmons, 1991; Salmons & Jarvis, 1991; Mayne et al., 1993)] was inserted into the abdominal cavity and placed caudally toward the ilium with the Dacron mesh facing towards the incision. The wires were passed through the subcutaneous tunnel to the left hind limb. The deep musculature of the abdominal wall was closed with the Dacron mesh incorporated into the suture line with sterile 5.0 silk suture. The superficial musculature was closed with separate sutures and the skin was stapled together. Each muscle and skin layer received antibiotic treatment. At the hind limb, the biceps femoris was lifted with forceps and cut. Gentle blunt dissection was used to locate the peroneal nerve. The loop ends of the electrodes were affixed to the deep musculature, with one wire flanking each side of the peroneal nerve. Using a digital stroboscope, the stimulation unit was turned on and the tibialis anterior (TA) and extensor digitalis muscles (EDL) were palpated to ensure muscle recruitment. The stimulation unit was turned off and the muscle incision at the left hind limb was carefully closed with sutures so as not to disrupt the electrodes. The skin was stapled closed and antibiotic was applied to both layers. Animals were given pain medication (Meloxicam, 2mg/kg) subcutaneously for three consecutive days with the dose decreasing by half each day. Antibiotic (amoxicillin) was also provided in the drinking water for 7 days (0.3mg/L). Animals were closely monitored for mobility and behaviour. After one week of recovery, the CCA protocol began. The left TA and EDL were stimulated for 3h per day (9am-12pm) for nine consecutive days with 21 hours of recovery between bouts, while the contralateral limb served as an internal control (CON). To inhibit autophagy, sterile solutions of colchicine (COL;0.4mg/kg/day; Sigma, Oakville, ON, CAN) or vehicle (VEH; 0.9% saline) were injected into the intraperitoneal cavity during the last three days of CCA.

Animals were randomly assigned to the treatment groups. No signs of distress as a result of the injections were observed. Moreover, this duration of colchicine treatment is sufficient to inhibit autophagy for the measurement of flux (Ju *et al.*, 2010; Mofarrahi *et al.*, 2013; Vainshtein *et al.*, 2015*a*, 2015*b*), yet will not induce myopathy, which is generally observed with treatments lasting 10 days or greater at the same dosage (Ching *et al.*, 2013). Animals were anesthetized with isoflurane between 8:30-9am, 21 hours after the last stimulation period, and relevant tissues were removed and weighed. Animals were killed by exsanguination after median sternotomy.

Mitochondrial isolations: IMF mitochondria were isolated from the distal 2/3 of the TA as previously described (Chabi *et al.*, 2008; Ljubicic *et al.*, 2009). Briefly, tissue was minced and subjected to mechanical homogenization, differential centrifugation and protease treatment (nagarse; 0.025ml/g; Sigma, Oakville, ON, CAN) to liberate the organelles from the dense myofibril network. Mitochondrial pellets were resuspended in ice-cold buffer (100 mM KCl, 10 mM MOPS, 0.2% BSA) supplemented with two phosphatase inhibitor cocktails (Sigma, Oakville, ON, CAN) as well as protease inhibitors (Roche, Mississauga, ON, CAN). Samples were stored at -80°C until later use.

Protein extraction and western blotting: The proximal one-third of the TA was snap frozen in liquid nitrogen upon removal and stored at -80°C. The tissue was pulverized to a fine powder at the temperature of liquid nitrogen. Protein extracts were made by combining a small amount of powder with extraction buffer (20mM HEPES, 2mM EGTA, 1% Triton-X 100, 50% glycerol and 50mM β -Glycerophosphate) supplemented with protease (Roche, Mississauga, ON, CAN) and phosphatase (Sigma, Oakville, ON, CAN) inhibitor cocktails, rotating end-over-end for 1 hour at 4°C followed by sonication on ice. The solution was spun in a microfuge at 4°C for 15 min and the supernate was collected. Protein concentration was determined by the Bradford method. Equal

amounts of protein (20-40µg) were loaded into SDS-PAGE gels for separation. Protein was wet transferred to nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON, CAN) and subsequently blocked for 1 hour in 5% skim milk powder (w/v) dissolved in tris-buffered saline with Tween-20 (TBST). Primary antibodies were incubated on the membrane overnight at 4°C. The next day the membrane was washed 3X for 5 minutes each, with TBST and incubated at room temperature with the appropriate secondary antibody conjugated to horse-radish peroxidase (Santa Cruz, Mississauga, ON, CAN). The protein density was visualized using enhanced chemiluminescence (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, Ontario, CAN) on film or with an ImageStation 4000MM Pro (Carestream, Concord, ON, CAN). Long and short exposures were performed to isolate the linear range. Primary antibodies are detailed in Table 2.

Autophagy and mitophagy flux calculation: To determine the relative degree of autophagosome turnover or mitochondrial-targeted turnover (mitophagy), colchicine and vehicle treatment conditions were employed. Western blotting of LC3-II and p62 were performed in whole muscle extracts or IMF mitochondrial subfractions (isolated as described above) with all conditions represented on one SDS-PAGE gel. Protein abundance was quantified from blots using Image J and values were corrected for corresponding loading controls (aciculin for whole muscle extracts, VDAC for mitochondria). The mean CON values were subtracted from the COL values of corresponding conditions (e.g. young CON COLC – mean young CON VEH) to yield autophagosome flux values.

High resolution respirometry: Half of the EDL muscle was used for high resolution respirometry (Oroboros O2k, Austria). Briefly, the instrument chambers were calibrated prior to sample isolation. The muscle sample was excised and immediately placed in ice-cold BIOPS buffer (10 mM Ca-EGTA, 0.1 µM free calcium, 20 mM imidazole, 20 mM taurine, 50 mM K-MES, 0.5 mM

DTT, 6.56 mM MgCl₂, 5.77 mM ATP, 15 mM phosphocreatine, pH 7.1) followed by gentle mechanical separation of small muscle fibre bundles using fine forceps under a dissection microscope while on ice. Fibre bundles were incubated at 4°C for 30 mins in saponin (50µg/mL) with gentle rocking. Fibre bundles were washed and weighed then added to the oxygen chamber in Miro5 buffer (110 mM sucrose, 60 mM K-lactobionate, 0.5 mM EGTA, 3 mM MgCl₂, 20 mM taurine, 10 mM KH₂PO₄, 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.1, and 0.1% BSA). The chambers were hyperoxygenated with 100% O₂ followed by stabilization for a background reading at a temperature of 37°C. Glutamate (10mM) and malate (2mM) were added followed by ADP (2.5mM) to assess basal and maximal Complex I-stimulated respiration. Following this, succinate (10mM) was added to assess Complex I and II maximal respiration. Oxygen flux values were corrected for background readings and fibre mass. Respiratory control ratios were assessed to ensure quality of the fibres and mitochondrial respiration.

COX activity: As previously described (Chabi *et al.*, 2008; Ljubicic *et al.*, 2009; O'Leary *et al.*, 2013), muscle lysates from young and aged TA were generated and incubated in the presence of fully reduced cytochrome c (Sigma, Oakville, ON, CAN). Equal amounts of sample were incubated with the reduced cytochrome c solution and the rate of oxidation over time was observed as the change in absorbance at 550nm using a plate reader (Synergy HT, Bio-tek, Thorold, ON, CAN).

Electron microscopy: Cubes (2 mm²) from the control and CCA EDL muscles were placed in a 2% glutaraldehyde solution in 0.1 mM sodium cacodylate, pH 7.3. Samples were embedded, stained and cut at the Advanced Imaging Centre at The Hospital for Sick Children (Toronto, ON, CAN) using standard procedures. About 35-40 images for each condition (n=2) were captured on a FEI Tecnai 20 transmission electron microscope.

Histochemistry: The remainder of the EDL was placed in Optimal Cutting Temperature compound (OCT) and frozen in isopentane cooled on liquid nitrogen. When completely frozen, the samples were stored in the -80°C until future use. Samples were thawed to -20°C and mounted on a chuck in a cryostat (Cryotome SME; ThermoFisher, Mississauga, ON, CAN) with OCT. Samples were oriented for cross-sectional cuts, cut in quadruple 10µm thick sections, and transferred to clean microscope slides. All experimental conditions were represented on each microscope slide. Slices were then stained for cytochrome oxidase (COX) or succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) and dried as previously described (Menzies *et al.*, 2013; Vainshtein *et al.*, 2015*a*). Samples were covered with a thin glass coverslip and mounting media. Cross sections were imaged at 10x magnification using a Nikon Eclipse 90i upright microscope.

Statistics: Statistics were assessed using GraphPad Prism 6 software. A student's t-test or twoway ANOVA with Tukey post-hoc test were used where applicable. Due to unequal group sizes repeated measures assessment or a three-way ANOVA, was unable to be performed. For Figures 4 and 6, separate two-way ANOVAs were performed for 1) vehicle-treated young and aged with CCA and 2) colchicine-treated young and aged with CCA.

RESULTS

Effect of aging and CCA on mitochondrial content: Aged animals were significantly larger than the young group and contained larger fat mass (p<0.05; Table 1), although no changes in food intake were noted. Additionally, aged animals had larger hearts, indicative of modest hypertrophy (p<0.05; Table 1). Examination of muscle mass (TA and EDL) revealed that aged muscle was significantly smaller compared to muscle from the young animals (p<0.05, Table 1). No change in muscle mass was noted following CCA or with colchicine injections in either age group. To confirm the induction of mitochondrial biogenesis in the vehicle-treated age groups, COX enzyme activity was assessed as a representative measure of mitochondrial content. In young animals, CCA induced a 1.7-fold increase (p<0.05) in COX activity versus the contralateral muscle (Fig. 1A). Furthermore, post-hoc analysis revealed COX activity in young animals following CCA was significantly higher than in aged CON and CCA muscle by 2-fold and 1.5-fold, respectively (p<0.05, Fig. 1A). PGC-1 α protein expression was enhanced in young VEH-treated muscle following CCA by 1.6-fold (p<0.05, Fig. 1B). In contrast, CCA did not produce a significant enhancement of this key transcriptional coactivator in aged VEH-treated muscle (Fig. 1B).

In support of these biochemical findings, qualitative histochemical staining for SDH in VEHtreated muscle revealed similar observations as reflected by darker staining of fibres in young CCA muscle. A darker shade of SDH staining was also visible in aged muscle subject to CCA compared to the respective control. It is interesting to note that the aged muscle contained many fibres with much more variable cross-sectional area (Fig. 1C). Additionally, qualitative electron micrographs of VEH-treated muscle demonstrated enhanced thickness of the SS layer (yellow arrow) and IMF density (green arrow) following CCA in young animals (Fig. 1D). With aging, the SS layer became notably thinner and less dense, however CCA produced a modest enrichment of this SS layer (yellow arrow) in aged muscle consistent with SS mitochondrial biogenesis. These results are similar to our previous findings (Iqbal *et al.*, 2013).

Using permeabilized muscle fibres from VEH-treated animals, basal State IV respiration was decreased with age (main effect, p<0.05, Fig. 1E). No change was observed with CCA for basal respiration in either age cohort (Fig. 1E). Active, Complex I-stimulated State III respiration was also diminished with age (main effect, p<0.05, Fig. 1F). The same effect was observed for Complex I+II-stimulated State III respiration (Fig. 1G). CCA also induced elevations (p<0.05)

in State III Complex I-stimulated respiration in both age groups (Fig. 1F). When these respiration data were normalized to COX activity, no significant differences among the conditions were noted (data not shown), indicating that the effects of age and CCA are reflective of changes in mitochondrial content per gram of muscle, rather than a result of alterations in mitochondrial composition.

Alterations in upstream autophagy regulators: Aging resulted in a significant increase in forkhead box O3 (FoxO3) level in skeletal muscle. However, FoxO3 remained unaffected by CCA, regardless of age (Fig. 2A, B). A main effect of CCA was observed on Beclin 1 protein expression, which was particularly evident by the 2.1-fold increase observed in young muscle (p<0.05; Fig. 2A, C). Aging also produced a large induction of Beclin 1 (p<0.05) compared to young muscle in both CON and CCA conditions. p53 was undetectable in whole muscle extracts of young animals (data not shown), but was significantly enriched in aged muscle. CCA led to a marked 1.7-fold increase (p<0.05) in aged muscle (Fig. 2D).

Autophagosome turnover in young and aged muscle: No change in microtubule-associated proteins 1A/1B light chain 3-II (LC3-II) protein expression was observed following CCA in young muscle (Fig. 3A, B). Aged muscle displayed greater LC3-II levels (main effect, p<0.05) than young muscle (Fig. 3A, B). Following CCA, no change in LC3-II levels were noted in either young or aged muscle. As expected, colchicine treatment significantly enhanced LC3-II accumulation in both young and aged muscle, ranging from 1.9 to 2.5-fold (main effect, p<0.05; Fig. 3A, B) compared to respective vehicle-treated conditions. With age, there was a greater accumulation of LC3-II with autophagy inhibition compared to young muscle with colchicine treatment (p<0.05). Interestingly, calculation of LC3-II autophagosome flux (COL-VEH), revealed no alterations in

young muscle after CCA (Fig. 3C). However, aging muscle presented with increased autophagic flux (p<0.05), which also remained unchanged following CCA (Fig. 3C).

In agreement with the autophagy flux calculations, no difference was detected in the LC3-II/LC3-I ratio after CCA compared to CON in young muscle (Fig. 3D). A 1.6-fold elevation in the LC3-II/LC3-I ratio was detected in aged muscle basally compared to young resting muscle (p<0.05). This ratio remained unchanged in aged muscle in response to CCA. In agreement with LC3-II protein expression, we observed a predictable increase in the LC3-II/LC3-I ratio (main effect, p<0.05) under colchicine-treated conditions in both young and aged muscle, regardless of CCA. Neither CCA nor colchicine had an effect on LC3-I levels in either age group. However, there was a main effect of aging to increase the expression of LC3-I (p<0.05; Fig. 3E).

Mitophagy markers with aging and CCA: In young muscle, CCA increased BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19 kDa protein-interacting protein 3 (BNIP3) expression by 1.9-fold (p<0.05, Fig. 4A, B). Aging produced a marked elevation in BNIP3 protein expression by 4.8-fold (p<0.05) and this remained unchanged following CCA. BNIP3-like (BNIP3L/NIX) protein levels were not altered after CCA in young muscle (Fig. 4A, C). Similar to BNIP3, a significant 4.0-fold accumulation of NIX was noted in aged, resting muscle, and these high levels persisted following CCA (Fig. 4A, C). The expression of Parkin in whole muscle extracts exhibited a trend for an increase in aging muscle (p=0.06) and remained unaffected by CCA in both age groups (Fig. 4D). Post-hoc analysis of Optineurin revealed a dramatic enhancement by 3.9-fold (p<0.05) with CCA in young muscle compared to its respective CON (Fig. 4A, E). Optineurin levels were elevated basally in aged CON muscle by 2.7-fold (p<0.05), compared to young CON muscle. Optineurin levels were unresponsive to CCA in the muscle of aging animals, in contrast to the large CCA-induced

enhancement found in young muscle (Fig. 4A, E). Both age and CCA significantly increased the levels of Optineurin above that found in young CON muscle (p<0.05).

Mitophagy in young and aged muscle with CCA: Localization of LC3-II to IMF mitochondria was not changed following CCA in young muscle (Fig. 5A, B). Similarly, no change in LC3-II positive IMF mitochondria was noted with aging, irrespective of CCA when compared to young (Fig. 5A, B). Colchicine-mediated autophagy inhibition resulted in significant accumulations of LC3-II on both young and aged mitochondria compared to vehicle, ranging from 1.4- to 3.6-fold (main effect, p<0.05; Fig. 5B). IMF mitochondria from aged muscle accumulated more LC3-II following colchicine treatment (main effect, p<0.05) when compared to the young colchicinetreated group. Notably, CCA caused a significant decrease in colchicine-induced LC3-II accumulation in both young and aged IMF mitochondria by ~20% (p<0.05; Fig. 5B). Calculation of LC3-II flux revealed a 1.6-fold enhancement (p<0.05) of basal mitophagy in aged, as compared to young muscle (Fig. 5C). Interestingly, CCA produced decreases (p<0.05) in LC3-II IMF flux compared to CON muscle by 40% and 24% in young and aged muscle, respectively (Fig. 5C).

p62 localization to IMF mitochondria was very low in muscle of young animals, and accumulated to significantly higher levels on mitochondria from aged muscle (p<0.05, Fig. 5D, E). CCA elicited 40-90% reductions in p62 localized to IMF mitochondria in young and aged muscle in the absence of colchicine. Colchicine treatment resulted in marked increases of p62 between 6.6- to ~200-fold in both age groups (p<0.05; Fig. 5E). CCA had no significant effect on p62 mitophagy flux in young muscle (Fig. 5F). With aging, a 1.6-fold elevation (p<0.05) in IMF p62 flux was observed, and this remained unchanged following CCA. The localization of Parkin and Optineurin to IMF mitochondria was unaffected by either CCA, or with age (Fig. 5G).

Lysosomal alterations with aging and CCA: Divergent responses were observed for lysosomalassociated membrane proteins -1 and 2 (LAMP-1/2), two abundant lysosomal membrane proteins. LAMP-1 protein was induced in response to CCA in both young and aged muscle (main effect, p<0.05; Fig. 6A, B). No significant difference in LAMP-1 was observed in aged, compared to young muscle (Fig. 6B). In contrast, LAMP-2 was not significantly altered by CCA in either age group, but exhibited an enhanced accumulation in aged muscle by 4.7-fold (p<0.05; Fig. 6A, C). In this study, CCA produced no significant change in TFEB content in young muscle, however aging alone led to an exaggerated 2.8-fold (p<0.05) increase in TFEB protein in comparison to young CON (Fig. 6A, D). Interestingly, with the addition of CCA in the aged group, this increase was no longer present (Fig. 6D). Cathepsin D expression was not altered by CCA in either young or aged muscle, however aging muscle displayed a marked ~3-fold increase (p<0.05), compared to young muscle (Fig. 6A, E).

DISCUSSION

With advancing age, there is a loss of muscle mass and performance. Identification of the potential cellular and molecular regulators that underlie this maladaptive phenomenon is critical as the number of aged individuals in the population continues to increase. Understanding the mechanisms that contribute to sarcopenia would be insightful to tailor beneficial strategies, such as exercise, to help preserve well-being into the advanced years.

Mitochondria are essential organelles that have been documented to exhibit dysfunctional properties in aged muscle (Carter *et al.*, 2015). While debated, these organelles have been associated with the maladaptive features of sarcopenia and remain under intense investigation in the literature. It has been documented that the generation and maintenance of mitochondria

(biogenesis) in muscle with advancing age is hampered (Ljubicic & Hood, 2009; Ljubicic *et al.*, 2009). Additionally, subsequent to paradigms of exercise training, aged muscle appears to harbour a lower capacity for the generation of new, healthy organelles than younger counterparts (Hood *et al.*, 2016). Although this remains controversial, recent work has indicated that aged muscle can increase the transcription of PGC-1 α in response to contractile activity (Carter *et al.*, 2018), as well as enhance its translational capacity in response to a training paradigm (Robinson *et al.*, 2017). Nonetheless, little research has focussed on the selective removal of organelles through mitophagy, a process also critical to maintain organelle and muscle integrity. Furthermore, since mitophagy is highly dynamic, capturing the turnover or "flux" of this process is paramount, rather than relying on snapshot protein measurements of pathway components, or of the LC3-II/LC3-I ratio (Mizushima & Yoshimori, 2007; Klionsky, 2016; Castets *et al.*, 2016; Yoshii & Mizushima, 2017). Thus, this study had two central aims: 1) to directly determine how autophagosome/mitophagy flux adapt in response to a model of chronic exercise in both young and aged animals.

To gain insight into these aims, we utilized an established rodent model of aging (Lushaj *et al.*, 2008; Ballak *et al.*, 2014), the Fisher 344 Brown Norway Hybrid rat and compared young (6 months) to aged (35-36 months) animals. The aged cohort of this strain displayed hallmark features of aged muscle including reduced muscle mass, lower mitochondrial content, decreased respiration and the presence of lipofuscin. Additionally, previous studies utilizing this model have characterized selected dysfunctional properties of mitochondria, including increased ROS production and greater apoptotic susceptibility (Chabi *et al.*, 2008; Ljubicic *et al.*, 2009).

Autophagy occurs at low levels basally, and is known to be upregulated with a variety of stimuli, including acute exercise (He et al., 2012; Vainshtein et al., 2015b). In order to capture the degree of autophagosome turnover through autophagy and mitophagy in young and aged muscle, we employed the autophagy inhibitor, colchicine. Colchicine disrupts microtubules and impairs the ability of autophagosomes to travel to the lysosome for fusion and degradation of their sequestered contents (Amenta et al., 1977; Ju et al., 2010). Our preliminary data using electron microscopy indicated that autophagy inhibition through colchicine treatment produces an increased level of vacuolar inclusions within both young and aged muscle, as expected, but no disruption in sarcomere structure which might limit muscle contractility (Carter et al. unpublished observations). This drug has previously been used successfully for the measurement of autophagy and mitophagy flux in skeletal muscle (Ju et al., 2010, 2016; Mofarrahi et al., 2013; Vainshtein et al., 2015a, 2015b; Baehr et al., 2016). Thus, we compared the difference in the levels of LC3-II in colchicine-treated to vehicle-treated conditions to provide us with an approximation of the amount of autophagosomes with cargo, such as mitochondria, destined for lysosomal degradation. In the case of mitophagy, the isolation of mitochondria and subsequent western blotting for LC3-II reveals an approximation of the degree of organelles targeted for selective sequestration and recycling. Pilot work in Sprague-Dawley rats with 3 days of colchicine injections, followed by the assessment of LC3-II accumulation revealed the success of the method. We observed significant increases in the amount of LC3-II in both whole muscle and isolated mitochondria, compared to vehicle-treated animals. Overall, these observations confirm that colchicine was effective in blocking the autophagy pathway in rat skeletal muscle.

We employed chronic contractile activity (CCA) as a model of exercise training to assess the response of autophagy/mitophagy. We have previously used this model with success to induce

mitochondrial biogenesis in young and aged muscle (Ljubicic *et al.*, 2009). Indeed, in our current study we observed a robust induction of mitochondria in young muscle following nine consecutive days of CCA, as demonstrated by elevated COX activity, enhanced respiration, darker SDH and COX histochemical staining and expansion of the SS and IMF populations observed through qualitative electron microscopy. Additionally, a significant induction of PGC-1 α was present in young muscle following CCA. Together, these observations confirm the high degree of malleability in young skeletal muscle, and indicate that the CCA paradigm was effective to induce mitochondrial biogenesis.

In agreement with our previous observations (Ljubicic et al., 2009), CCA in aged animals also induced mitochondrial biogenesis, however the degree of adaptation was reduced compared to that observed in young muscle. This was evident from attenuated increases in the key mitochondrial transcriptional coactivator, PGC-1a, along with reduced increases in COX activity in aged, compared to young muscle. Additionally, qualitative histochemical staining and electron micrographs revealed increases in mitochondria following CCA in aged muscle, but to a lesser degree than their younger counterparts. This is particularly interesting since the same absolute workload is applied to both age cohorts, suggesting that the responsiveness of aged muscle has diminished kinetics for mitochondrial biogenesis (Carter et al., 2015; Hood et al., 2016). While these observations appear to indicate that the capacity for exercise-induced biogenesis is reduced, this has remained debateable. For instance, a recent study in aged human muscle found that chronic exercise training is capable of inducing an enhanced abundance of mitochondrial proteins through increased protein synthesis (Robinson et al., 2017), suggesting that the capacity for the translation of mitochondrial proteins is not impaired with age. Further research on the simultaneous investigation of multiple steps within the gene expression pathway (eg. transcription, translation,

post-translational trafficking) will be useful in determining whether exercise can serve to accelerate the pathways that may limit the mitochondrial adaptations in aged muscle.

To assess autophagy, we used LC3-II as a key identifier of autophagosomes. We assessed the levels of LC3-II under all conditions in whole muscle extracts with the intent of procuring an estimate of the amount of autophagosome flux occurring in young and aged muscle, with or without CCA. Treatment with colchicine greatly elevated LC3-II levels in both young and aged cohorts, confirming that autophagy was successfully blocked. The benefit of performing flux calculations is to avoid the misinterpretation that could occur simply by assessing LC3-II levels in untreated tissues. Greater LC3-II levels could occur via two possible mechanisms, either by greater processing of LC3-I to LC3-II, or by the impaired degradation of autophagosomes which harbour LC3-II, leading to enhanced levels of this marker (Klionsky, 2016). Thus, having a condition which inhibited autophagy allow us to gain an appreciation for the amount of autophagosomes destined for degradation.

Contrary to our hypothesis, LC3-II autophagy flux in aged muscle was greater than in young muscle. There were no changes in LC3-II autophagy flux brought about by CCA. These data were also reflected in the evaluation of p62 flux which show the same pattern (data not shown). If the LC3-II/I ratio had only been evaluated, then the increase in this ratio in aged muscle could have been potentially interpreted in two ways: 1) greater autophagy flux (i.e. more LC3-II, more autophagosome formation, more drive for autophagy), or 2) an impairment in degradation, and the subsequent accumulation of autophagosomes. Thus, by having a flux measurement this study we gained a clearer picture of the autophagy events occurring in aged muscle. Previous reports in young animal models with exercise training have concluded that autophagy flux is increased

following training (Lira *et al.*, 2013; Ju *et al.*, 2016), yet our data, using direct flux measurements, or the LC3-II/I ratio, reveal no change under these experimental conditions. The discrepancies in these results may have to do with the divergent training paradigms, animal models and muscles examined, and are likely influenced by the choice of pathway marker employed as a surrogate for autophagy flux measures.

The literature has also documented that specific muscle fiber types (e.g. fast vs slow) exhibit differences in autophagy/mitophagy turnover. Some studies have concluded that oxidative fibres have higher rates of flux (Lira *et al.*, 2013), while others have noted greater rates in predominantly glycolytic muscle (Mofarrahi *et al.*, 2013; Paré *et al.*, 2017). Fibre type changes in response to our short protocol of CCA (3 hrs/day, 9 days) are unlikely to confound the results of this study, since a greater volume and time of stimulation is required to produce a shift in myosin heavy chain expression (Putman *et al.*, 2001), and our previous work has documented enhanced fatigue resistance, but no change in half relaxation time or time to peak tension in young or aged skeletal muscle following this CCA protocol (Ljubicic *et al.*, 2009).

Beyond bulk autophagy flux, we have a profound interest in the selective autophagy pathway directed toward dysfunctional mitochondria, termed mitophagy. Initially, we assessed the levels of receptors known to be involved in the targeted removal of these organelles in young and aged muscle. BNIP3, and its related family member NIX, are located in the outer mitochondrial membrane and each harbour a LC3-interacting region (LIR). In aged muscle, these receptors were significantly upregulated. Parkin, an E3 ubiquitin ligase, is recruited to depolarized mitochondria by the kinase PTEN-induced putative kinase 1 (PINK1) (Matsuda *et al.*, 2010; Koyano *et al.*, 2014; Matsuda, 2016). Upon recruitment, Parkin will ubiquitinate outer mitochondrial membrane

proteins, such as VDAC (Sun *et al.*, 2012) and Mfn2 (Gegg *et al.*, 2010; Chen & Dorn, 2013), to signal the organelle for degradation. Similar to previous results, Parkin exhibited a trend for upregulation with aging while Optineurin, a receptor which is recruited to ubiquitin-tagged mitochondria subsequent to phosphorylation (Wong & Holzbaur, 2015; Richter *et al.*, 2016), remained unchanged with age. Despite this, the ratio of enhanced levels of these receptors with aging suggests that the mitochondrial selection for mitophagy is high in aged muscle.

To evaluate mitophagy flux directly, mitochondria were isolated from the TA muscle and extracts were used to assess the organelle-specific localization of mitophagy markers. In agreement with our whole muscle measures, LC3-II localization was enriched in colchicine-treated conditions of both young and aged muscle. Flux analysis revealed that, in contrast to expectations, aged muscle exhibited greater LC3-II mitophagy flux than young muscle. These findings were supported by our measurements of enhanced p62 mitophagy flux and localization on mitochondria, as well as the elevated expression of mitophagy receptors in mitochondria of aged muscle, as discussed above. Therefore, the enhanced rate of mitochondrial removal via this mitophagy pathway could be a contributing factor to the reduction in organelle content which can be observed in aging muscle. On the other hand, the discrepancies evident in the literature on mitochondrial function (e.g. respiration) with age may depend, in large measure, on whether mitophagy is sufficiently upregulated to selectively remove the dysfunctional organelles, resulting in the maintenance of only a healthy pool of organelles, under the conditions of study.

Of great interest within our results was the observation that the adaptive response to CCA resulted in a significant reduction in mitophagy flux. It is known that under a variety of conditions in which respiratory dysfunction exists, exercise training or chronic contractile activity have led to an improvement in mitochondrial function, leading to reduced ROS signaling and AMPK activation (Taivassalo *et al.*, 2001; Adhihetty *et al.*, 2009; Ljubicic *et al.*, 2009; Carter & Hood, 2012; Menzies *et al.*, 2013; Conley *et al.*, 2013). These are well-known triggers for the activation of mitophagy. Thus, the adaptation to a reduced mitophagy flux is likely due to an improvement in the quality of the organelles brought about by CCA, and the attenuated signaling that accompanies this adaptation. Despite this decrease in mitophagy flux, CCA did elicit an increase in the expression of BNIP3 and Optineurin receptors, exclusively in young muscle. In aged muscle, the same response to CCA was not observed, and in the case of Optineurin, aged muscle was remarkably unresponsive. Previous work examining BNIP3 with exercise training has also observed increases in BNIP3 in whole muscle extracts (Lira *et al.*, 2013; Ju *et al.*, 2016). This increase in BNIP3 has been interpreted to mean that mitophagy must be increased as well. Our observations contradict previous conclusions which suggest that mitochondrial removal is enhanced following exercise training (Lira *et al.*, 2013; Ju *et al.*, 2016). However, in these prior cases only indirect measures of mitophagy were used to derive this conclusion.

Transcriptional regulation of autophagy components is necessary for changes in autophagy flux (Füllgrabe *et al.*, 2016). Thus, we assessed the expression of the well-known transcriptional regulators, FoxO3 (Mammucari *et al.*, 2007) and p53 (Maiuri *et al.*, 2010; Wang *et al.*, 2013). In young muscle no CCA-induced alterations were detectable in either protein. However, each of these proteins was significantly upregulated with age, in agreement with other studies (Tamilselvan *et al.*, 2007; Ziaaldini *et al.*, 2015; Wagatsuma *et al.*, 2016). Interestingly, p53 was further enhanced with CCA in old muscle. Coupled with our observations of enhanced flux in aged muscle, the increase in these proteins may suggest enhanced transcription for autophagy genes in the aging milieu. p53 has also been demonstrated to exert a role in mitochondrial biogenesis with

exercise (Saleem *et al.*, 2009; Saleem & Hood, 2013), thus the enhanced expression with aging and CCA may also contribute to the production of new organelles with exercise. However, FoxO3 and p53 are subject to post-translational modifications as well as changes in cellular distribution (e.g. nuclear/cytosolic shuttling) and further work investigating the cellular location and phosphorylation status of these transcription factors is required to fully understand their role in autophagy/mitophagy with exercise and aging.

Further along the upstream autophagy pathway, numerous inputs converge upon Beclin 1, an essential regulator of the core autophagy machinery. In aged muscle, greater Beclin 1 was observed, similar to previous observations (Wohlgemuth et al., 2010; O'Leary et al., 2013; Sakuma et al., 2016). Depending on which protein is partnered with Beclin 1, autophagy can either be activated or inhibited. For instance, Bcl-2 is negative regulator of autophagy when associated with Beclin 1 (Salminen et al., 2013). Other reports have noted that Bcl-2 declines in aging muscle (Ziaaldini et al., 2015), further supporting the conclusion autophagy is enhanced in aged muscle. We also observed an increase in Beclin 1 protein expression in young muscle exposed to CCA. Previous reports have identified an increase in Beclin 1 following both acute and chronic exercise (He et al., 2012; Ju et al., 2016), however some opposing results have also been documented (McMillan et al., 2015; Mejías-Peña et al., 2016; Kim & Hood, 2017). He and colleagues (2012) observed a decreased association of Beclin 1 with Bcl-2 within 30 min of acute exercise, despite a rise in total protein levels of Beclin 1. Thus, further examination of Beclin 1 interactions following training would provide insight on the significance of enhanced Beclin 1 expression following CCA.

The terminal step of the autophagy/mitophagy pathway is degradation of cargo with the low pH environment of the lysosome. We examined markers of the lysosome in young and aged conditions, and also with CCA. In muscle of young animals, we have previously observed that CCA leads to an early adaptive increase in lysosomal markers, indicative of organelle biogenesis prior to mitochondrial adaptations (Kim & Hood, 2017). In the current study, we observed a CCAinduced increase in LAMP-1, supporting this increase in the capacity of muscle with respect to the terminal step of autophagy. In contrast, we have previously reported that aged muscle exhibits morphological evidence of lysosomal impairment, as evident from observations of lipofuscin in electron micrographs (O'Leary et al., 2013). These lipofuscin granules were also evident in muscle from aged, but not young, animals in the current study (Carter et al., unpublished observations). This was coincident with enhanced expression of lysosomal protein markers. These two observations may suggest that aged skeletal muscle contains an accumulation of defective lysosomes, congruent with the lysosomal theory of aging (Wiederanders & Oelke, 1984; Brunk & Terman, 2002). The increase in autophagy and mitophagy flux with aging, measured up to the point of lysosomal cargo delivery, suggests that the lysosomes are overburdened and may become unable to process the incoming cargo, resulting in the formation of lipofuscin granules. Interestingly, CCA significantly lowered the expression of the master regulator of lysosomal biogenesis, TFEB, in aged muscle, suggesting that CCA promotes a corrective phenotype to both mitochondria and lysosomes in aged muscle. Future examination of TFEB cellular localization (Erlich et al., 2018), as well as its phosphorylation status, along with direct assessments of lysosomal function and degradation capacity, will be required to complete the assessment of autophagy and mitophagy flux with exercise in aging muscle.

REFERENCES

Adhihetty PJ, Ljubicic V & Hood DA (2007). Effect of chronic contractile activity on SS and IMF mitochondrial apoptotic susceptibility in skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* **292**, E748-55.

Adhihetty PJ, Uguccioni G, Leick L, Hidalgo J, Pilegaard H & Hood DA (2009). The role of PGC-1alpha on mitochondrial function and apoptotic susceptibility in muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **297**, C217-25.

Alway SE, Mohamed JS & Myers MJ (2017). Mitochondria Initiate and Regulate Sarcopenia. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* **45**, 58–69.

Amenta JS, Sargus MJ & Baccino FM (1977). Effect of microtubular or translational inhibitors on general cell protein degradation. Evidence for a dual catabolic pathway. *Biochem J* **168**, 223–227.

Baehr LM, West DWD, Marcotte G, Marshall AG, De Sousa LG, Baar K & Bodine SC (2016). Age-related deficits in skeletal muscle recovery following disuse are associated with neuromuscular junction instability and ER stress, not impaired protein synthesis. *Aging (Albany NY)* **8**, 127–146.

Ballak SB, Degens H, de Haan A & Jaspers RT (2014). Aging related changes in determinants of muscle force generating capacity: a comparison of muscle aging in men and male rodents. *Ageing Res Rev* 14, 43–55.

Belkin AM, Klimanskaya I V, Lukashev ME, Lilley K, Critchley DR & Koteliansky VE (1994). A novel phosphoglucomutase-related protein is concentrated in adherens junctions of muscle and nonmuscle cells. *J Cell Sci* **107**, 159–173.

Brunk UT & Terman A (2002). The mitochondrial-lysosomal axis theory of aging: accumulation of damaged mitochondria as a result of imperfect autophagocytosis. *Eur J Biochem* **269**, 1996–2002.

Carnio S, LoVerso F, Baraibar MA, Longa E, Khan MM, Maffei M, Reischl M, Canepari M,

Loefler S, Kern H, Blaauw B, Friguet B, Bottinelli R, Rudolf R & Sandri M (2014). Autophagy Impairment in Muscle Induces Neuromuscular Junction Degeneration and Precocious Aging. *Cell Rep* **8**, 1509–1521.

Carter HN, Chen CCW & Hood DA (2015). Mitochondria, Muscle Health and Exercise with Advancing Age. *Physiology* **30**, 208–223.

Carter HN & Hood DA (2012). Contractile activity-induced mitochondrial biogenesis and mTORC1. *AJP Cell Physiol* **303**, C540–C547.

Carter HN, Pauly M, Tryon LD & Hood DA (2018). Effect of contractile activity on PGC-1α transcription in young and aged skeletal muscle. *J Appl Physiol* japplphysiol.01110.2017.

Castets P, Frank S, Sinnreich M & Rüegg MA (2016). "Get the Balance Right": Pathological Significance of Autophagy Perturbation in Neuromuscular Disorders. *J Neuromuscul Dis* **3**, 127–155.

Chabi B, Ljubicic V, Menzies KJ, Huang JH, Saleem A & Hood DA (2008). Mitochondrial function and apoptotic susceptibility in aging skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* **7**, 2–12.

Chen Y & Dorn GW (2013). PINK1-phosphorylated mitofusin 2 is a Parkin receptor for culling damaged mitochondria. *Science* **340**, 471–475.

Ching JK, Ju JS, Pittman SK, Margeta M & Weihl CC (2013). Increased autophagy accelerates colchicine-induced muscle toxicity. *Autophagy* **9**, 2115–2125.

Conley KE, Jubrias SA, Cress ME & Esselman PC (2013). Elevated energy coupling and aerobic capacity improves exercise performance in endurance-trained elderly subjects. *Exp Physiol* **98**, 899–907.

Conley KE, Jubrias SA & Esselman PC (2000). Oxidative capacity and ageing in human muscle. *J Physiol* **526 Pt 1**, 203–210.

Erlich AT, Brownlee DM, Beyfuss K & Hood DA (2018). Exercise induces TFEB expression and

activity in skeletal muscle in a PGC-1a-dependent manner. Am J Physiol Physiol 314, C62–C72.

Füllgrabe J, Ghislat G, Cho D-H & Rubinsztein DC (2016). Transcriptional regulation of mammalian autophagy at a glance. *J Cell Sci* **129**, 3059–3066.

Gegg ME, Cooper JM, Chau K-Y, Rojo M, Schapira AHV & Taanman J-W (2010). Mitofusin 1 and mitofusin 2 are ubiquitinated in a PINK1/parkin-dependent manner upon induction of mitophagy. *Hum Mol Genet* **19**, 4861–4870.

Gouspillou G, Sgarioto N, Kapchinsky S, Purves-Smith F, Norris B, Pion CH, Barbat-Artigas S, Lemieux F, Taivassalo T, Morais JA, Aubertin-Leheudre M & Hepple RT (2014). Increased sensitivity to mitochondrial permeability transition and myonuclear translocation of endonuclease G in atrophied muscle of physically active older humans. *FASEB J* **28**, 1621–1633.

Grumati P, Coletto L, Schiavinato A, Castagnaro S, Bertaggia E, Sandri M & Bonaldo P (2011). Physical exercise stimulates autophagy in normal skeletal muscles but is detrimental for collagen VI-deficient muscles. *Autophagy* **7**, 1415–1423.

He C et al. (2012). Exercise-induced BCL2-regulated autophagy is required for muscle glucose homeostasis. *Nature* **481**, 511–515.

Hepple RT (2014). Mitochondrial involvement and impact in aging skeletal muscle. *Front Aging Neurosci* **6**, 211.

Holloszy JO (1967). Biochemical adaptations in muscle. Effects of exercise on mitochondrial oxygen uptake and respiratory enzyme activity in skeletal muscle. *J Biol Chem* **242**, 2278–2282.

Hood DA, Tryon LD, Carter HN, Kim Y & Chen CCW (2016). Unravelling the mechanisms regulating muscle mitochondrial biogenesis. *Biochem J* **473**, 2295–2314.

Hoppeler H, Howald H, Conley K, Lindstedt SL, Claassen H, Vock P & Weibel ER (1985). Endurance training in humans: aerobic capacity and structure of skeletal muscle. *J Appl Physiol* **59**, 320–327. Iqbal S, Ostojic O, Singh K, Joseph A-M & Hood DA (2013). Expression of mitochondrial fission and fusion regulatory proteins in skeletal muscle during chronic use and disuse. *Muscle Nerve* **48**, 963–970.

Jarvis JC & Salmons S (1991). A family of neuromuscular stimulators with optical transcutaneous control. *J Med Eng Technol* **15**, 53–57.

Joseph A-M, Adhihetty PJ, Buford TW, Wohlgemuth SE, Lees HA, Nguyen LM-D, Aranda JM, Sandesara BD, Pahor M, Manini TM, Marzetti E & Leeuwenburgh C (2012). The impact of aging on mitochondrial function and biogenesis pathways in skeletal muscle of sedentary high- and low-functioning elderly individuals. *Aging Cell* **11**, 801–809.

Ju J-S, Jeon S-I, Park J-Y, Lee J-Y, Lee S-C, Cho K-J & Jeong J-M (2016). Autophagy plays a role in skeletal muscle mitochondrial biogenesis in an endurance exercise-trained condition. *J Physiol Sci* **66**, 417–430.

Ju J-S, Varadhachary AS, Miller SE & Weihl CC (2010). Quantitation of "autophagic flux" in mature skeletal muscle. *Autophagy* **6**, 929–935.

Kent-Braun JA & Ng A V (2000). Skeletal muscle oxidative capacity in young and older women and men. *J Appl Physiol* **89**, 1072–1078.

Kim Y & Hood DA (2017). Regulation of the autophagy system during chronic contractile activity-induced muscle adaptations. *Physiol Rep* **5**, e13307.

Klionsky DJ (2016). Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy (3rd edition). *Autophagy* **12**, 1–222.

Koyano F, Okatsu K, Kosako H, Tamura Y, Go E, Kimura M, Kimura Y, Tsuchiya H, Yoshihara H, Hirokawa T, Endo T, Fon EA, Trempe J-F, Saeki Y, Tanaka K & Matsuda N (2014). Ubiquitin is phosphorylated by PINK1 to activate parkin. *Nature* **510**, 162–166.

Kroemer G, López-Otín C, Yuan J, Kroemer G, Kroemer G & Mandell M (2015). Autophagy: a druggable process that is deregulated in aging and human disease. *J Clin Invest* **125**, 1–4.
Laker RC, Drake JC, Wilson RJ, Lira VA, Lewellen BM, Ryall KA, Fisher CC, Zhang M, Saucerman JJ, Goodyear LJ, Kundu M & Yan Z (2017). Ampk phosphorylation of Ulk1 is required for targeting of mitochondria to lysosomes in exercise-induced mitophagy. *Nat Commun* **8**, 548.

Leduc-Gaudet J-P, Picard M, Pelletier FS-J, Sgarioto N, Auger M-J, Vallée J, Robitaille R, St-Pierre DH & Gouspillou G (2015). Mitochondrial morphology is altered in atrophied skeletal muscle of aged mice. *Oncotarget* **6**, 17923.

Leon AS (2017). Attenuation of Adverse Effects of Aging on Skeletal Muscle by Regular Exercise and Nutritional Support. *Am J Lifestyle Med* **11**, 4–16.

Lira VA, Okutsu M, Zhang M, Greene NP, Laker RC, Breen DS, Hoehn KL & Yan Z (2013). Autophagy is required for exercise training-induced skeletal muscle adaptation and improvement of physical performance. *FASEB J* **27**, 4184–4193.

Ljubicic V & Hood DA (2009). Diminished contraction-induced intracellular signaling towards mitochondrial biogenesis in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* **8**, 394–404.

Ljubicic V, Joseph A-M, Adhihetty PJ, Huang JH, Saleem A, Uguccioni G & Hood DA (2009). Molecular basis for an attenuated mitochondrial adaptive plasticity in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging* (*Albany NY*) **1**, 818–830.

Lushaj EB, Johnson JK, McKenzie D & Aiken JM (2008). Sarcopenia accelerates at advanced ages in Fisher 344xBrown Norway rats. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* **63**, 921–927.

Maiuri MC, Galluzzi L, Morselli E, Kepp O, Malik SA & Kroemer G (2010). Autophagy regulation by p53. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **22**, 181–185.

Mammucari C, Milan G, Romanello V, Masiero E, Rudolf R, Del Piccolo P, Burden SJ, Di Lisi R, Sandri C, Zhao J, Goldberg AL, Schiaffino S & Sandri M (2007). FoxO3 Controls Autophagy in Skeletal Muscle In Vivo. *Cell Metab* **6**, 458–471.

Masiero E, Agatea L, Mammucari C, Blaauw B, Loro E, Komatsu M, Metzger D, Reggiani C, Schiaffino S & Sandri M (2009). Autophagy is required to maintain muscle mass. *Cell Metab* **10**,

507-515.

Matsuda N (2016). Phospho-ubiquitin: upending the PINK–Parkin–ubiquitin cascade. *J Biochem* **159**, 379–385.

Matsuda N, Sato S, Shiba K, Okatsu K, Saisho K, Gautier CA, Sou Y, Saiki S, Kawajiri S, Sato F, Kimura M, Komatsu M, Hattori N & Tanaka K (2010). PINK1 stabilized by mitochondrial depolarization recruits Parkin to damaged mitochondria and activates latent Parkin for mitophagy. *J Cell Biol* **189**, 211–221.

Mayne CN, Mokrusch T, Jarvis JC, Gilroy SJ & Salmons S (1993). Stimulation-induced expression of slow muscle myosin in a fast muscle of the rat. Evidence of an unrestricted adaptive capacity. *FEBS Lett* **327**, 297–300.

McMillan EM, Paré M-F, Baechler BL, Graham DA, Rush JWE & Quadrilatero J (2015). Autophagic Signaling and Proteolytic Enzyme Activity in Cardiac and Skeletal Muscle of Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats following Chronic Aerobic Exercise ed. Musaro A. *PLoS One* **10**, e0119382.

Mejías-Peña Y, Rodriguez-Miguelez P, Fernandez-Gonzalo R, Martínez-Flórez S, Almar M, de Paz JA, Cuevas MJ & González-Gallego J (2016). Effects of aerobic training on markers of autophagy in the elderly. *Age (Omaha)* **38**, 33.

Melov S, Shoffner JM, Kaufman A & Wallace DC (1995). Marked increase in the number and variety of mitochondrial DNA rearrangements in aging human skeletal muscle. *Nucleic Acids Res* **23**, 4938.

Menzies KJ, Singh K, Saleem A & Hood DA (2013). Sirtuin 1-mediated effects of exercise and resveratrol on mitochondrial biogenesis. *J Biol Chem* **288**, 6968–6979.

Miller BF, Robinson MM, Bruss MD, Hellerstein M & Hamilton KL (2012). A comprehensive assessment of mitochondrial protein synthesis and cellular proliferation with age and caloric restriction. *Aging Cell* **11**, 150–161.

Mizushima N & Yoshimori T (2007). How to interpret LC3 immunoblotting. *Autophagy* **3**, 542–545.

Mofarrahi M, Guo Y, Haspel JA, Choi AM, Davis EC, Gouspillou G, Hepple RT, Godin R, Burelle Y & Hussain SN (2013). Autophagic flux and oxidative capacity of skeletal muscles during acute starvation. *Autophagy* **9**, 1604–1620.

O'Leary MF, Vainshtein A, Iqbal S, Ostojic O & Hood DA (2013). Adaptive plasticity of autophagic proteins to denervation in aging skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **304**, C422-30.

Paré MF, Baechler BL, Fajardo VA, Earl E, Wong E, Campbell TL, Tupling AR & Quadrilatero J (2017). Effect of acute and chronic autophagy deficiency on skeletal muscle apoptotic signaling, morphology, and function. *Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Cell Res* **1864**, 708–718.

Picard M, Ritchie D, Thomas MM, Wright KJ & Hepple RT (2011). Alterations in intrinsic mitochondrial function with aging are fiber type-specific and do not explain differential atrophy between muscles. *Aging Cell* **10**, 1047–1055.

Putman CT, Sultan KR, Wassmer T, Bamford JA, Skorjanc D & Pette D (2001). Fiber-type transitions and satellite cell activation in low-frequency-stimulated muscles of young and aging rats. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* **56**, B510-9.

Richter B, Sliter DA, Herhaus L, Stolz A, Wang C, Beli P, Zaffagnini G, Wild P, Martens S, Wagner SA, Youle RJ & Dikic I (2016). Phosphorylation of OPTN by TBK1 enhances its binding to Ub chains and promotes selective autophagy of damaged mitochondria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **113**, 4039–4044.

Robinson MM, Dasari S, Konopka AR, Johnson ML, Manjunatha S, Esponda RR, Carter RE, Lanza IR & Nair KS (2017). Enhanced Protein Translation Underlies Improved Metabolic and Physical Adaptations to Different Exercise Training Modes in Young and Old Humans. *Cell Metab* **25**, 581–592.

Romanello V & Sandri M (2016). Mitochondrial Quality Control and Muscle Mass Maintenance.

Front Physiol 6, 422.

Rooyackers OE, Adey DB, Ades PA & Nair KS (1996). Effect of age on in vivo rates of mitochondrial protein synthesis in human skeletal muscle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**, 15364–15369.

Rubinsztein DC, Mariño G & Kroemer G (2011). Autophagy and Aging. Cell 146, 682–695.

Rygiel KA, Picard M & Turnbull DM (2016). The ageing neuromuscular system and sarcopenia: a mitochondrial perspective. *J Physiol* **594**, 4499–4512.

Sakuma K, Aoi W & Yamaguchi A (2017). Molecular mechanism of sarcopenia and cachexia: recent research advances. *Pflügers Arch - Eur J Physiol* **469**, 573–591.

Sakuma K, Kinoshita M, Ito Y, Aizawa M, Aoi W & Yamaguchi A (2016). p62/SQSTM1 but not LC3 is accumulated in sarcopenic muscle of mice. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle* **7**, 204–212.

Saleem A, Adhihetty PJ & Hood DA (2009). Role of p53 in mitochondrial biogenesis and apoptosis in skeletal muscle. *Physiol Genomics* **37**, 58–66.

Saleem A & Hood DA (2013). Acute exercise induces tumour suppressor protein p53 translocation to the mitochondria and promotes a p53-Tfam-mitochondrial DNA complex in skeletal muscle. *J Physiol* **591**, 3625–3636.

Salminen A, Kaarniranta K & Kauppinen A (2013). Beclin 1 interactome controls the crosstalk between apoptosis, autophagy and inflammasome activation: Impact on the aging process. *Ageing Res Rev* **12**, 520–534.

Salmons S & Jarvis JC (1991). Simple optical switch for implantable devices. *Med Biol Eng Comput* **29**, 554–556.

Sebastián D, Sorianello E, Segalés J, Irazoki A, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Sala D, Planet E, Berenguer-Llergo A, Muñoz JP, Sánchez-Feutrie M, Plana N, Hernández-Álvarez MI, Serrano AL, Palacín M & Zorzano A (2016). Mfn2 deficiency links age-related sarcopenia and impaired autophagy to activation of an adaptive mitophagy pathway. EMBO J 35, e201593084.

St-Jean-Pelletier F, Pion CH, Leduc-Gaudet J-P, Sgarioto N, Zovilé I, Barbat-Artigas S, Reynaud O, Alkaterji F, Lemieux FC, Grenon A, Gaudreau P, Hepple RT, Chevalier S, Belanger M, Morais JA, Aubertin-Leheudre M & Gouspillou G (2017). The impact of ageing, physical activity, and pre-frailty on skeletal muscle phenotype, mitochondrial content, and intramyocellular lipids in men. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle* **8**, 213–228.

Sun Y, Vashisht AA, Tchieu J, Wohlschlegel JA & Dreier L (2012). Voltage-dependent Anion Channels (VDACs) Recruit Parkin to Defective Mitochondria to Promote Mitochondrial Autophagy. *J Biol Chem* **287**, 40652–40660.

Taivassalo T, Shoubridge EA, Chen J, Kennaway NG, DiMauro S, Arnold DL & Haller RG (2001). Aerobic conditioning in patients with mitochondrial myopathies: physiological, biochemical, and genetic effects. *Ann Neurol* **50**, 133–141.

Tamilselvan J, Jayaraman G, Sivarajan K & Panneerselvam C (2007). Age-dependent upregulation of p53 and cytochrome c release and susceptibility to apoptosis in skeletal muscle fiber of aged rats: role of carnitine and lipoic acid. *Free Radic Biol Med* **43**, 1656–1669.

Terman A, Gustafsson B & Brunk UT (2006). Mitochondrial damage and intralysosomal degradation in cellular aging. *Mol Aspects Med* **27**, 471–482.

Terman A, Kurz T, Navratil M, Arriaga EA & Brunk UT (2010). Mitochondrial turnover and aging of long-lived postmitotic cells: the mitochondrial-lysosomal axis theory of aging. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **12**, 503–535.

Vainshtein A, Desjardins EM, Armani A, Sandri M & Hood DA (2015*a*). PGC-1α modulates denervation-induced mitophagy in skeletal muscle. *Skelet Muscle* **5**, 9.

Vainshtein A, Tryon LD, Pauly M & Hood DA (2015*b*). Role of PGC-1α during acute exerciseinduced autophagy and mitophagy in skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **308**, C710-9.

Wagatsuma A, Shiozuka M, Takayama Y, Hoshino T, Mabuchi K & Matsuda R (2016). Effects

of ageing on expression of the muscle-specific E3 ubiquitin ligases and Akt-dependent regulation of Foxo transcription factors in skeletal muscle. *Mol Cell Biochem* **412**, 59–72.

Wang EY, Gang H, Aviv Y, Dhingra R, Margulets V & Kirshenbaum LA (2013). p53 Mediates Autophagy and Cell Death by a Mechanism Contingent On Bnip3. *Hypertension* **62**, 70–77.

Wiederanders B & Oelke B (1984). Accumulation of inactive cathepsin D in old rats. *Mech Ageing Dev* 24, 265–271.

Wohlgemuth SE, Seo AY, Marzetti E, Lees HA & Leeuwenburgh C (2010). Skeletal muscle autophagy and apoptosis during aging: effects of calorie restriction and life-long exercise. *Exp Gerontol* **45**, 138–148.

Wong YC & Holzbaur ELF (2015). Temporal dynamics of PARK2/parkin and OPTN/optineurin recruitment during the mitophagy of damaged mitochondria. *Autophagy* **11**, 422–424.

Yoshii SR & Mizushima N (2017). Monitoring and Measuring Autophagy. Int J Mol Sci 18, 1865.

Ziaaldini MM, Koltai E, Csende Z, Goto S, Boldogh I, Taylor AW & Radak Z (2015). Exercise training increases anabolic and attenuates catabolic and apoptotic processes in aged skeletal muscle of male rats. *Exp Gerontol* **67**, 9–14.

Author Contributions

D.A.H. and H.N.C. conceived the experiment design, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. H.N.C., Y.T., A.T.E. and D.Z. performed the experiments.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to acknowledge Doug Holmyard for his assistance with electron micrographs and Drs. LA Kirshenbaum and S Benchimol for their generous gifts of BNIP3 and p53 antibodies, respectively.

Funding

D. A. Hood holds a Canada Research Chair in Cell Physiology. H. N. Carter was supported by an NSERC Graduate scholarship. This work was supported by funding from Canadian Institutes of Health Research to D.A.H.

TABLES

	YOUNG		AGED		
	CON	CCA	CON	CCA	
Body Mass (g)	396.3±9.1		461±13.8*		
Food Intake (g/day)	16.13±0.54		15.14±0.5		
Heart Mass/BM (mg/g)	2.45±0.03		2.84±0.08*		
Epi. Fat/BM (mg/g)	5.33±0.46		10.72±0.87*		
TA Mass/BM (mg/g)	1.82±0.03	1.87±0.07	0.91±0.07*	0.95±0.06*	
EDL Mass/BM (mg/g)	0.45±0.004	0.45±0.01	0.26±0.02*	0.28±0.01*	

Table 1. Young and Aged Animal Characteristics.

*p<0.05 aged vs young (n = 11-16 per group). No effect of colchicine was noted on these measures.

Target	Manufacturer	Product	Lot#	Primary	Exposure
PGC-1a	Millipore	AB3242	2691399	1:1000	3
LC3-I/II	Cell Signaling	4108	3	1:500	2
p62	Sigma	P0067	015M4877V	1:3000	3
BNIP3	Dr. LA	Gift		1:1000	2
NIX	Santa Cruz	sc-166332	D0114	1:200	2
TFEB	Bethyl	A303-	n/a	1:4000	5
LAMP-1	Abcam	ab24170	GR3183900-	1:1000	2
LAMP-2	Abcam	ab13524	GR770-14	1:1000	3
Cathepsin	Santa Cruz	sc-6486	J1111	1:1000	3
Parkin	Cell Signaling	4211	4	1:1000	2
FoxO3	Cell Signaling	2497	6	1:1000	2
p53	Dr. S Benchimol			1:50	5
Beclin 1	Cell Signaling	3738	3	1:1000	2
Aciculin	(Belkin et al.,	Gift		1:2000	1
Optineurin	Santa Cruz	sc-166576	L2915	1:1000	3
VDAC	Abcam	ab14734	GR243577-6	1:2000	1

Table 2. List of Antibodies.

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. Mitochondrial Content with CCA. A COX activity in vehicle-treated young and aged muscle following CCA. n=6-8 B PGC-1 α protein expression expressed as fold change of CCA over CON. n=5-6 C SDH staining was performed on 10 μ m sections. A representative image based on the assessment of two animals per condition is shown at 10X magnification. D Representative electron micrographs of mitochondria based on the assessment of two animals per condition (young and aged VEH-treated muscle) are shown. Yellow arrows denote SS mitochondria and green arrows indicate IMF mitochondria. E-G Respiration was measured on intact saponin-permeabilized muscle fibre bundles for basal, E and maximal, F, G respiration states. n=5-8. Data are presented as mean±SEM. ¶ p<0.05 CCA vs CON; *p<0.05 main effect of age; § p<0.05 main effect of CCA. CON, control; CCA, chronic contractile activity, COX; cytochrome oxidase; SDH, succinate dehydrogenase.

Figure 2. Upstream Autophagy Markers. A Whole muscle protein extracts were assessed in vehicle-treated muscle for FoxO3, n=7-8 **A**, **B**, Beclin 1, n=6 **A**, **C**, and p53, n=5 **D**. Representative blots are provided. Protein expression was normalized to Aciculin. Data are presented as mean±SEM. *p<0.05 main effect of age; $\dagger p$ <0.05 main effect of CCA. ¶ p<0.05 vs young CON. \$p<0.05 vs age CON. CON, control; CCA, chronic contractile activity.

Figure 3. Autophagy Flux in Young and Aged Muscle with CCA. LC3-II protein expression was measured in whole muscle samples to determine autophagic flux, n=7 A,B,C. Flux was calculated by subtracting VEH LC3-II ratios from COL LC3-II ratios (COL – VEH; ratios were normalized to aciculin) n=7 C. The LC3-II/LC3-I ratio was also assessed to compare and contrast against previous publications, n=6-7 D. Expression of the precursor LC3-I was assessed under all

experimental conditions, n=6-7 E. Representative blots are shown. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. *p<0.05 main effect of age; #p<0.05 main effect of COL. § p<0.05 aged COL vs young COL, main effect. CON, control; CCA, chronic contractile activity; COL, colchicine; VEH, vehicle.

Figure 4. Mitophagy receptor expression with CCA and aging. Protein expression of four known mitochondrial receptors for mitophagy were assessed through western blotting in whole muscle protein extracts of vehicle-treated animals, n=4-6 A-E. Representative blots are provided. Data was normalized to Aciculin. Data are presented as mean±SEM. *p<0.05 main effect of age; p<0.05 main effect of CCA; ¶ p<0.05 vs young CON. CON, control; CCA, chronic contractile activity.

Figure 5. IMF Mitophagy flux. Mitochondria were isolated from the TA for all conditions. Localization of LC3-II, n=6-7 A, B and p62, n=4-5 A, C were assessed. Flux was calculated for both LC3-II, n=6-7 C, and p62, n=4-5 F, and calculated as described in Figure 4. Protein density was normalized to the mitochondrial marker VDAC. Translocation of receptors to the mitochondria were also examined, n=5 G. Data are presented as mean±SEM. *p<0.05 main effect of age; p<0.05 main effect of CCA; #p<0.05, main effect of COL; § p<0.05 aged COL vs young COL, main effect. CON, control; CCA, chronic contractile activity; COL, colchicine; VEH, vehicle; IMF, intermyofibrillar; VDAC, voltage-dependent anion channel.

Figure 6. Lysosomal Markers with Aging and CCA. Lysosomes are the terminal step in autophagy/mitophagy. Assessment of protein indicators to lysosomal function were assessed including LAMP-1, n=5-6 **A**, **B**, LAMP-2, n=5-6 **A**, **C**, TFEB, n=6 **A**, **D** and Cathepsin D, n=6 **A**, **E** in vehicle-treated whole muscle extracts. Protein expression was normalized to Aciculin. Data

are presented as mean \pm SEM. *p<0.05 main effect of age; †p<0.05 main effect of CCA; ¶ p<0.05 age CON vs young CON. CON, control; CCA, chronic contractile activity; TFEB, transcription factor EB, LAMP, lysosomal-associated membrane protein.









Fig. 4





Fig. 6

CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The process of aging leads to a decline in muscle mass, termed sarcopenia, which coincides with the presence of mitochondrial deficiencies. This may include increased mtDNA deletions/mutations, reductions in enzyme activities, reduced mitochondrial protein synthesis, greater ROS production, less ATP production through uncoupled respiration and greater apoptotic protein release (5). The precise mechanisms which mediate sarcopenia are still contested, however rectification of the organelles in aged muscle is an attractive target to mitigate potential damage and improve the quality of this tissue. Exercise is a potent stimulus for mitochondrial renovation in skeletal muscle (14) and relies on the transcriptional regulator PGC-1 α (24), among others. Indeed, in young healthy individuals, adoption of regular exercise increases mitochondrial mass and quality leading to greater endurance capacity and reduced fatigability that presents with beneficial augmentations in PGC-1 α expression and target genes (19). Mitochondrial enrichments occur through enhanced signaling towards mitochondrial biogenesis and the incorporation of newly synthesized gene products into the existing organelle structure, along with fusion of adjacent mitochondria. Furthermore, the process of mitophagy in response to acute exercise assists with the renovation of the network, pruning and degrading substandard organelles to leave only high quality mitochondria in the myocellular milieu. Together, the process of biogenesis and mitophagy contribute to mitochondrial turnover and maintenance of the organelle pool within skeletal muscle.

PGC-1 α has received considerable attention over the years for its influence on mitochondria in skeletal muscle. Multiple studies have noted that PGC-1 α mRNA and protein expression are decreased in aged muscle (8, 9, 15, 17, 26), but how this arises is currently unknown. Transcript and protein products are influenced by the rate of transcription of a gene. In young muscle after acute exercise, a notable enhancement of PGC-1 α gene transcription has been

documented (1, 2, 23). However, whether PGC-1 α transcription is altered in aged muscle, which may contribute to the reductions in its expression and ultimately mitochondria health, remained unexplored. Furthermore, how the gene may respond to acute exercise in the aged environment is relatively unknown. We sought to examine this concept in young and aged rats that approximately represented young adults and octogenarians, respectively. Basally, PGC-1 α transcription was reduced in aged muscle compared to the younger counterparts, concomitant with reduced phosphorylation of signaling factors and imbalanced expression of a variety of transcription factors which regulate expression of PGC-1 α (7). Following acute exercise, aged muscle retained the capacity to upregulate the transcription of PGC-1a, despite harboring lower signaling by AMPK and p38. Examination of PGC-1 α mRNA following a paradigm of chronic exercise revealed that PGC-1a transcript levels in aged muscle with chronic contractile activity were no different than that found in young muscle at rest. This suggests that chronic exercise may be influential to restore signaling and transcription of the PGC-1a gene to evoke enhancements in mitochondrial mass and quality in aged muscle, hopefully reverting aspects of the organelle to a healthier state, reminiscent of young muscle. However, further research to examine this concept remains to be performed.

Promotion of mitochondrial synthesis is important for organelle quality but needs to be counterbalanced by the sequestration and removal of old or damaged segments of the mitochondrial reticulum through autophagy and mitophagy events. Acute exercise has been reproducibly documented to elicit enhanced turnover of mitochondria (12, 13, 29), however little examination of this phenomenon has occurred in aged skeletal muscle (3). Furthermore, investigations into how autophagy and mitophagy flux may be altered after exposure to chronic training are limited (16). Chronic exercise induces a healthier state of mitochondria through enhanced biogenesis, and during the first few bouts of the exercise there is an induction of



Fig. 1. Summary of Changes in Mitochondrial Content Elicited through Aging and Contractile Activity. To summarize our findings, this graph brings together an overview of the changes in biogenesis (green bars) and mitophagy (blue bars) in young and aged muscle with or without contractile activity. In young resting muscle, the degree of biogenesis and mitophagy are matched producing a steady state of mitochondrial content that supports the needs of the muscle. With acute and chronic contractile activity, numerous markers for mitochondrial biogenesis increase in young muscle, while mitophagy decreases. This difference between biogenesis and mitophagy rates skews the balance to favour an accumulation of organelles in young muscle. With aging, measures of mitochondrial biogenesis, including PGC-1a transcription, decline. This is coupled with an enhancement in mitophagy. The large difference between these opposing processes likely influences the decrease in mitochondrial content noted in aged skeletal muscle. Interestingly, following acute contractile activity, aged muscle remains responsive for the instigation of biogenesis through PGC-1a transcription. With accumulating bouts of contractile activity, an accretion of organelles is noted through a variety of biochemical measures with aging. To complement the rise in biogenesis, the rate of mitophagy is decreased in aged muscle following contractile activity. Thus, successive to contractile activity, the difference between mitophagy and biogenesis is reduced, allowing for an increase in organelle number in aged muscle. We conclude that contractile activity is a positive stimulus for the rectification of organelle number in aged muscle by enhancing biogenesis and mitigating mitophagy.

mitophagic remodeling (16). However, what occurs to the rates of autophagy/mitophagy flux subsequent to the adaptation, when mitochondrial content and quality are improved, is relatively unexplored. Furthermore, there is a paucity of data surrounding autophagy and mitophagy flux measurements in aged muscle with, or without exercise adaptations. Therefore, we sought to examine the changes that may transpire in autophagy and mitophagy in young and aged muscle following a model of chronic training, through chronic contractile activity (CCA).

Contrary to our hypothesis, we found that autophagy and mitophagy flux, measured to the point of the lysosome, as evaluated through colchicine treatment, were elevated in aged skeletal muscle compared to the young group (6). This coincided with enhanced upstream markers for autophagy and expression of receptors for organelle removal. Extension of these observations may impart the concept that enhanced mitophagy is a contributing factor to the reductions in mitochondrial content observed with aging. Interestingly, following CCA, mitophagy was reduced within both young and aged muscle. CCA induced a notable increase in mitochondrial content as assessed through biochemical and respiration assays. This suggests that with organelle improvement, there is a reduced requirement for the turnover of organelles. Most importantly, this benefit is apparent in aged muscle, suggesting that aged muscle retains the capacity to instigate alterations in both mitochondrial biogenesis and mitophagy following chronic exercise.

In the rodent aging model, declines in muscle mass and mitochondrial content are evident, and thus these animals serve as an acceptable model for aging human muscle. We have identified that there is transcriptional insufficiency of PGC-1 α in the aged milieu, likely due to the reduction in signaling towards this NuGEMP coactivator. This may be partly responsible for the observed declines in mitochondrial content and quality in aged muscle. Also contributing to the reduction in mitochondrial content may be the enhancement in mitophagy observed in aged muscle. Together, these two processes, biogenesis through PGC-1 α , and the mitophagic program, appear to be imbalanced in aged muscle, skewing the balance towards favoring accelerated degradation compared to synthesis. Over time, this would ultimately lead to net loss of mitochondria, which corroborates the many findings of reduced content of these organelles in aging muscle.

Encouraging results surrounding the capabilities of aged muscle to respond to acute and chronic exercise can now be inferred. This is in agreement with previous works identifying that aged muscle responds in a favourable manner to the impetus of exercise with improvements in gene signatures (20) and mitochondrial content and function (4, 10, 30, 31, 11, 18, 19, 21, 22, 25, 27, 28). With a sufficient duration, intensity and frequency, mitochondrial adaptations are often noted to be similar to that which occurs in young muscle.

From our work, we have found that acute contractile activity in aged muscle is sufficient to elicit enhanced transcription of the PGC-1 α gene, a dual regulator of biogenesis and mitophagy. Furthermore, with adaptation subsequent to a training paradigm, restoration of PGC-1 α transcript levels and reductions in mitophagy are evident and acceptable consequences. Together, these observations permit an interpretation suggesting a restoration of the balance between biogenesis and mitophagy. This is favorable for aged muscle, as noted by the enhanced content of mitochondria and likely improvement in organelle quality. Thus, we overall conclude that engagement of aerobic style exercise has beneficial effects for mitochondria from aged muscle, through rejuvenation of the equilibrium between biogenesis and mitophagy.

REFERENCES

- Akimoto T, Pohnert SC, Li P, Zhang M, Gumbs C, Rosenberg PB, Williams RS, Yan Z. Exercise stimulates Pgc-1alpha transcription in skeletal muscle through activation of the p38 MAPK pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280: 19587–93, 2005.
- 2. Akimoto T, Sorg BS, Yan Z. Real-time imaging of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator-1alpha promoter activity in skeletal muscles of living mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 287: C790-6, 2004.
- 3. **Baehr LM**, **West DWD**, **Marcotte G**, **Marshall AG**, **De Sousa LG**, **Baar K**, **Bodine SC**. Age-related deficits in skeletal muscle recovery following disuse are associated with neuromuscular junction instability and ER stress, not impaired protein synthesis. *Aging (Albany. NY)*. 8: 127–146, 2016.
- 4. **Cartee GD**, **Farrar RP**. Muscle respiratory capacity and VO2 max in identically trained young and old rats. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 63: 257–61, 1987.
- 5. **Carter HN, Chen CCW, Hood DA**. Mitochondria, Muscle Health and Exercise with Advancing Age. *Physiology* 30: 208–223, 2015.
- 6. **Carter HN, Kim Y, Erlich AT, Zarrin-khat D, Hood DA**. Autophagy and mitophagy flux in young and aged skeletal muscle following chronic contractile activity. *J. Physiol.* 596: 3567–3584, 2018.
- 7. **Carter HN**, **Pauly M**, **Tryon LD**, **Hood DA**. Effect of contractile activity on PGC-1α transcription in young and aged skeletal muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 124: 1605–1615, 2018.
- 8. Chabi B, Ljubicic V, Menzies KJ, Huang JH, Saleem A, Hood DA. Mitochondrial function and apoptotic susceptibility in aging skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* 7: 2–12, 2008.
- 9. Derbré F, Gomez-Cabrera MC, Nascimento AL, Sanchis-Gomar F, Martinez-Bello VE, Tresguerres JAF, Fuentes T, Gratas-Delamarche A, Monsalve M, Viña J. Age associated low mitochondrial biogenesis may be explained by lack of response of PGC-1α to exercise training. *Age (Omaha)*. 34: 669–679, 2012.
- 10. **Farrar RP**, **Martin TP**, **Ardies CM**. The interaction of aging and endurance exercise upon the mitochondrial function of skeletal muscle. *J. Gerontol.* 36: 642–7, 1981.
- Ghosh S, Lertwattanarak R, Lefort N, Molina-Carrion M, Joya-Galeana J, Bowen BP, Garduno-Garcia J de J, Abdul-Ghani M, Richardson A, DeFronzo RA, Mandarino L, Van Remmen H, Musi N. Reduction in reactive oxygen species production by mitochondria from elderly subjects with normal and impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetes* 60: 2051–60, 2011.
- Grumati P, Coletto L, Schiavinato A, Castagnaro S, Bertaggia E, Sandri M, Bonaldo P. Physical exercise stimulates autophagy in normal skeletal muscles but is detrimental for collagen VI-deficient muscles. *Autophagy* 7: 1415–23, 2011.
- 13. He C, Bassik MC, Moresi V, Sun K, Wei Y, Zou Z, An Z, Loh J, Fisher J, Sun Q, Korsmeyer S, Packer M, May HI, Hill JA, Virgin HW, Gilpin C, Xiao G, Bassel-Duby R, Scherer PE, Levine B. Exercise-induced BCL2-regulated autophagy is required for

muscle glucose homeostasis. Nature 481: 511-5, 2012.

- 14. **Holloszy JO**. Biochemical adaptations in muscle. Effects of exercise on mitochondrial oxygen uptake and respiratory enzyme activity in skeletal muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* 242: 2278–82, 1967.
- 15. Joseph A-M, Adhihetty PJ, Buford TW, Wohlgemuth SE, Lees HA, Nguyen LM-D, Aranda JM, Sandesara BD, Pahor M, Manini TM, Marzetti E, Leeuwenburgh C. The impact of aging on mitochondrial function and biogenesis pathways in skeletal muscle of sedentary high- and low-functioning elderly individuals. *Aging Cell* 11: 801–9, 2012.
- 16. **Kim Y, Hood DA**. Regulation of the autophagy system during chronic contractile activityinduced muscle adaptations. *Physiol. Rep.* 5: e13307, 2017.
- 17. Koltai E, Hart N, Taylor AW, Goto S, Ngo JK, Davies KJA, Radak Z. Age-associated declines in mitochondrial biogenesis and protein quality control factors are minimized by exercise training. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 303: R127-34, 2012.
- 18. Lambertucci RH, Levada-Pires AC, Rossoni L V, Curi R, Pithon-Curi TC. Effects of aerobic exercise training on antioxidant enzyme activities and mRNA levels in soleus muscle from young and aged rats. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* 128: 267–75, 2007.
- 19. Ljubicic V, Joseph A-M, Adhihetty PJ, Huang JH, Saleem A, Uguccioni G, Hood DA. Molecular basis for an attenuated mitochondrial adaptive plasticity in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging (Albany. NY).* 1: 818–30, 2009.
- 20. Melov S, Tarnopolsky MA, Beckman K, Felkey K, Hubbard A. Resistance exercise reverses aging in human skeletal muscle. *PLoS One* 2: e465, 2007.
- 21. **Murias JM**, **Kowalchuk JM**, **Ritchie D**, **Hepple RT**, **Doherty TJ**, **Paterson DH**. Adaptations in capillarization and citrate synthase activity in response to endurance training in older and young men. *J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 66: 957–64, 2011.
- Ogura Y, Naito H, Kakigi R, Ichinoseki-Sekine N, Kurosaka M, Yoshihara T, Akema T. Effects of ageing and endurance exercise training on alpha-actinin isoforms in rat plantaris muscle. *Acta Physiol. (Oxf).* 202: 683–90, 2011.
- 23. **Pilegaard H, Saltin B, Neufer PD**. Exercise induces transient transcriptional activation of the PGC-1alpha gene in human skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 546: 851–8, 2003.
- 24. **Puigserver P, Wu Z, Park CW, Graves R, Wright M, Spiegelman BM**. A cold-inducible coactivator of nuclear receptors linked to adaptive thermogenesis. *Cell* 92: 829–39, 1998.
- 25. **Rossiter HB**, **Howlett RA**, **Holcombe HH**, **Entin PL**, **Wagner HE**, **Wagner PD**. Age is no barrier to muscle structural, biochemical and angiogenic adaptations to training up to 24 months in female rats. *J. Physiol.* 565: 993–1005, 2005.
- 26. **Safdar A, Hamadeh MJ, Kaczor JJ, Raha S, Debeer J, Tarnopolsky MA**. Aberrant mitochondrial homeostasis in the skeletal muscle of sedentary older adults. *PLoS One* 5: e10778, 2010.
- 27. Short KR, Vittone JL, Bigelow ML, Proctor DN, Rizza RA, Coenen-Schimke JM, Nair

KS. Impact of aerobic exercise training on age-related changes in insulin sensitivity and muscle oxidative capacity. *Diabetes* 52: 1888–96, 2003.

- 28. **Skorjanc D**, **Traub I**, **Pette D**. Identical responses of fast muscle to sustained activity by low-frequency stimulation in young and aging rats. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 85: 437–41, 1998.
- 29. Vainshtein A, Tryon LD, Pauly M, Hood DA. Role of PGC-1α during acute exerciseinduced autophagy and mitophagy in skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 308: C710-9, 2015.
- 30. Walters TJ, Sweeney HL, Farrar RP. Influence of electrical stimulation on a fast-twitch muscle in aging rats. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 71: 1921–8, 1991.
- 31. Young JC, Chen M, Holloszy JO. Maintenance of the adaptation of skeletal muscle mitochondria to exercise in old rats. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 15: 243–6, 1983.

CHAPTER SIX: FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Based on our observations, continued work to explore and define the roles for PGC-1 α , mitophagy and exercise with aging is warranted. We have developed additional questions that may be undertaken to broaden our understanding of the ability for exercise to improve mitochondria in aged skeletal muscle.

1) What is the time course for mitochondrial adaptations to exercise in aged muscle?

Our findings suggest that mitochondrial biogenesis that occurs through PGC-1 α in aged muscle can be augmented with exercise. Additionally, a decrease in mitophagy following CCA adaptation is also evident. However, what we currently have yet to elucidate is the time course of events. For example, do the changes involved in mitochondrial biogenesis occur before or concurrently with the changes in mitophagy? Furthermore, does the renovation of the mitochondrial milieu in aged muscle transpire in a different time frame than that of young muscle? Elucidation of these questions would be insightful to our understanding of the interwoven relationship between the biogenesis and mitophagic pathways. It also may assist in defining exercise parameters that would be tailored to aged muscle to evoke adaptations.

2) What are the expression patterns and influence of other mitophagy receptors/adaptors with aging and exercise?

Recent research has advanced our understanding on the mechanisms which tether mitochondria to the autophagosomes through either receptors or adaptor proteins. Classically, p62 and LC3-II have been used to assess autophagy or mitophagy flux. However, we now know that numerous other adaptor proteins, such as Optineurin or NDP52, can serve as the scaffolds between the organelles and vesicle. We documented enhanced levels of the mitophagy receptors NIX and BNIP3. However, we do not know how dominant these factors may be on mitophagy or whether we could use them as markers for flux calculations.

3) Are autophagy genes regulated by methylation events with aging or in response to exercise?

We have demonstrated that aged muscle has increased levels of global DNA methylation which may be prohibitive towards PGC-1 α expression. However, we noted numerous factors involved in the autophagy and mitophagy pathways that were upregulated in aged muscle. This observation may partly suggest that these factors are not subject to the dampening effects brought about by enhanced methylation in aged muscle. It would be interesting to explore whether exercise may impart a shift in the methylome of mitochondrial and mitophagy genes in aged tissue, that may precede the noted adaptations in these respective pathways.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: ADDITIONAL DATA



Fig. 1. Transcript expression in aged vs young skeletal muscle.

Fig. 1. mRNA expression in aged compared to young skeletal muscle. *p<0.05 aged vs young. N=6-8.



Fig. 2. Transcript expression in young and aged muscle following CCA.

Fig. 2. mRNA expression following 7 days of CCA in young and aged muscle. *p<0.05 aged vs young, main effect. #p<0.05 CCA vs CON, main effect; ¶p<0.05, interaction effect. N=5.



Fig. 3. Expression of Sestrin mRNA and protein.

Fig. 3. Expression of sestrin mRNA and protein in aged tissues and p53 knockout mice with acute exercise and recovery. *p<0.05 aged vs young. N=5-6.



Fig. 4. Markers of mitochondrial content in young and aged muscles.

Fig. 4. Mitochondrial markers from young and aged slow- and fast-twitch skeletal muscle. p<0.05 aged vs young.



Fig. 5. Autophagy flux in young and aged muscles.

Fig. 5. Assessment of autophagy flux from slow- and fast-twitch muscle of young and aged rats. \$p<0.05 young PL vs young SOL.



Fig. 6. Expression of NIX in young and aged muscles.

Fig. 6. Expression of the mitophagy receptor NIX in slow- and fast-twitch muscle from young and aged rats. p<0.05 young PLA vs young SOL; p<0.05 aged vs young.

Fig. 7. COX activity in different tissues of young and aged rats.



Fig. 7. COX activity in young and aged tissues. *p<0.05 aged vs young.



Fig. 8. Mitochondrial markers in young and aged skeletal muscle and brain.

Fig. 8. Protein expression of mitochondria protein in young and aged plantaris muscle and whole brain tissue. *p<0.05 aged vs young.


Fig. 9. Mitochondrial markers in young and aged liver and diaphragm.

Fig. 9. Protein expression of mitochondrial markers in young compared to aged liver and diaphragm. *p<0.05 aged vs young.

APPENDIX B: DATA NOT SHOWN: CHAPTER FOUR



Fig. 1. Representative blot of p53 protein expression in young and aged whole muscle extracts with or without chronic contractile activity (CCA). p53 expression in young muscle is barely detectable compared to aged muscle. Both bands are considered to be p53.



Fig. 2. p62 protein flux from young and aged whole muscle tissue extracts in control and chronic contractile activity (CCA) conditions. n=3.



Fig. 3. Complex I and II, state III (maximal) respiration was corrected for corresponding COX activity values (i.e. oxygen consumption corrected for mitochondrial volume). No significant difference was noted between any of the conditions. Similar observations were made for State IV (basal) respiration as well as State III (maximal) Complex I-mediated oxygen consumption. n=5-8.

APPENDIX C: SCIENTIFIC CONTRIBUTIONS

Peer-reviewed articles

- **9.** Carter HN, Kim Y, Erlich AT, Zarrin-khat, D and Hood DA. Autophagy and Mitophagy Flux in Young and Aged Skeletal Muscle Following Chronic Contractile Activity. *In revision, J Physiol.* Submission ID: JP-RP-2018-275998R2.
- **8.** Carter HN, Pauly M, Tryon LD, Hood DA. (2018) Effect of contractile activity on PGC-1α transcription in young and aged skeletal muscle. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01110.2017. [Epub ahead of print]
- 7. Hood DA, Tryon LD, Carter HN, Kim Y, Chen CC. Unravelling the mechanisms regulating muscle mitochondrial biogenesis. *Biochem J.* 2016 Aug 1;473(15):2295-314.
- 6. Carter HN, Chen CW and Hood DA. (2015) Mitochondria, Muscle Health, and Exercise with Advancing Age. *Physiology (Bethesda)*. 30(3):208-223
- 5. Hood DA, Tryon LD, Vainshtein A, Memme J, Chen C, Pauly M, Crilly MJ, Carter H. (2015) Exercise and the Regulation of Mitochondrial Turnover. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci*.135:99-127.
- 4. Saleem A, Carter HN and Hood DA. (2014) p53 is necessary for the adaptive changes in cellular milieu subsequent to an acute bout of endurance exercise. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 306(3):C241-9
- **3.** Carter HN and Hood DA. (2012) Contractile activity-induced mitochondrial biogenesis and mTORC1. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 303(5):C540-7
- 2. O'Leary MF, Vainshtein A, Carter HN, Zhang Y, Hood DA. (2012) Denervation-induced mitochondrial dysfunction and autophagy in skeletal muscle of apoptosis-deficient animals. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 303(4):C447-54
- 1. Saleem A, Carter HN, Iqbal S, Hood DA. (2011) Role of p53 within the regulatory network controlling muscle mitochondrial biogenesis. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* 39(4):199-205.

Book Chapters

2. Carter HN and Hood DA. The relationship between muscle mitochondrial turnover and sarcopenia. CRC Press New York. Ed. Meynial-Denis D. *Submitted* March 30, 2017.

1. Hood DA, Saleem A, Carter HN, Vainshtein A, Ostojic O and Iqbal S. Molecular basis of exercise training adaptations in skeletal muscle. Exercise Physiology in Canada. MacIntosh BM, ed. (*Submitted*)

Commentaries

 Hornberger TA, Carter HN, Hood DA, Figueiredo VC, Dupont-Versteegden EE, Peterson CA, McCarthy JJ, Camera DM, Hawley JA, Chaillou T, Cheng AJ, Nader GA, Wüst RC, Houtkooper RH. Commentaries on Viewpoint: The rigorous study of exercise adaptations: Why mRNA might not be enough. *J Appl Physiol* (1985). 2016 Aug 1;121(2):597-600.